
 

 

 

 
General Purposes 
Committee 
 

Tuesday, 5 October 2021 at 6.00 p.m. 

Committee Room One - Town Hall, Mulberry Place, 5 Clove 

Crescent, London,  E14 2BG 

 

Agenda 
 
Chair: Councillor Helal Uddin  
 
Members 
Vice-Chair: Councillor Danny Hassell 
 
Councillor Asma Islam, Councillor Peter Golds, Councillor Amina Ali, Councillor Denise 
Jones, Councillor Motin Uz-Zaman, Councillor Tarik Khan and Councillor Zenith Rahman 
 
Substitutes:  
Councillor Andrew Wood, Councillor Faroque Ahmed, Councillor Rajib Ahmed and 
Councillor Val Whitehead 
 
 
[The quorum for the General Purposes Committee is 3 Members] 
 

Further Information 
Reports for consideration, meeting contact details, public participation and more 
information is available on the following pages. 

 
 

 



 
 
 
 

 

 

Public Information 
 

Viewing or Participating in Committee Meetings 
 
The meeting will be broadcast live on the Council’s website. A link to the website is 
detailed below. The press and public are encouraged to watch this meeting on line.  
 
Please note: Whilst the meeting is open to the public, the public seating in the meeting 
room for observers will be extremely limited due to the Covid 19 pandemic restrictions. 
You must contact the Democratic Services Officer to reserve a place, this will be 
allocated on a first come first served basis. No one will be admitted unless they have 
registered in advance. 

 
 
Meeting Webcast 
The meeting is being webcast for viewing through the Council’s webcast system. 
http://towerhamlets.public-i.tv/core/portal/home  
 

Contact for further enquiries:  
Simmi Yesmin, Democratic Services,  
1st Floor, Town Hall, Mulberry Place, 5 Clove Crescent, E14 2BG 
Tel: 020 7364 4120 
E-mail: simmi.yesmin@towerhamlets.gov.uk 
Web: http://www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/committee 

 
 

Electronic agendas reports and minutes. 
Copies of agendas, reports and minutes for council meetings can also be 
found on our website from day of publication.   
 
To access this, click www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/committee and search for 
the relevant committee and meeting date.  
 

Agendas are available on the Modern.Gov, Windows, iPad and Android 
apps.   

Scan this 
code for an 
electronic 

agenda:  

 

 
 

http://towerhamlets.public-i.tv/core/portal/home
http://www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/committee


 
 
 
 

 

 
 

London Borough of Tower Hamlets 
 

General Purposes Committee  

 
Tuesday, 5 October 2021 

 
6.00 p.m. 

 
 
 

 PAGE 
NUMBER(S) 

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE   

  
 

 

1. DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS   5 - 6 

 Members are reminded to consider the categories of interest in the Code of Conduct for 
Members to determine whether they have an interest in any agenda item and any action 
they should take. For further details, please see the attached note from the Monitoring 
Officer.  
 
Members are reminded to declare the nature of the interest and the agenda item it relates 
to. Please note that ultimately it’s the Members’ responsibility to declare any interests and 
to update their register of interest form as required by the Code.  
 
If in doubt as to the nature of your interest, you are advised to seek advice prior to the 
meeting by contacting the Monitoring Officer or Democratic Services  
 

 

2. MINUTES   7 - 18 

 To agree the unrestricted minutes of the General Purposes Committee meeting held on 
24th June 2021.  
 
 

 

3. WORK PLAN   19 - 24 

 To review the Committee’s work plan for the current municipal year. 
 

4. REPORTS FOR CONSIDERATION    

4 .1 LA Governor Report   25 – 28 
 



 
 
 
 

 

4 .2 Members Enquiries Policy and Process   29 – 48 
 

4 .3 Post-Election Polling Places Review 2021   49 – 62 
 

4 .4 Dismissal Appeals - Process and Guidance   63 – 70 
 

4 .5 Update on Senior Recruitment, October 2021   71 – 74 
 

4 .6 Calculation of Appointments Sub-Committee Proportionality   75 – 80 
 

4 .7 Constitution Review   81 – 152 
 

5. ANY OTHER BUSINESS WHICH THE CHAIR CONSIDERS 
URGENT   

 

 

6. EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC    

 In view of the contents of the remaining items on the agenda the Committee is 
recommended to adopt the following motion: 
 
“That, under the provisions of Section 100A of the Local Government Act 1972, as 
amended by the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985, the press and 
public be excluded from the remainder of the meeting for the consideration of the Section 
Two business on the grounds that it contains information defined as Exempt in Part 1 of 
Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act, 1972.” 
 
EXEMPT SECTION (Pink Papers) 
 
The exempt committee papers in the agenda will contain information, which is 
commercially, legally or personally sensitive and should not be divulged to third parties.  If 
you do not wish to retain these papers after the meeting, please hand them to the 
Committee Officer present. 
 

7. RESTRICTED REPORTS FOR CONSIDERATION   
 

 

7 .1 Local Authority Governor Appointments - Restricted Appendices   153 – 158 
 

7 .2 Forthcoming Restructures - Staffing Implications   159 - 168 

 
 
 
 



DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS AT MEETINGS– NOTE FROM THE 

MONITORING OFFICER 

This note is for guidance only.  For further details please consult the Code of Conduct for 

Members at Part C, Section 31 of the Council’s Constitution  

(i) Disclosable Pecuniary Interests (DPI) 

You have a DPI in any item of business on the agenda where it relates to the categories listed in 

Appendix A to this guidance. Please note that a DPI includes: (i) Your own relevant interests; 

(ii)Those of your spouse or civil partner; (iii) A person with whom the Member is living as 

husband/wife/civil partners. Other individuals, e.g. Children, siblings and flatmates do not need to 

be considered.  Failure to disclose or register a DPI (within 28 days) is a criminal offence. 

Members with a DPI, (unless granted a dispensation) must not seek to improperly influence the 

decision, must declare the nature of the interest and leave the meeting room (including the public 

gallery) during the consideration and decision on the item – unless exercising their right to address 

the Committee.  

DPI Dispensations and Sensitive Interests. In certain circumstances, Members may make a 

request to the Monitoring Officer for a dispensation or for an interest to be treated as sensitive. 

(ii) Non - DPI Interests that the Council has decided should be registered – 

(Non - DPIs) 

You will have ‘Non DPI Interest’ in any item on the agenda, where it relates to (i) the offer of gifts 

or hospitality, (with an estimated value of at least £25) (ii) Council Appointments or nominations to 

bodies (iii) Membership of any body exercising a function of a public nature, a charitable purpose 

or aimed at influencing public opinion. 

Members must declare the nature of the interest, but may stay in the meeting room and participate 
in the consideration of the matter and vote on it unless:  
 

 A reasonable person would think that your interest is so significant that it would be likely to 
impair your judgement of the public interest.  If so, you must withdraw and take no part 
in the consideration or discussion of the matter. 

(iii) Declarations of Interests not included in the Register of Members’ Interest. 
 

Occasions may arise where a matter under consideration would, or would be likely to, affect the 
wellbeing of you, your family, or close associate(s) more than it would anyone else living in 
the local area but which is not required to be included in the Register of Members’ Interests. In 
such matters, Members must consider the information set out in paragraph (ii) above regarding 
Non DPI - interests and apply the test, set out in this paragraph. 
 

Guidance on Predetermination and Bias  
 

Member’s attention is drawn to the guidance on predetermination and bias, particularly the need to 
consider the merits of the case with an open mind, as set out in the Planning and Licensing Codes 
of Conduct, (Part C, Section 34 and 35 of the Constitution). For further advice on the possibility of 
bias or predetermination, you are advised to seek advice prior to the meeting.  
 

Section 106 of the Local Government Finance Act, 1992 - Declarations which restrict 
Members in Council Tax arrears, for at least a two months from voting  
 

In such circumstances the member may not vote on any reports and motions with respect to the 
matter.   

Page 5

Agenda Item 1



Further Advice contact: Janet Fasan, Monitoring Officer, Tel: 0207 364 4800. 
 

APPENDIX A: Definition of a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest 

(Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012, Reg 2 and Schedule) 

Subject  Prescribed description 

Employment, office, trade, 
profession or vacation 
 

Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation 
carried on for profit or gain. 
 

Sponsorship Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit 
(other than from the relevant authority) made or provided 
within the relevant period in respect of any expenses 
incurred by the Member in carrying out duties as a member, 
or towards the election expenses of the Member. 
This includes any payment or financial benefit from a trade 
union within the meaning of the Trade Union and Labour 
Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992. 
 

Contracts Any contract which is made between the relevant person (or 
a body in which the relevant person has a beneficial interest) 
and the relevant authority— 
(a) under which goods or services are to be provided or 
works are to be executed; and 
(b) which has not been fully discharged. 
 

Land Any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the 
relevant authority. 
 

Licences Any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in 
the area of the relevant authority for a month or longer. 
 

Corporate tenancies Any tenancy where (to the Member’s knowledge)— 
(a) the landlord is the relevant authority; and 
(b) the tenant is a body in which the relevant person has a 
beneficial interest. 
 

Securities Any beneficial interest in securities of a body where— 
(a) that body (to the Member’s knowledge) has a place of 
business or land in the area of the relevant authority; and 
(b) either— 
 
(i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 
or one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that 
body; or 
 
(ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, 
the total nominal value of the shares of any one class in 
which the relevant person has a beneficial interest exceeds 
one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that class. 
 

 
 

Page 6



GENERAL PURPOSES COMMITTEE, 
24/06/2021 

SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 

 

1 

LONDON BOROUGH OF TOWER HAMLETS 
 

MINUTES OF THE GENERAL PURPOSES COMMITTEE 
 

HELD AT 6.00 P.M. ON THURSDAY, 24 JUNE 2021 
 

COMMITTEE ROOM ONE - TOWN HALL, MULBERRY PLACE, 5 CLOVE 
CRESCENT, LONDON,  E14 2BG 

 
Members Present: 
 
Councillor Helal Uddin (Chair) 
Councillor Danny Hassell (Vice-Chair) 
Councillor Peter Golds 
Councillor Zenith Rahman 
 
Other Councillors Present: 
 
Councillor Amina Ali (Virtual) 
Councillor Denise Jones (Virtual) 
Councillor Asma Islam (Virtual) 
Councillor Tarik Khan (Virtual) 
Councillor Motin Uz-Zaman (Virtual) 
 

Apologies: 
 
Apologies for lateness – Councillor Denise Jones 
 

  
Officers Present: 

Perveez Akhtar – (Information Governance and 
Complaints Manager) 

Runa Basit – (Head of School Governance & 
Information) 

Raj Chand – (Director, Customer Services) 
Robert Curtis – (Head of Electoral Services) 
Agnes Adrien – (Head of Litigation, Legal Services) 
Amanda Harcus – (Director of HR, Workforce 

Development & Business Support 
Services) 

Matthew Mannion – (Head of Democratic Services, 
Governance) 

Simmi Yesmin – (Democratic Services Officer, 
Committees, Governance) 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 7

Agenda Item 2



GENERAL PURPOSES COMMITTEE, 
24/06/2021 

SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 

 

2 

1. ELECTION OF VICE-CHAIR  
 
The Chair, asked for nominations for the position of Vice-Chair of the General 
Purposes Committee for the municipal year 2021/2022.  
 
Councillor Tarik Khan proposed Councillor Danny Hassell for the position. 
This was seconded by Councillor Motin Uz-Zaman and Cllr Zenith Rahman.   
 
There were no further nominations. 
 
The General Purposes Committee; 
 
Resolved  
 
That Councillor Danny Hassell is elected as Vice-Chair of the General 
Purposes Committee for the municipal year 2021-2022. 
 

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS  
 
None were declared. 
 

3. MINUTES  
 
RESOLVED 
 
That the unrestricted minutes of the General Purposes Committee meeting 
held on 23 February 2021 be agreed.  
 

4. WORK PLAN  
 
The General Purposes Committee Work Plan was discussed and agreed. The 
following was noted;  
 
Report on Employee Relations Casework Policy -Quarterly Update  

 

 Agreed to receive future update reports on a six-monthly basis.  
 
 
RESOLVED 
 
That the Work Plan be noted 
 

5. REPORTS FOR CONSIDERATION  
 

5.1 General Purposes Committee, Terms of Reference 2021/22  
 
Matthew Mannion, Head of Democratic Services introduced the report and 
highlighted the General Purposes Committee terms of reference, quorum, 
membership and the schedule of meeting dates for the municipal year 2021-
2022.  

Page 8



GENERAL PURPOSES COMMITTEE, 
24/06/2021 

SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 

 

3 

 
RESOLVED 
 

1. That the Terms of Reference, Quorum, Membership and the 
Schedule of meeting dates for the General Purposes Committee be 
noted. 

 
5.2 Establishment of Employee Appeals Sub-Committee  

 
Matthew Mannion, Head of Democratic Services introduced the report, which 
recommended the Committee to establish the Employee Appeals Sub 
Committee to consider employee appeals against dismissal.    
 
RESOLVED 
 

1. That the Employee Appeals Sub Committee for the Municipal Year 
2021/22 be established.  

 
5.3 Establishment of Appointments Sub-Committee  

 
Matthew Mannion, Head of Democratic Services introduced the report, which 
recommended the establishment of the Appointment Sub Committee for the 
current municipal year, to note and agree its terms of reference, the 
arrangements for nominating Councillors to serve on an Appointments Sub 
Committee and note the process for appointment to Chief Officers and Deputy 
Chief Officer.   
 
RESOLVED 
 

1. That the terms of reference for Appointments Sub-Committees for the 
remainder of the municipal year 2021/22 as set out at paragraph 4.1 of 
the report be agreed.  
 

2. That the arrangements for nominating Councillors to serve on an 
Appointments Sub-Committee as set out at paragraph 4.2 of the report 
and the Divisional Director, HR (or their respective nominee) be 
authorised to agree the dates of Appointments Sub-Committee 
meetings and the membership of the Sub-Committee for each 
appointment that is required in accordance with nominations from the 
Opposition Group Leader and the Mayor; be agreed.  
 

3. That the process for appointment to Chief Officer and Deputy Chief 
Officer posts as set out at paragraph 5 of the report be noted. 

 
5.4 Local Authority Governor Report  

 
Runa Basit, Head of School Governance and Information, introduced the 
regular report on Local Authority School Governor appointments. The report 
contained six re-appointment and one new proposed appointment. Members 
noted the information set out in the exempt appendices. It was noted that one 

Page 9



GENERAL PURPOSES COMMITTEE, 
24/06/2021 

SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 

 

4 

of the new appointments detailed in the report for Appendix 8 had been 
withdrawn.   
 
Members considered the report and agreed the nominations. 
 
RESOLVED 
 

1. To agree the nominated applicants to the positions set out for local 
authority governors at maintained schools in Tower Hamlets. 

 
5.5 Elections 2021 Update  

 
Robert Curtis, Head of Elections, introduced the report which set out an 
update following the polls undertaken on Thursday 6 May 2021 for Greater 
London Authority (GLA) elections, the Borough Referendum and the Isle of 
Dogs Neighbourhood Planning Referendum. It was noted that in general from 
feedback and observations it was considered a well-run election.  
 
Mr Curtis referred to the report and highlighted the following;  
 

 That all communication to the electorate were undertaken in 
partnership with the GLA and the Electoral Commission to ensure 
consistency of approach but for the Referendums, with no candidates, 
was restricted to fact explanation.  

 The council actively promoted all avenues to cast votes and used 
social media extensively to do this. 

 26,000 postal votes were sent to all residents who were registered with 
the NHS as shielding.   

 Polling places were regularly communicated with, however there were 
a loss of a few portacabins which were replaced with suitable 
alternatives and there was also an introduction of new polling places 
such as Brady Arts Centre, Toynbee Hall and etc which had proven to 
be successful.  

 All polling staff were trained, there were unexpected drop-outs at the 
terminal hour which did cause problems but were dealt with by the 
Elections Team. 

 There had been reports of campaigners addressing people in queues, 
mock ballot papers, and family voting – these issues would be 
addressed and currently working on draft guidance for future 
candidates and parties addressing these concerns.  

 
Mr Curtis, said that officers were aware of issues that need to be addressed 
and areas that required improvement and these areas would be looked at in 
great detail in time for next year’s elections.  
 
Members welcomed the report and thanked Mr Curtis for the update. 
Members raised concerns of intimidation at polling stations from campaigners 
and the need for extra security at polling stations in future, to prevent a repeat 
of past elections.  

Page 10



GENERAL PURPOSES COMMITTEE, 
24/06/2021 

SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 

 

5 

 
The Committee requested that an update report leading up to the elections in 
2022 be added on the General Purposes Work Plan.  
 
The Committee extended their thanks to Mr Curtis and the Elections Team for 
the effort and hard work during the Elections.   
 
Accordingly, the General Purposes Committee; 
 
RESOLVED  
 

1. The report be noted. 
 

2. An update report on the preparations for the Elections in 2022 to be 
brought back to GPC at beginning of next year (2022).   

 
5.6 Renaming the Borough Wards  

 
Robert Curtis, Head of Elections, introduced the report which set out the 
results of the proposals to change the ward names for Bethnal Green, St 
Peters and Canary Wharf. It was noted that a recommendation to change the 
names were made during the consultation for the Polling District and Polling 
Places review undertaken by Full Council on 15th January 2020 and the 
review was agreed by the General Purposes Committee.  
 
Mr Curtis went through the presentation attached in the agenda on pages 89-
105. It was noted that there had not been a huge response to the consultation 
process, with a total of 369 responses of which 6 were invalid. The overall 
responses and results for all three wards was for the current ward names to 
remain.  
 
Following a short discussion, the general consensus from Members of the 
committee as well as feedback from residents to Members, was for changes 
to the ward names for St Peters ward and Bethnal Green ward, as it caused 
confusion to where the boundaries were geographically, and the area having 
no connection to St Peters. The Committee suggested that ward names such 
Bethnal Green South and Bethnal Green North should be considered in its 
place. The Committee also suggested that the name for Canary Wharf ward 
should remain as Canary Wharf had a clear geographical link to the area.   
 
Accordingly, the General Purposes Committee; 
 
RESOLVED  
 

1. That comments from the Committee to be added as part of the 
consultation response.  
 

2. That the Committee note that the proposed names changes are to be 
submitted to Council for consideration. 

 

Page 11



GENERAL PURPOSES COMMITTEE, 
24/06/2021 

SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 

 

6 

5.7 Physical, Hybrid and Virtual Committee meetings  
 
Matthew Mannion, Head of Democratic Services, introduced the report and 
briefly detailed a summary of the meeting options and recommendations for 
the future of physical/hybrid/virtual meetings.  
 
It was noted that during the Covid-19 pandemic the Council had made use of 
the extensive powers from the Coronavirus Bill to operate virtual council and 
committee meetings. Those regulations had now expired and the Council had 
reverted to holding physical meetings with some features of virtual meetings 
having remained. It was noted that this was a good opportunity for Members 
to give a steer on how future meetings should continue following the lifting of 
Covid restrictions.  
 
The Committee welcomed the initial research and findings detailed in the 
report. Members acknowledged the good work undertaken, and emphasised 
how over the past year, technology had proven to be effective, allowing 
flexibility especially for those with carer responsibilities, and increasing 
participation at meetings. It was noted that Option B - hybrid meetings, is the 
type of meetings that should be explored and developed further as it allowed 
a greater deal of flexibility for all participants at meetings.  
 
Clarification was sought in regard to voting at meetings, Mr Mannion 
explained that the Local Government Act 1972 specified clearly that Members 
physically present at a meeting only have voting rights. However, it was noted 
that Government had recently undertook consultation on this matter, and 
LBTH had responded as did other authorities to allow provisions for voting in 
virtual settings subject to safeguards, and the outcome of the consultation 
was still pending. 
 
Mr Mannion encouraged Members of the Committee to contact him if they had 
any further feedback over the next few weeks.  
 
Accordingly, the General Purposes Committee; 
 
RESOLVED  
 

1. The report be noted. 
 

2. Officers to develop the meeting procedure rules with Option B (hybrid) 
settings and for it to be reported back to a future meeting of the 
Committee. 
 

5.8 Members Enquiry Process  
 
Raj Chand, Director of Customer Services, gave a brief update on the 
progress of the Members Enquiry (ME) process to date. Ms Chand highlighted 
that she was aware of the previous and current issues Members had been 
experiencing regarding ME’s. It was noted that Members of the Committee 
had been contacted with a proposed consultation meeting to consider the 

Page 12



GENERAL PURPOSES COMMITTEE, 
24/06/2021 

SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 

 

7 

policy and process with the aim of receiving feedback from Members to then 
feed into the policy. This would then be followed by wider briefing meetings 
with other council members with a view of bringing back a full report to the 
next GPC meeting.  
 
In response to questions the following was noted;  
 

- That issues of quality control and delays should be addressed.  
- The final report would include details of the collaborative work being 

done with Housing Associations (RSL’s) on how to simplify enquires to 
them.  

- Officers had been exploring different software systems for ME enquires 
and where possible looking to streamline the current process.  

- That the Mayor’s Enquires were separate to Members Enquires. 
- That the final report would address the concerns raised and any 

feedback from the consultation meetings.  
  
  

Accordingly, the General Purposes Committee; 
 
RESOLVED  
 

1. The verbal update was noted. 
 

2. That a full report on the Members Enquiry Process would be reported 
back to the Committee at the next GPC meeting.  

 
  

5.9 Alternative models of Employee Appeals Sub Committee  
 
Amanda Harcus, Divisional Director, Human Resources and Organisational 
Development introduced the report and explained that this was a follow up 
from the report to GPC in February 2021, where there was a proposal to 
change the make up of the Employee Appeals Sub-Committee. It was noted 
that this report incorporated feedback and discussion had at that meeting 
together with feedback from Trade Unions.  
 
Ms Harcus explained that she was seeking Members approval for the 
recommendations listed in the report, in making amendments to the 
constitution for moving from a Member panel to an Officer panel supported by 
a Member.  
 
Ms Harcus explained the purpose for this proposal was to increase the 
importance of positive performance management so individual officers are 
fully accountable for their action they take and make in the organisation. That 
Senior Officers should hear dismissal appeals and have accountability for final 
decisions and should have to account for themselves in the event a case is to 
go to an Employment Tribunal. It would also reinforce the role of the Chief 
Executives responsibility as Head of Paid Services to deal with all 
employment matters. It was noted in the last 5 years there had been 76 

Page 13



GENERAL PURPOSES COMMITTEE, 
24/06/2021 

SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 

 

8 

dismissals with 24 appeals, 18 cases had been upheld, 6 cases reinstated 
and 18 cases ending up in an Employment Tribunal.  
 
In response to questions the following was noted; 
 

 Clarification sought on the respective roles of Members and Officers at 
the appeal meetings. 

 Mixed model with officers and members would give assurances to staff 
and trade unions that a fair process was being followed. 

 Officers were confident as this model progresses, this would improve 
performance management and employee relations. The updating of HR 
policies and procedures would also make policies and procedures 
clearer, with less chance of misinterpretations.   

 
Accordingly, the General Purposes Committee; 
 
RESOLVED  
 

1. The Constitutional arrangement for appeals panel to be amended to 
refer dismissal appeals to an Officer panel, supported by a Member in 
an advisory capacity.  
 

2. The selection of the advisory member on the appeals panel is to be 
chosen from the General Purposes Committee.  

 
3. That amendments to the relevant policies and procedures to reflect the 

changes to the appeals process for dismissal.  
 

4. To receive a report on the performance of dismissal procedures and 
the outcome of appeals on an annual basis.  

 
5.10 Update on Senior Recruitment – June 2021  

 
Amanda Harcus, Divisional Director, Human Resources and Organisational 
Development, briefly updated the Committee on the recent senior recruitment 
activity.   
 
The Committee noted: 
 

 That Officers for the Director of Education (Children and Culture 
Directorate) and Director of Customer Services (Resources and 
Governance Directorate) were now in post.  

 In the final stages of confirming appointment to the role of Director of 
Finance (Deputy S.151 Officer) (Resources and Governance 
Directorate). 

 The recruitment process for the Corporate Director Resources and 
Governance had been paused and would re-commence in Autumn 
2021, and the current interim arrangements would remain in place until 
then.  

Page 14



GENERAL PURPOSES COMMITTEE, 
24/06/2021 

SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 

 

9 

 
Accordingly, the General Purposes Committee; 
 
RESOLVED 
 

1. Note the current position on the recruitment to senior management 
vacancies in the Council structure. 

 
5.11 Employee Relations Casework Policy - Quarterly Update  

 
Amanda Harcus, Divisional Director, Human Resources and Organisational 
Development, briefly updated the Committee on the handling of Employee 
Relations casework within the council, progress made to-date and targets and 
considerations for the future development of case management.  
 
It was noted that the council was on an improvement trajectory on the amount 
of time taken to resolve and conclude cases for grievance, disciplinary or 
capabilities processes and moving to a time resolved to 60 days, where 
previously some cases have taken up to a year or longer to resolve. Ms 
Harcus was pleased to report that this was improving. It was also noted that 
officers were currently working on reviewing a number of policies and working 
closely with trade unions to ensure polices and procedures are clearer for 
both managers and staff.   
 
In response to a question it was noted that the next update report would 
include how are polices are being applied fairly across the organisation, how 
the need for learning and developing skills can be identified at an early stage 
and what the broader learning experience is for the organisation from 
reviewing these policies.   
 
The Committee noted the report and improvements made to policies.    
 
Accordingly, the General Purposes Committee; 
 
RESOLVED 
 

1. That the report be noted.  
 

5.12 Nominations to LGA General Assembly 2021  
 
Matthew Mannion, Head of Democratic Services, introduced the report and 
briefly explained that the Council had delegated the function of making 
appointments to outside bodies to the General Purposes Committee. It was 
noted that only one outside body related to Council functions and this was the 
Local Government Association General Assembly and Annual Conference.  

 
The Committee noted and agreed the four nominations set out in the report.  
 
Accordingly, the Chair Moved and it was:- 
 

Page 15



GENERAL PURPOSES COMMITTEE, 
24/06/2021 

SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 

 

10 

RESOLVED 
 

1. That Councillors Rachel Blake, Asma Begum, Asma Islam and Victoria 
Obaze be appointed as Members to the Local Government Association 
(LGA) General Assembly and Annual Conference for 2021.  
 

5.13 Constitution Updates  
 
Matthew Mannion, Head of Democratic Services, introduced the report and 
briefly highlighted the changes detailed in the report.  
 
Mr Mannion sought  agreement to one addition to the Constitution (for the 
inclusion of the Channel Panel), for the Committee to note an update to the 
Place Scheme of Delegation and to note that further work in relation to 
changes following the recent Senior Leadership would be presented at a 
future meeting.  
 
The Committee noted and agreed the changes set out.  
 
Accordingly, the Chair Moved and it was:- 
 
RESOLVED 
 

1. The addition of the ‘Channel Panel’ to Section 20 ‘Other Bodies and 
Panels’ was agreed.  
 

2. The additions to the Place Scheme of Delegation be noted. 
 

6. ANY OTHER BUSINESS WHICH THE CHAIR CONSIDERS URGENT  
 
Nil items.  
 

7. EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC  
 
RESOLVED 
 
1. That in accordance with the provisions of Section 100A of the Local 

Government Act 1972, as amended by the Local Government (Access to 
Information) Act 1985, the press and public be excluded from the 
remainder of the meeting on the grounds that the remaining agenda item 
contained information defined as exempt or confidential in Part 1 of 
Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972. 
 

8. EXEMPT REPORTS  
 
The exempt minutes of the General Purposes Committee meeting held on …. 
were agreed as a correct record. 
 
 
 

Page 16



GENERAL PURPOSES COMMITTEE, 
24/06/2021 

SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 

 

11 

8.1 Local Authority Governor Report - Restricted Appendices  
 
The exempt appendices setting out the details of the applicants for the school 
Governor appointments were noted.  
 

8.2 Annual Report on Redundancy Departures  
 
Ananda Harcus, Divisional Director, Human Resources and Organisational 
Development, introduced the update, with the purpose to ensure that General 
Purposes Committee are kept up to date on the overall number of 
redundancies within the organisation during the period between 1st April and 
2020 and 31st March 2021.  
 
The Committee reviewed and noted the report.   
 
RESOLVED   
 

1. That the report be noted.  
 

8.3 Forthcoming Restructures - Staffing Implications  
 
Ananda Harcus, Divisional Director, Human Resources and Organisational 
Development, introduced the regular report listing any potential redundancies 
from forthcoming restructures where the overall severance package was likely 
to exceed £99.999. 
 
One role was listed in the report. 
 
The Committee reviewed the report and agreed the requests as set out. 
 
RESOLVED   
 

1. That the one dismissal set out in the report be agreed. 
 

2. To note and approve the severance packages that apply to the 
dismissals arise as a result of the individual’s contractual terms and 
conditions of employment. 

 
 
 

The meeting ended at 8.05 p.m.  
 
 

Chair, Councillor Helal Uddin 
General Purposes Committee 

 
 

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 
 

1 
 

 
 

 
GENERAL PURPOSES 

COMMITTEE WORK PLAN 
and ACTION LIST 2021/22   

 

Contact Officer: 
 
Email: 
Telephone: 
Website: 

Simmi Yesmin 
Democratic Services 
 

simmi.yesmin@towerhamlets.gov.uk   
020 7364 4120 
www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/committee 

  

P
age 19

A
genda Item

 3

mailto:simmi.yesmin@towerhamlets.gov.uk
http://www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/committee


GENERAL PURPOSES COMMITTEE WORK PLAN 2021/22 
 
 

 
 
2 
 

ACTIONS LIST 
 
 

Action 
number 

Title Action Owner  Originating 
Meeting/Item 

Due Date / Comment 

1.  Feedback and clarity on the processes for 
raising Members Enquires and efficient ways 
to get in touch with Tower Hamlets Homes 
contact centres, 

Ruth Dowden, Head 
of Information 
Governance 
 

GPC 06/10/20 
Item 5.6 

Report expected – 24 June 21 meeting 
 

GPC – 04 May 2021 – deferred 

2.  The Constitution to includes an explicit 
statement that under the new structure the 
Monitoring Officer and Chief Finance Officer 
will have direct access to the CE.  

Matthew Mannion, 
Head of Democratic 
Services 

GPC 21/12/20 Matthew to include this in the Constitution 
report at the GPC meeting in June 2021. 

 
N.B. once concluded - actions should remain on the list marked ‘complete’ for the remainder of the municipal year.  

P
age 20



GENERAL PURPOSES COMMITTEE WORK PLAN 2021/22 
 
 

 
 
3 
 

05 OCTOBER 2021 

REPORT TITLE   BRIEF SUMMARY LEAD OFFICER OTHER CTTEE 
MEETINGS  

1. Local authority school 
governor appointments 
 

To endorse or reject nominations for appointments to local 
authority school governor positions. 

Runa Basit, Head of School 
Governance & Information 

 

2. Update on Senior 
Recruitment 

An update on recent senior management recruitment. Amanda Harcus, Divisional 
Director, HR & 
Transformation 

 

3. Constitution Review 
Update  

To review any updates or changes to the Constitution  Matthew Mannion, Head of 
Democratic Services 

 

4. Forthcoming Restructures 
– Staffing Implications  

An update on forthcoming restructures. Amanda Harcus, Divisional 
Director, HR & 
Transformation 

 

5. Polling Places Review  To note the commencement of the review of polling places in 
Tower Hamlets. 

 

Robert Curtis, Head of 
Elections  

Full Council – 
January 2022 

6. Members Enquiry Process To review the Members Enquiry Process.  Ruth Dowden, Head of 
Information Governance  

 

7. Appeals against Dismissal To review the procedure for appeals against dismissal. Amanda Harcus, Divisional 
Director, HR & 
Transformation 

 

8. Calculation of 
Appointments Sub-
Committee Proportionality 

To consider the review of proportionality for Committees and 
Sub-Committee.  

Matthew Mannion, Head of 
Democratic Services 

 

P
age 21



GENERAL PURPOSES COMMITTEE WORK PLAN 2021/22 
 
 

 
 
4 
 

18 JANUARY 2022 

REPORT TITLE   BRIEF SUMMARY LEAD OFFICER OTHER CTTEE 
MEETINGS  

1. Local authority school 
governor appointments 
 

To endorse or reject nominations for appointments to local 
authority school governor positions. 

Runa Basit, Head of School 
Governance & Information 

 

2. Update on Senior 
Recruitment 

An update on recent senior management recruitment. Amanda Harcus, Divisional 
Director, HR & 
Transformation 

 

3. Constitution Review 
Update 

To review any updates or changes to the Constitution  Matthew Mannion, Head of 
Democratic Services 

 

4. Forthcoming Restructures 
– Staffing Implications  

An update on forthcoming restructures. Amanda Harcus, Divisional 
Director, HR & 
Transformation 

 

5. Employee Relations 
Casework Policy Quarterly 
Update Report Q1 

To receive a quarterly update on the Employee Relations 
Casework Policy. 

Amanda Harcus, Divisional 
Director, HR & 
Transformation 

 

6. London Councils report on 
bye-laws 

A report about applying to London Councils for them to 
approve use of fixed penalty notices for breaches of bye-
laws 

Denise Radley, Corporate 
Director, Health, Adults & 
Community Services 

 

7. Elections Update  To receive an update on the preparations for Elections 2022. Robert Curtis, Head of 
Elections 

 

P
age 22



GENERAL PURPOSES COMMITTEE WORK PLAN 2021/22 
 
 

 
 
5 
 

22 MARCH 2022 

REPORT TITLE   BRIEF SUMMARY LEAD OFFICER OTHER CTTEE 
MEETINGS  

1. Local authority school 
governor appointments 
 

To endorse or reject nominations for appointments to local 
authority school governor positions. 

Runa Basit, Head of School 
Governance & Information 

 

2. Update on Senior 
Recruitment 

An update on recent senior management recruitment. Amanda Harcus, Divisional 
Director, HR & 
Transformation 

 

3. Constitution Review 
Update 

To review any updates or changes to the Constitution  Matthew Mannion, Head of 
Democratic Services 

 

4. Forthcoming Restructures 
– Staffing Implications  

An update on forthcoming restructures. Amanda Harcus, Divisional 
Director, HR & 
Transformation 

 

5. Employee Relations 
Casework Policy Quarterly 
Update Report Q3 

To receive a quarterly update on the Employee Relations 
Casework Policy. 

Amanda Harcus, Divisional 
Director, HR & 
Transformation 

 

6. Update on Local authority 
school governor 
appointments - 
demographic breakdown  

 

The Committee to receive an update report on the 
demographic breakdown of the local authority school 
governor appointments. 

Runa Basit, Head of School 
Governance & Information 

 

P
age 23



 
 

 
 

6 
 

P
age 24



Page 1 of 4 
 

Non-Executive Report of the: 

 
 

General Purposes Committee 

5th October 2021 

 
Report of James Thomas, Corporate Director (Children’s 
Services) 

Classification: 
[Unrestricted] 

Local Authority Governor Application 

 

Originating Officer(s) Runa Basit 

Wards affected All wards 

 

Executive Summary 

This report sets out for Members details of applicants who have applied to be 
nominated as the local authority governor at Tower Hamlets maintained schools. 

 
Recommendations: 
 
The General Purposes Committee is recommended to:  
 

1. Consider the applications and agree to nominate the applicants to the 
positions that are available for local authority governors at maintained 
schools in Tower Hamlets. 

 
 
1. REASONS FOR THE DECISIONS 
 
1.1 The School Governance (Constitution) (England) Regulations 2012 set out 

the process for the appointment of local authority governors to maintained 
schools.  The Regulations allow for the local authority to nominate a person to 
fill the position of local authority governor.  It is for the governing body to 
appoint that person if the governing body considers the person meets any 
eligibility criteria that it has set.   
 

1.2 The governor nominations in this report are to fill the current LA governor 
vacancies 

 
2. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS 

 
2.1 To improve the efficiency for appointing local authority governors to school 

vacancies, the General Purposes Committee at a meeting held on 
Wednesday 15 February 2006 made the decision to delegate authority to the 
Corporate Director (Children, Schools & Families) to appoint and revoke the 
appointment of local authority governors, except where there was a dispute 
about an appointment or there was more than one applicant for a post in 

Page 25

Agenda Item 4.1



Page 2 of 4 
 

which case the Committee would decide the appointment. 
 

2.2 At a meeting on 29 November 2011, the Council resolved to amend the 
constitution and the terms of reference of the General Purposes Committee 
were amended.  The committee is now responsible for the appointment and 
revocation of local authority school governors. 
 

2.3 As this is a function of the local authority there is no alternative option. 
 
3. DETAILS OF THE REPORT 
 
3.1 Applications to be nominated as the Local Authority governor to 3 schools are 

attached as Appendices to this report in the restricted area of the agenda. 
 

3.2 APPLICATIONS 
 

Re-appointments 
  

a) The Headteacher and Chair of Arnhem Wharf are in support of the 
appointment of Alesha De-Freitas. Alesha De-Freitas’ application is enclosed 
at Appendix 1. 
 

b) The Chair and Headteacher of St Paul’s Whitechapel & St John’s CoE 
Primary School are in support of the appointment of Anthony Cameron. 
Anthony Cameron’s application is enclosed at Appendix 2. 
 
New Appointments  
 

c) The Chair and Headteacher of Bishop Challoner Secondary School are in 
support of the appointment of Carolyn Lindsey. Carolyn Lindsey’s application 
is enclosed at Appendix 3. 

 

 
4. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 
 
4.1 Local Authority Governors are drawn from all sectors of the community.  

There is a mechanism in place to ensure, as far as possible, that the 
composition of governing bodies reflects the makeup of the school and wider 
community.  

 
 
5. OTHER STATUTORY IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1 This section of the report is used to highlight further specific statutory 

implications that are either not covered in the main body of the report or are 
required to be highlighted to ensure decision makers give them proper 
consideration. Examples of other implications may be: 

 Best Value Implications,  

 Consultations, 

 Environmental (including air quality),  

Page 26



Page 3 of 4 
 

 Risk Management,  

 Crime Reduction,  

 Safeguarding. 
 
5.2 There are no further specific statutory implications arising from the report. 
 
6. COMMENTS OF THE CHIEF FINANCE OFFICER 
 
6.1 There are no financial implications arising from the recommendations in this   

report. 
 
7. COMMENTS OF LEGAL SERVICES  
 
7.1 Section 19 of the Education Act 2002 requires each maintained school to 

have a governing body, which is a body corporate constituted in accordance 
with the Regulations.  Each maintained school is required to have an 
instrument of government, which specifies the membership of the governing 
body. Regulations require a governing body to include person appointed as a 
local authority governor and for a number of associated matters. 
 

7.2 The 2012 Regulations detail the composition of the governing body and the 
appointment of governors, including local authority governors.  The 2012 
Regulations provide that there can be only one local authority nominated 
governor.    A local authority governor is a person who is nominated by the 
local authority and is appointed by the governing body after being satisfied 
that the person meets any eligibility criteria set by the governing body.  It is for 
the governing body to decide whether the Local Authority nominee has the 
skills to contribute to the effective governance and success of the school and 
meets any eligibility criteria they have set. If the governing body has set 
eligibility criteria, then these should be notified at the meeting, so the 
Committee can consider them before making a nomination. 
 

7.3 Schedule 4 to the 2012 Regulations set out the circumstances in which a 
person is qualified or disqualified from holding or continuing in office as a 
governor, details of which are as follows – 
 

 A person who is a registered pupil at a school is disqualified from holding 
office as a governor of the school. 

 A person must be aged 18 or over at the date of appointment to be qualified 
to be a governor. 

 A person cannot hold more than one governor post at the same school at the 
same time. 

 A governor who fails to attend meetings for six months without the consent of 
the governing body becomes disqualified from continuing to hold office. 

 A person is disqualified from holding or continuing in office if: (1) his or her 
estate is sequestered (under bankruptcy) or the person is subject to a 
bankruptcy restrictions order or an interim order; (2) he or she is, broadly 
speaking, disqualified from being a company director; (3) he or she has been 
removed from office as trustee of a charity; (4) he or she has a criminal 
conviction of a specified kind within a specified time period; (5) he or she is 

Page 27



Page 4 of 4 
 

subject to a specified prohibition or restriction on employment, such as being 
barred from ‘regulated activity’ relating to children under the Safeguarding of 
Vulnerable Groups Act 2006; or (6) he or she refuses to apply for a criminal 
records certificate  when requested to do so by the clerk to the governing 
body. 

 A person is disqualified from appointment as a local authority governor if he or 
she is eligible to be a staff governor. 
 

7.4 Once appointed, a governor will hold office for a fixed period of four years 
from the date of appointment, except in a limited number of circumstances.  
This does not prevent a governor from being elected for a further term.  A 
governor may resign, be removed or be disqualified from holding office in the 
circumstances specified in the relevant Regulations. 
 

7.5 In determining whether to appoint an authority governor, the Council must 
have due regard to the need to eliminate unlawful conduct under the Equality 
Act 2010, the need to advance equality of opportunity and the need to foster 
good relations between persons who share a protected characteristic and 
those who don’t.  The Committee will wish to be satisfied that the process of 
selection is fair, open and consistent with furtherance of these equality 
objectives. 
 

7.6 The Council’s Constitution gives the General Purposes Committee 
responsibility for appointment of local authority school governors. 

 
____________________________________ 

 
Linked Reports, Appendices and Background Documents 
 
Linked Report 

 NONE 
 

Appendices 

 Appendices 1 – 3 [EXEMPT] LA Governor Application Forms 
 

Local Government Act, 1972 Section 100D (As amended) 
List of “Background Papers” used in the preparation of this report 
List any background documents not already in the public domain including officer 
contact information. 

 NONE 
 

Officer contact details for documents: 
Runa Basit 

 

Page 28



Non-Executive Report of the: 

 
 

General Purposes Committee 

5th October 2021 

 
Report of Lead Director: Ann Sutcliffe, Corporate 
Director Place 

Classification: 
 

Member Enquiries Policy and Process 

 
 

Originating Officer(s) Raj Chand, Director Customer Services 

Wards affected All 

 
 
 

Executive Summary 

The purpose of the report is to share the improved process for dealing with Members 
Enquiries. 

 
 
 
Recommendations: 
 
The General Purposes Committee is recommended to:  
 

1. The report be noted for information and the new process be adopted. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 29

Agenda Item 4.2



 
1. REASONS FOR THE DECISIONS 
 
1.1 The Members Enquiry process was lengthy and onerous resulting in delays 

for residents receiving responses.  The new process streamlines the 
procedure to make it more efficient. 

 
 
2. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS 

 
2.1 Remaining with the current process, resulting in delays and dissatisfaction for 

residents and Members and added work pressures for staff 
 
 
3. DETAILS OF THE REPORT 
 
There is consensus among Members and staff that the current Member Enquiries 
(ME) Process requires a review to ensure it is fit for purpose.  
 
It is worth noting for contextual purposes that the volume of MEs is high with 6580 
recorded in 2016/17, 8099 reported in 2017/18, although the numbers have reduced 
to 4809 in 2020/21.  
 
In January 2021, following a restructure and savings being made, the ME Function 

transferred from Democratic Services (DS) to the Information Governance (IG) 

Service and this provided an opportunity to assess the function and analyse the 

process. 

 

As part of this, the IG Service consulted with relevant stakeholders in order to gather 
intelligence, comments and feedback on ways to streamline the ME Process and to 
ensure it is robust.  
  
During these discussions, a new ME Policy and Process was drafted, which reduces 
the internal procedural footprint that Members and staff carry out in discharging their 
duties in relation to MEs. 
 
The new ME Policy and Process simplifies existing protocols by reducing the number 
of steps interested parties need to take in managing MEs and also addresses 
historic issues around the delivery of the service.  
 
On 15 June 2021, the new ME Policy and Process was agreed by CLT and this 
triggered the circulation of the new process, alongside general ME principles, to 
Members for comments and feedback. 
 
To facilitate this, there were a series of meetings including those attended by senior 
staff and leaders of the political parties, together with senior staff attendance at the 
General Purposes Committee on 24 June 2021 to present the proposals. There were 
also numerous ME Sessions at the end of August 2021.  
    

Page 30



There was positive and valuable comments made by Members during this process 
and it has enabled the new ME Policy and Process to be revised accordingly. The 
main elements, although not exhaustive, are briefly listed below under separate 
headings for ease of reference.  
  
Need to Know Principle -  
 
The Council operates the Need to Know Principle for MEs in which enquiries are 
rejected on the basis that the Member has no legitimate reason to request the 
specific information sought such as information relating to a Ward they do not 
represent. This has created unease among Members.   
 
The Need to Know Principle will be abolished in terms of the ME Process only.   
 
The Need to Know Principle will remain as a concept which is enshrined in the 
Council’s Constitution for other areas of the councils work, and will still be used in 
situations such as requests for private Committee reports, draft policy papers and 
personal information about people. Information can still be refused on various 
grounds such as confidentiality.  
 
Information Law -  

       
The current practice is that an ME is rejected where staff deem the enquiry as an 
information request under Information Law, for example where an FOI exemption 
could apply. This has created unease among Members.     
 
This practice will be abolished.   
 
MEs will now be dealt with as such and responding services will be at liberty to liaise 
directly with Members to narrow, shorten and condense enquiries if and where 
relevant and appropriate.  Where personal data is being requested the ME should 
state permission has been granted for data to shared.  
 
Sending the ME Response -  
 
There is at present a complex process where there are numerous steps taken by 
staff in the IG Service, the responding service and the relevant Member before a 
response is sent. This process causes delays and has created unease among 
Members.       
 
This process will be abolished. 
 
ME responses will now be sent by the responding service directly to the resident, 
with a copy to the Member, with a caveat informing the resident that the response 
has not been authorised by the Member to ensure a speedy response.  But that a 
copy has been sent to the respective member. 
 
Response Quality and Timescales -  
 

Page 31



Staff and Members agree that the general quality of responses provided by 
responding services can be improved and furthermore, there needs to be an 
adherence to ME timeframes.   
 
ME responses will now be approved by a Senior Manager or a staff member with 
sufficient and appropriate knowledge and experience of responding to MEs under 
delegated authority, which would increase the quality of responses.  
Regarding timescales, as the new ME Policy and Process has been streamlined, the 
expectation is that the delays will generally not occur.   
 
Furthermore, the IG Service has now secured an additional resource in the form of a 
full-time member of staff for up to six months in order to solely screen, log and 
process MEs. The extra staff member in the IG Service will prevent continuous 
delays, ensure speedier processing of MEs and sufficient cover during periods of 
annual leave.  
 
 
Registered Social Landlords (RSLs) - 
 
Once an RSL has completed a response, it is sent to the IG Service, which 
subsequently forwards the response to the Member and/or the resident and this 
causes delays as the IG Service is acting as a mailbox. 
 
ME responses will now be sent by the RSL directly to the resident with a copy to the 
Member and the IG Service, saving time and staff resources.     
  
 
General – 
The new ME Policy and Process is an open document, which will allow ongoing 
scrutiny, maintenance and updating of the document.  
It is anticipated that the Council will initiate use of the new ME Policy and Process in 
October 2021 with a review 6-9 months therefrom.      
 
 

 
4. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 
 
4.1 There are no implications.  
 
 
5. OTHER STATUTORY IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1 The report provides detail on how enquiries will be dealt with should they fall 

into the category of sharing personal data.  
 
 
6. COMMENTS OF THE CHIEF FINANCE OFFICER 
 

Page 32



6.1 There are no direct financial implications arising from this report.  The short-
term extra officer in the IG service for six months is being funded through an 
existing Corporate budget. 

 
7. COMMENTS OF LEGAL SERVICES  
 
7.1 The Council has the legal power to make the alterations to the procedure 

suggested in this report. 

7.2 The new procedure refers to times when council officers may refuse the 
release of information to members and the example of confidentiality is given.  
However, under the Local Government Act 1972 there are times when (in 
respect of committees and committee information) the public should be and 
must be excluded from such meetings or for such information to be otherwise 
withheld from the public domain.  Broadly speaking, these times will be 
adhered to when Council officer are considering the release of information 
following a members’ enquiry so as to provide consistency of approach by 
which Council information enters the public domain. 

 
 

____________________________________ 
 
 
Linked Reports, Appendices and Background Documents 
 
Linked Report 

 List any linked reports  

  

 State NONE if none. 
 
Appendices 

 List any appendices [if Exempt, Forward Plan entry MUST warn of that] 

 State NONE if none. 
 

Local Government Act, 1972 Section 100D (As amended) 
List of “Background Papers” used in the preparation of this report 
List any background documents not already in the public domain including officer 
contact information. 

 These must be sent to Democratic Services with the report 

 State NONE if none. 
 

Officer contact details for documents: 
Or state N/A 

 
 

Page 33



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
London Borough of Tower Hamlets 

 
 

Member Enquiries  
(ME)  

Policy and Process 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

V.1 
 

Page 35



  

2 

 

 
 

Contents  
 
 
Context…………………………………………………………Page 3  
 
 
Definition of an ME………..…….……………………………Page 3 
 
 
What Is Excluded From ME Process...…………………….Page 4 
 
 
Need to Know Principle……………………………………...Page 4 
 
 
Information Law……………………………………………….Page 4  
 
 
What Information Members Must Submit………………….Page 4 
 
 
Confidentiality…………………………………………………Page 4 
 
 
Urgent MEs……………………………………………………Page  -- 
 
 
Multiple Requests………………………………………….…Page  -- 
 
 
Process and Timeframe………………………………..……Page  -- 
 
 
Quality Checking…………………………………………..…Page  -- 
 
 
Process Flow Line……………………………………………Page  -- 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 36



  

3 

 

 
 
1.0 Context 
 
1.1 Members are an instrumental part of the Council and a prominent element of the 

local community. The views of Members have an impact on how the Council 
operates and the way services are delivered. 

  
1.2 The roles and responsibilities of Members are contained in the Council’s 

Constitution and the ME Process has been developed in conjunction with these.  
 
1.3 The ME Process enables Members to request relevant information from Council 

officers in connection with Council duties although there are certain exceptions.    
 
1.4 All levels of staff, including Senior Management, must be actively involved in good 

quality and timely responses to Members, ensuring any action points are followed 
through.      

 
1.5 All MEs are registered and tracked on iCasework and all correspondence must be 

made through the system.   
 
1.6 Each iCasework user is only given access to the team module they require in order 

to manage their cases. An audit trail is registered on the system and any breach of 
file access will result in disciplinary action. 

 
1.7 There are a library of ME reports within iCasework for staff from all services to run 

reports relating to their service. All services must utilise the reporting mechanism to 
monitor their own cases. The IG Service can create specific template reports at the 
request of staff.   

 
1.8 The IG Service will not act as a Members Support Service as it will focus on 

screening, filtering, logging and processing MEs. 
 
1.9 The Council may choose to publish a redacted ME response for the public record if 

appropriate.   
 
1.10 Each Corporate Director is ultimately responsible for MEs relating to their particular 

Directorate and they must ensure appropriate protocols are in place within their 
services to ensure the efficient running of the ME Process, including delegating to 
appropriate signatories if appropriate.    

 
1.11 This is a working document and regular updates will be made if and when the need 

arises.   
 
 
2.0 Definition of an ME  
 
2.1 An ME is defined as a routine enquiry made by a Member, normally on behalf of a 

resident or customer in their Ward. 
 
2.2 The enquiry may relate to issues concerning specific impact of an event on a 

Member’s Ward or relate to a resident or a group of residents in a Member’s Ward.   

Page 37



  

4 

 

 
2.3 An ME will only be registered if it is raised by a Member and not anyone else.   
 
 
3.0 What Is Excluded under the ME Process  
 
3.1 A Member must not raise an enquiry where the following apply:     
 

 There is a standard Service Request for a resident such as an adult social care 
assessment or collection of a bin as these should be made through the normal 
channel directly with the relevant service  

 The Council has existing protocols to deal with the matter such as the Corporate 
Complaints Process, Parking Appeals Process, Safeguarding investigation, 
Housing Priority List, School Admission Appeals or first time requests for Landlord 
property repairs  

 The matter has already been processed under any of the routes in the above bullet 
point 

 Where the enquiry relates to any external body such as the police, a utility company 
or a government department and where the external body has not been 
commissioned by the Council 

 They are requesting committee information as they have direct access to Directors 
for Portfolio issues.   

 See 8.0 Below (Urgent MEs).  
 
3.2 Although not an exhaustive list, it demonstrates areas where the ME Process 

should not be used.   
 
 
4.0 Need to Know Principle 
 
4.1 The Need to Know Principle will no longer be operated in terms of the ME Process 

although it will remain as a concept as it is still part of the Constitution. There are 
other areas where the Need to Know will still be actively used such as requests for 
Committee reports, draft policy papers or personal information relating to people. 
Council officers, in these instances, will still refuse on various grounds such as 
confidentiality. 

 
 
5.0 Information Law  
 
5.1 The Council will no longer run the practice of refusing MEs and directing Members 

to Information Law such as the Freedom of Information Act, Environmental 
Information Regulations or the Data Protection Act.  

 
5.2 Instead, these will be dealt with as MEs in their own right. However, where the 

Member has requested in-depth information for example, the responding service 
will contact the Member direct and seek to narrow the information sought.   

 
 
 
 
 

Page 38



  

5 

 

 
 
6.0 What Information Must a Member Submit 
     
6.1 When a Member submits an ME, the Member must provide:  
 

 their own email address for correspondence  

 the resident’s or customer’s name, address, telephone number and email address 

 consent of the resident or customer for the Member to deal with the enquiry 

 precise nature of the enquiry including any supporting documentation and desired 
outcome 

 any history relating to the enquiry 

 council reference numbers if any 

 the responsible service, team or staff member 

 the name of the Registered Social Landlord where applicable 
 
6.2 This will enable the ME to be dealt with in an efficient manner and prevents delays.     
 
7.0 Confidentiality  
 
7.1 Where a Member raises an enquiry on behalf of a resident, the Member should 

include in the initial contact the consent of the resident or their legal representative 
to allow the Council to provide information to the Member.    

 
7.2 However, the Council recognises that, generally, Members have implied consent for 

the Council to release information to the Member. However, implied consent only 
applies to the release of basic, non-sensitive information. 

 
7.3 It must be noted that Members are not automatically entitled to sensitive information 

such as social care support plans and personal health data.   
 
7.4 If an ME relates to sensitive information, the Member must provide specific, written 

consent, recently dated, from the relevant person such as the resident or their legal 
representative. 

  
7.5 If the Member requests information that is beyond the enquiry made by the resident, 

the Council will reject the ME.    
 
7.6 The nature and details regarding an ME are confidential to that Member and can 

only be shared with other Members with the consent of the relevant persons, which 
may be the resident and/or the Member who originally raised the enquiry.    

 
 
8.0 Urgent MEs 
 
8.1 Where a matter is urgent, for example a resident is threatened with eviction and 

bailiffs are present, a Member must contact a Senior Manager in the relevant 
service by telephone to raise the issue. 

 
8.2 In this scenario, the Senior Manager will immediately work with all interested parties 

and address the issue.  
 

Page 39



  

6 

 

8.3 If the enquiry is resolved, the case will not be registered on iCasework. If, however, 
the case is unresolved, the ME will be logged by the Directorate ME Officer from 
within the relevant service.       

 
 
9.0  Multiple Requests 
 
9.1 MEs initiated and raised by a single Member will directly receive a response.  
 
9.2 However, where the resident or customer has raised the same or similar enquiry 

with numerous Members (either directly or copied them in correspondence), the 
enquiry will only be registered on iCasework once and a single response will be 
sent to the relevant Member. Other Members may be copied in the response but 
only if appropriate.  

 
9.3 Where the ME relates to different services, the ME will be assigned to the 

Directorate where the majority of the issues rest and that service will be responsible 
for collecting the information from the other Directorate(s) and sending a response. 
In this situation, all efforts will be made to send Members a single, joint response on 
behalf of all services involved.  

 
10.0 Member of Parliament (MP) Enquiries 
 
10.1 MP Enquiries are processed by the IG Service and are managed in the same 

manner as MEs with the exception that MPs send their enquiries to a designated 
Council Mailbox for MPs and responses are sent directly to the MP by the 
responding service.   

 
11.0 Process and Timeframe 
  
11.1 All Members must submit their enquiries through the Online Members Portal to 

ensure all cases are registered and monitored. Members must not contact services 
directly unless Section 8 above applies.   

 
11.2 If a Member contacts a service or staff direct in a non-emergency situation to raise 

an ME, they will be directed to the Online Members Portal to register their enquiry. 
The Portal can be found using the following Link:  
https://towerhamletsportal.icasework.com/ 

 
11.3 Once a Member registers their enquiry through the Online Members Portal, an 

iCasework reference number is automatically generated, which will be quoted on 
the automatic initial acknowledgement and used in future correspondence relating 
to that particular ME.     

 
11.4 All cases will be registered in the order they are received for fairness and to prevent 

any bias. 
 
11.5 The Members Enquiries, Information and Complaints Officer (MEICO) will then 

screen the ME from the ‘Unassigned Cases’ on iCasework, carry out an initial 
assessment and if the ME is accepted, the MEICO will formally acknowledge the 
Member within two working days from receipt.  

 

Page 40

https://towerhamletsportal.icasework.com/


  

7 

 

11.6 The MEICO will then, within two working days, assign the ME to the relevant 
Directorate or service in order for that Directorate or service to reassign to the 
appropriate officer for a response.   

 
 11.7 If the ME is not accepted, the MEICO will send an email to the Member stating that 

the enquiry cannot be processed and state the reasons for this.  
 
 11.8 If the MEICO, Directorate ME Officer or any other staff member notices that the ME 

has been incorrectly assigned, that staff member will alert the relevant Directorate 
ME Officer from the responding service and the ME will be urgently reassigned. The 
timeframe for the ME response will not change if the ME is transferred from one 
Directorate or service to another.  

 
11.9 Once the service receives an accepted ME from the MEICO, the service will 

respond in writing to the resident and copy in the Member within a maximum of 10 
working days from the Council’s receipt of the ME.  

 
11.10 All responses are to be quality checked by relevant staff and also approved by a 

Senior Manager or an appropriate staff member delegated for this task  
 
11.11 The response should state that the Member has not approved the content and 

advise that it has been sent directly to the resident to ensure a speedy response.    
 
11.12 In exceptional circumstances where the 10 day timeframe cannot be met, the 

responding service must send the resident and copy the Member an interim 
response. This should include an explanation for the delay and the new expected 
date of the full response.  

 
11.13 If the Member is unhappy with delays in the response, they should raise this directly 

with the relevant Divisional Director or Corporate Director for immediate action.  
 
11.14 Once the response is sent to the resident and copied to the Member by the 

responding service, that service will close the case on iCasework on the same day.  
 
11.15 If a resident or Member is dissatisfied with the ME response, they have the option to 

raise their dissatisfaction by replying to the iCasework link provided in the response, 
which then automatically feeds into the case and then picked up by the Directorate 
ME Officer to assign as appropriate for a further response.    

 
11.16 When responding to an ME, if the service identifies that there may be a potential 

media angle related to the enquiry, the service should make contact instantly with 
the Council’s Communications Service. In these instances, the service will still 
respond to the resident as appropriate but may have input from the 
Communications Service.   

  
12.0 Registered Social Landlords (RSLs) 
 
12.1 RSLs will send their responses directly to the resident and copy in the Member as 

this will ensure a speedy response. The RSL will also copy in the Council’s MEICO 
as this will enable the case to be closed on iCasework.   

 

Page 41



  

8 

 

12.2 Members will be given a list of named persons with email addresses and/or 
telephone numbers as this will enable Members to chase RSLs direct where there 
is a delay in a response.      

 
13.0 Quality monitoring 
 
13.1 All ME responses must be quality checked by a Senior Manager within the 

responding Directorate, or an appropriate staff member who has been delegated 
this task, for appropriateness before they are sent. This includes ensuring:   

 

 the response is in plain English with correct spelling and grammar 

 any acronyms are explained 

 all the issues raised have been adequately addressed and are up to date 

 actions to be taken are clearly stated 

 style, tone and feel of the response is appropriate 
 
13.2 Where the responses are not to the expected standard, the Senior Manager of the 

responding service, or a relevant staff member who has been delegated this task, 
will ask for the response to be revised to an appropriate and acceptable level.   

 
 
 
14. ME Flow Line 

 

MEICO receives ME through iCasework.  

 

 

 

Within 2 Working Days:  

 

MEICO Filters ME to determine whether it fits the criteria for an ME.  

 

 

 

If it is not accepted as an ME, Member will be informed by MEICO, case status on iCasework changed 

(eg. rejected/withdrawn) and case closed. 

If it is accepted as an ME, MEICO assigns to relevant Directorate/service in order for the responding 

service to reassign to the appropriate officer for a response.  

MEICO completes the initial assessment on iCasework.  

 

,,  

Page 42



  

9 

 

 

 

 

MEICO sends an acknowledgment to the Member. 

 

 

 

On 8th Working Day: 

 

If no response apparent, Directorate ME Officer from the responding service escalates to the  

Divisional Director and/or the Corporate Director of the responding service.    

 

 

Within A Maximum of 10 Working Days: 

 

  When a response is drafted, it is also quality checked by a Senior Manager or other staff under  

  delegated authority (IG and Complaints Service can assist where necessary) 

 
 
 
 

 

 

   Responding service sends a full, written response directly to the resident and copies in the Member  

   through iCasework. 

 

 

 

 

Departmental ME Officer from the responding service completes the case details on iCasework and 

then closes the case.  

 
 

 
  

Page 43



This page is intentionally left blank



Summary of Discussion and Comments – Member Enquiries Principles, Policy and Process  
 
 

Need to Know Principle: 
 
Council officers clarified at meetings with Members that the Need to Know Principle is being 
abolished in terms of the Member Enquiries Process and not as a concept as it is and would still be 
part of the Constitution. Council officers stated there are other areas where the Need to Know will 
still be actively used such as requests for Committee reports, draft policy papers or personal 
information about people. Council officers, in these instances, will still refuse on various grounds 
such as confidentiality.  
A majority of Members highlighted that they were pleased to learn the abolition of the Principle and 
some made it clear the Principle hampered their enquires, caused a lot of unease with residents, 
that it stopped legitimate enquiries being addressed and was not conducive. 
A small minority of Members were concerned about the extra work this would bring to Council 
services although another minority highlighted that there would be no extra work.      
 

Information Law: 
 
A majority of Members highlighted that it would be very good to see the Council abolish the practice 
of refusing MEs and directing Members to Information Law such as FOI/EIR. Members highlighted 
that the practice of directing MEs through the FOI/EIR route was obstructive and made it harder for 
them to raise legitimate enquiries on behalf of their residents.     
Council officers reassured Members of the paramount issue of confidentiality. 
 

Members support: 
 
A couple of Members stated that there has been a problem with the ME Process since 2014 and it 
has never been fixed. A couple of Members highlighted that when the ME Function was with 
Democratic Services, they received 121 support from DS staff and asked if that is going to be 
possible for the IG Service. Council officers reclarified that the service previously provided by 
Democratic Services was different in nature to that provided by the IG Service. Council officers made 
clear that the IG Service would not be providing 121 support as staff resources have reduced over 
the years. It was suggested that due to resources, 121 support would not have continued with 
Democratic Services had the function stayed within DS.    
 

Can Members help to reduce the number of MEs and what is an ME?: 
 
On their own accord, some Members asked what they could do to reduce the number of MEs they 
submit. Members asked for a few examples to be inserted into the ME Process demonstrating what 
would not constitute an ME such as a Service Request. Council officers highlighted that instead of 
inserting these examples, the new ME Process makes it clear any elements that do not constitute an 
ME such as a Service Request, where there is a complaint about the same issue or a PCN Appeal or a 
School Appeal. In these scenarios, Council officers made it clear that using the ME Process would not 
be appropriate. A majority of Members were grateful for this clarification in the new ME Process.     
 

RSL Responses: 
 
A majority of Members thought it is a very good idea for RSLs to send their responses directly to 
Members, instead of through the IG Service which is acting as a mailbox and clogging the system. A 
majority of Members highlighted this would save a lot of time and effort for all interested parties.  

Page 45



 
A minority of Members were concerned that Council officers would not see the RLS responses 
before they were sent to Members as those Members were not confident with the standard of 
responses from the RSLs.  
A large number of Members wanted lists of named individuals from the RSLs so Members could 
contact them direct for chasers if required.      
 

Sending ME responses directly to residents: 
 
A majority of Members stated that it would be difficult for them to send ME responses directly to 
residents as suggested in the new ME Process. Members stated that they have jobs and would not 
have the time to do this type of administrative work.  
A majority of Members stated that they would like the Council to send ME responses directly to 
residents without the Member authorising it and that Members are copied in the responses. 
Members highlighted that this would save time.  
A minority of Members wanted responses still to go to them for approval before the relevant service 
sends the response to the resident.  
A minority of Members had concerns about the quality of Council responses if they were sent 
directly to residents. Council officers made it clear that these are two separate issues – one is the 
process of sending the responses directly to residents which would save time and the other is the 
quality of responses. 
A minority of Members stated that if a response is sent directly to the resident, it needs to be made 
clear that the response was being sent to the resident so they could receive the relevant information 
quicker and that the response has not been seen by the Member.  
    
 

Mayor receives detailed responses: 
 
A minority of members highlighted that enquiries raised with the Mayor’s Office get detailed 
responses compared to MEs. Council officers highlighted the new ME Process would include sign off 
by a Senior Manager or a staff member with sufficient and appropriate knowledge and experience of 
responding to MEs – this would increase the quality of responses.  
 

Capacity in the IG Service to deal with increase in MEs  
 
A couple of Members were concerned that the IG Service would be swamped with logging and 
processing MEs and this would result in further delays as there are already delays in this respect. 
Council officers confirmed the IG Service is currently looking at resources to deal with MEs.   
 

Prioritisation of Enquiries: 
 
A couple of Members wanted a priority system to ensure urgent queries could be addressed in an 
urgent manner. Council officers made it clear that any urgent enquiries such as ‘an eviction on the 
day’ should be raised directly with the Senior Manager in the relevant service and not through the 
ME Process as it has a 10-day turnaround timeframe. Council officers also made it clear that the 
enquiries will be dealt with on a first come first served basis as this will be fair for everyone involved.     
A couple of Members wanted details of the ME Line. 
 

Delays in responses: 
 
A few Members thought it was unreasonable that there were delays in responding services sending 

Page 46



ME responses. Council officers advised that the new ME Process will be streamlined and the 
expectation is that the delays will be significantly reduced. It was highlighted that the new ME 
Process will be “work in progress” and if there is a need to revise it further in the future, Council 
officers would endeavour to do so.  
 

 
 

Page 47



This page is intentionally left blank



Non-Executive Report of the: 

 
 

General Purposes Committee 

Post-Election Polling Places Review 2021 

 
Report of Janet Fasan, Divisional Director Legal Services, 
and Interim Monitoring Officer  

Classification: 
Open (Unrestricted) 

Post-election polling places review 2021 

 
 

Originating Officer(s) Robert Curtis – Head of Electoral Services 

Wards affected All 

 

Executive Summary 

The Representation of the People Act 1983 (as amended by the Electoral 
Administration Act 2006) requires that all local authorities must review their UK 
Parliamentary polling districts and polling places at least once every five years. 
 
In Tower Hamlets the last formal review took place in 2019 and was approved by 
Council on 15 January 2020 but following the extraordinary General Election held in 
December 2019, the GLA elections, the Governance Referendum, the 
Neighbourhood Planning Referendum on the Isle of Dogs, and the Weavers Ward 
by election it is considered pertinent for the polling places used at these polls to be 
reviewed once again given the use of alternative locations utilised over this period. 
 
The review will take place over a period of 6 weeks commencing on the 20th 
September 2021 until the 29th October 2021 to enable any agreed changes to be 
agreed and in place prior to the local elections scheduled for May 2022.   

 
Recommendations: 
 

 The General Purposes Committee is recommended to note the 
commencement of the review of polling places in Tower Hamlets. 

 On conclusion of the review for GPC to assess the responses received and 
recommend to Council those polling places to use and those not to be used.   

 
 

 
 
 
 
  

Page 49

Agenda Item 4.3



 

1. REASONS FOR THE DECISIONS 
 

1.1 The review is being undertaken because of several changes, some temporary, 
to polling places that have had to be put in place since the last formal review 
undertaken in 2019.  

1.2 The changes to polling places since 2019 are detailed in Appendix A 

1.3 Once the review is concluded this will enable polling places to be formally 
agreed and booked prior to the May polls in 2022 and beyond until the next full 
review of polling places and districts in 2024. 

1.4 If, following the elections in May 2022, premises become unavailable then a 
further review will be undertaken.   

 
2. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS 

 
2.1 This review is not a mandatory review as set out in Schedule A1 to the 

Representation of the People Act 1983.  
 
3. DETAILS OF THE REPORT 
 
3.1. As required by Representation of the People Act 1983 (as amended by the 

Electoral Administration Act 2006) all local authorities must review their UK 
Parliamentary polling districts and polling places at least once every five years. 
In Tower Hamlets this was undertaken in 2019 with the outcome agreed by 
Council on 15 January 2020. 

 
3.2. The Electoral Registration and Administration Act 2013 also introduced a 

change to the timing of compulsory reviews of UK Parliamentary polling districts 
and polling places. Compulsory reviews must be started and completed within 
the period of 16 months that starts on 1 October of every fifth year after 1 
October 2013.  

 
3.3. For this truncated review of polling places only, the council is seeking views on 

any changes that relevant stakeholders consider are required to existing 
temporary or established polling places used since 2019 and to ensure that any 
recommendations received for changes of polling places reflect local 
requirements.  

 
3.4. A list of the polling places and polling stations used in 2019 and the local 

government electorate can be found on the Councils web site here 
https://www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/postelectionreview along with the polling 
places and comparative local government electorate for the GLA elections and 
Governance Referendum held in May 2021.  

 
3.5. The electorate in some of the polling districts in Tower Hamlets has changed 

significantly in recent years and is likely to continue to change in the future. 
There may be a need, when the next formal review is undertaken, to create 
further polling districts within the borough wards redrawing the polling district 
boundaries, add additional polling places, merge smaller polling places or it 

Page 50

https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.towerhamlets.gov.uk%2Fpostelectionreview&data=04%7C01%7CRobert.Curtis%40towerhamlets.gov.uk%7Cef97ece03ac646b7a96d08d977721957%7C3c0aec87f983418fb3dcd35db83fb5d2%7C0%7C0%7C637672154193671623%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=b%2Fwxl9mL58a9MOBLhw6F%2F7d4UH5DjMwOky9n9HyqNK0%3D&reserved=0


may be considered that the status quo is retained in some or all the polling 
districts. 

 
3.6. Each polling district should contain its own polling place or polling places and 

should be evaluated in terms of the current electorate figure, the alignment with 
the borough ward boundaries, the impact of regeneration on the area, existing 
natural boundaries (major roads and waterways). 

 
3.7. It is important to note that this review is not a review of ward boundaries or the 

existing polling districts, but a review of those polling places used since 2019 
and at recent elections held in 2021.   

 
3.8. Local election arrangements for polling districts and polling places are not 

automatically part of any compulsory review, this a process used to establish 
the set up for UK Parliamentary Elections. However, as polling districts and 
polling places for other elections are also based on UK Parliamentary polling 
arrangements, the requirements of any other elections that are held within the 
local authority area should be taken into consideration as part of any review. 

 
3.9. When carrying this review, the following will take place: 

 publish confirmation that a review is taking place 

 publish all representations received  

 seek representations from such persons who have a particular expertise 
in relation to access to premises or facilities for persons who have 
different forms of disability.  

 on completion of the review, give reasons for decisions made and publish 
documentation relating to the review including correspondence, 
representations, minutes, and details of the designation of the polling 
places within the local authority area. 

 
3.10. The local authority must comply with the following legislative requirements 

regarding the designation of polling places: 
 

 the council must designate a polling place for each polling district, unless 
the size or other circumstances of a polling district are such that the 
situation of the polling stations does not materially affect the convenience 
of the electors 

 the polling place must be an area in the district, unless special 
circumstances make it desirable to designate an area wholly or partly 
outside the district (for example, if no accessible polling place can be 
identified in the district) 

 the polling place must be small enough to indicate to electors in different 
parts of the district how they will be able to reach the polling station 

  

Page 51



 
3.11.   Local authorities must comply with the following access requirements. As 

 part of the review, they must: 
 

 seek to ensure that all electors in the local authority area have such 
reasonable facilities for voting as are practicable in the circumstances 

 seek to ensure that so far as is reasonable and practicable every polling 
place for which it is responsible is accessible to electors who are 
disabled 

3.12. The council must have regard to the accessibility to disabled persons of 
potential polling places or the designation of any existing polling place it is 
reviewing.  

 
3.13. On Monday 20th September 2021 a letter seeking views on the current 

arrangements and the changes agreed at full council on 15 January 2020 and 
the changes that have had to be made since that date will be sent to the 
following 

 

 all elected representatives for the area under review,  

 local political parties,  

 persons and organisations who have a particular interest and expertise in 
relation to the different aspects of the polling places including location, and 
accessibility to premises or facilities for persons who have different forms of 
disability.  

 
3.14. Given this review is only of polling places within the Borough the period will be 

for 6 weeks commencing on Monday 20th September 2021 until 29 October 
2021. 

 
3.15. As well as formal representations and review findings, statistics, and other 

information to be considered will include: 
 

 Electorate figures, broken down to street level within wards and existing 
polling districts. 

 Details of current polling places and an indication as to their overall 
suitability for purpose. 

 Any comments or complaints regarding the current arrangements from 
the public, elected members, or other bodies. 

 Information gained from the existing and possible future polling places as 
to continued availability and suitability. 

 Details of potential alternative buildings that might appear suitable. 

 Advice and guidance from local disability groups and disability 
organisations and council officers who are responsible for engagement 
with people with disabilities. 

  

Page 52



3.16. The timetable for the review is as follows: 
 

 Formal review notice published - Monday 20th September 2021 

 Review period commences - Monday 20th September 2021 

 Review period ends - Friday 29th October 2021  

 General Purposes Committee - 5th October 2021 

 Full Council for decision - Wednesday 19 January 2022 

 Publication of conclusions of review - Friday 21 January 2022 

3.17. Further information, including electorate figures, broken down to street level 
within wards and existing polling districts together with maps showing the 
location of polling stations, polling districts and wards can be found on the 
council's web site here https://www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/postelectionreview  
 

3.18. Representations can be emailed to vote@towerhamlets.gov.uk or sent to: - 
 

Post-Election Polling Places Review 2021 
Electoral Services 
London Borough of Tower Hamlets 
7th Floor 
Mulberry Place 
5 Clove Crescent 
London 
E14 2BG 
 

4. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 
 
4.1. The Public Sector Equality Duty at s.149 Equality Act 2010 requires the council 

to have due regard to the following when exercising its functions: 

 The need to eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation, and 
other conduct prohibited under the Act. 

 To advance equality of opportunity between those with a protected 
characteristic and those that do not share it; and 

 To foster good relations between those with a protected characteristic 
and those that do not share it. 

 
4.2. Local authorities have a duty to review the accessibility of all polling places to 

disabled voters and ensure that every polling place, and prospective polling 
place, for which it is responsible is accessible to disabled voters 'so far as is 
reasonable and practicable'.  

 
4.3. According to the Equalities and Human Rights Commission the duty to make 

reasonable adjustments comprises three requirements.  
 

4.4. For service providers and those exercising public functions, these requirements 
are: 

 where a provision, criterion or practice puts disabled people at a 
substantial disadvantage compared with those who are not disabled, to 
take reasonable steps to avoid that disadvantage. 

 where a physical feature puts disabled people at a substantial 
disadvantage compared with people who are not disabled to avoid that 

Page 53

https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.towerhamlets.gov.uk%2Fpostelectionreview&data=04%7C01%7CRobert.Curtis%40towerhamlets.gov.uk%7Cef97ece03ac646b7a96d08d977721957%7C3c0aec87f983418fb3dcd35db83fb5d2%7C0%7C0%7C637672154193671623%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=b%2Fwxl9mL58a9MOBLhw6F%2F7d4UH5DjMwOky9n9HyqNK0%3D&reserved=0
mailto:vote@towerhamlets.gov.uk


disadvantage or adopt a reasonable alternative method of providing the 
service or exercising the function. 

 where not providing an auxiliary aid puts disabled people at a substantial 
disadvantage compared with people who are not disabled, to provide that 
auxiliary aid. 

 
5. OTHER STATUTORY IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1 This section of the report is used to highlight further specific statutory 

implications that are either not covered in the main body of the report or are 
required to be highlighted to ensure decision makers give them proper 
consideration.  

 Examples of other implications may be: 
 

 Best Value Implications,  

 Reviews, 

 Environmental (including air quality),  

 Risk Management,  

 Crime Reduction,  

 Safeguarding. 

 Data Protection / Privacy Impact Assessment. 
 

5.2 Whilst this review is only looking at polling places the principles of the steps 
set out in Schedule A1 of the Representation of the People Act 1983 will be 
followed. It is informed by guidance issued by the Electoral Commission which 
sets out the appeals process following conclusion of the review. It is also 
guided by review principles issued by the Cabinet Office in July 2012 (as 
updated May 2018). 

5.3 The council is required to publish all representations received in relation to the 
review.  

5.4 Personal details will be redacted in line with the General Data Protection 
Regulation 2018. 

 
6. COMMENTS OF THE CHIEF FINANCE OFFICER 
 

 This report requests that the General Purposes Committee note the ongoing 
review of polling places in Tower Hamlets and on conclusion of the review to 
assess the responses received and recommend to Council those premises to 
continue using and those not to be used.   

 Any costs arising from the conduct of the review will be met from within the 
Electoral Services approved budgets. 

 Each premises will charge the authority for the provision of the premises at 
local elections/referendum. Consequently, subject to the outcome of the 
review and implementation of review recommendations, the costs are 
unknown but should be met from within approved  budgets. 

 

Page 54



7. COMMENTS OF LEGAL SERVICES  
 
7.1 The legal position is as set out in the body of the report.  
 
Linked Reports, Appendices and Background Documents 
 
Linked Report 

 None 
 
Appendices 

 Appendix A - Changes to Polling Places since 2019. 
 

Local Government Act, 1972 Section 100D (As amended) 
 
List of “Background Papers” used in the preparation of this report 

 None 
 
Officer contact details for documents: 
Rob Curtis, Head of Electoral Services 
Email: robert.curtis@towerhamlets.gov.uk 
Phone: 020 7364 3139 

Page 55

mailto:robert.curtis@towerhamlets.gov.uk


Appendix A 

 
Changes to polling places since 2019 

 

Extraordinary General Election 2019 

110 polling stations set up can be found here 

https://www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/postelectionreview 

Review recommendations agreed by Council on 15 January 2020 

 An extra portacabin polling station be provided at East India – Polling District BC1 

 The Epainos Ministries (New Testament Church of God), Lichfield Road, E3 5AT be 
replaced by Gateway Housing Association, 409-413 Mile End Road, E3 4PB – 
Polling District BW3 

 A portacabin to be provided near to the Tesco Express on Westferry Road/Cuba 
Street replacing the London Marriott Hotel Canary Wharf, 22 Hertsmere Road, 
Canary Wharf, E14 4ED – polling District CW1 

 The Arnhem Wharf Primary School to be used for polling district CW2 

 Seven Mills Primary School, Malabar Street, E14 8LY to be used for Polling District 
CW3   

 Docklands Community Organisation, 111-113 Mellish Street, E14 8PJ no longer to 
be used in polling district CW3 

 Toynbee Hall, 28 Commercial Street, E1 6LS to be used in polling district SB1 
replacing Christ Church CE Primary School, 47A Brick Lane, E1 6PU 

 St Anne’s Catholic Primary School, Underwood Road, E1 5AW to be used for polling 
district SB2 and not SB3  

 The Brady Arts and Community Centre, 192-196 Hanbury Street, E1 5HU to be used 
for polling district SB3  

GLA/Governance Referendum/Isle of Dogs NPR – Thursday 7 May 2021  

 Following the withdrawal of portacabin to provide facilities at East India the two 
portacabin polling stations were unavailable and the stations sited at the Town Hall – 
Polling district BC1 

 Following the withdrawal of facilities at Stour Space Exhibition Area, 7 Roach Road, 
the polling place was sited at H. Forman & Son, Floor 1, Stour Road, E3 2NT – 
polling district BE2 

 The polling place at Gateway Housing Association, 409-413 Mile End Road, E3 4PB 
was utilised as recommended – polling district BW3 

 Following the withdrawal of portacabin to provide facilities near to the Tesco Express 
on Westferry Road/Cuba Street the polling place was reverted to the London Marriott 
Hotel, 22 Hertsmere Road, Canary Wharf, E14 4ED – polling district CW1 

 The Arnhem Wharf Primary School, 1 Arnhem Place, E14 3RP was utilised as 
recommended – polling district CW2 

 Seven Mills Primary School, Malabar Street, E14 8LY was used for polling district 
CW3 

 Toynbee Hall, 28 Commercial Street, E1 6LS was used for polling district SB1 as 
recommended 

 The Brady Arts and Community Centre, 192-196 Hanbury Street, E1 5HU was used 
for polling district SB3 as recommended 

Weavers Ward By election  

 As a result of Columbia Primary School, Columbia Road, E2 7RG undergoing 

renovation work and not being available an alternative location at Sundial 

Community Centre, 11 Shipton Street, E2 7RU was used – polling district WE2 

Page 56

https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.towerhamlets.gov.uk%2Fpostelectionreview&data=04%7C01%7CRobert.Curtis%40towerhamlets.gov.uk%7Cef97ece03ac646b7a96d08d977721957%7C3c0aec87f983418fb3dcd35db83fb5d2%7C0%7C0%7C637672154193671623%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=b%2Fwxl9mL58a9MOBLhw6F%2F7d4UH5DjMwOky9n9HyqNK0%3D&reserved=0


Changes to polling places since 2019 

 

Extraordinary General Election 2019 

110 polling stations were set up  

Review recommendations agreed by Council on 15 January 2020 

 An extra portacabin polling station be provided at East India – Polling District BC1 

 The Epainos Ministries (New Testament Church of God), Lichfield Road, E3 5AT be replaced 

by Gateway Housing Association, 409-413 Mile End Road, E3 4PB – Polling District BW3 

 A portacabin to be provided near to the Tesco Express on Westferry Road/Cuba Street 

replacing the London Marriott Hotel Canary Wharf, 22 Hertsmere Road, Canary Wharf, E14 

4ED – polling District CW1 

 The Arnhem Wharf Primary School to be used for polling district CW2 

 Seven Mills Primary School, Malabar Street, E14 8LY to be used for Polling District CW3   

 Docklands Community Organisation, 111-113 Mellish Street, E14 8PJ no longer to be used in 
polling district CW3 

 Toynbee Hall, 28 Commercial Street, E1 6LS to be used in polling district SB1 replacing Christ 
Church CE Primary School, 47A Brick Lane, E1 6PU 

 St Anne’s Catholic Primary School, Underwood Road, E1 5AW to be used for polling district 
SB2 and not SB3  

 The Brady Arts and Community Centre, 192-196 Hanbury Street, E1 5HU to be used for 
polling district SB3  

 

GLA/Governance Referendum/Isle of Dogs NPR – Thursday 7 May 2021  

 Following the withdrawal of portacabin to provide facilities at East India the two polling 

stations were sited at the Town Hall – Polling district BC1 

 Following the withdrawal of facilities at Stour Space Exhibition Area, 7 Roach Road, E3 2Pav 

the polling place was sited at H. Forman & Son, Floor 1, Stour Road, E3 2NT – polling district 

BE2 

 The polling place at Gateway Housing Association, 409-413 Mile End Road, E3 4PB was 

utilised as recommended – polling district BW3 

 Following the withdrawal of portacabin to provide facilities near to the Tesco Express on 

Westferry Road/Cuba Street the polling place at the London Marriott Hotel, 22 Hertsmere 

Road, Canary Wharf, E14 4ED was provided – polling district CW1 

 The Arnhem Wharf Primary School, 1 Arnhem Place, E14 3RP was utilised as recommended 

– polling district CW2 

 Seven Mills Primary School, Malabar Street, E14 8LY was used for polling district CW3 

 Toynbee Hall, 28 Commercial Street, E1 6LS was used for polling district SB1 as 

recommended 

 The Brady Arts and Community Centre, 192-196 Hanbury Street, E1 5HU was used for 

polling district SB3 as recommended 

Weavers Ward By election  

 As a result of Columbia Primary School, Columbia Road, E2 7RG undergoing renovation work 

and not being available an alternative location at Sundial Community Centre, 11 Shipton 

Street, E2 7RU was used – polling district WE2 

 

Page 57



This page is intentionally left blank



European 2019 Parl 2019
Governance 
Referendum 
& GLA 2021

Isle of Dogs 2021
Weavers Ward 

2021

Reference District(s) Elector Count Reference District(s) Elector Count Reference District(s) Elector Count
% difference 

(Local & Euro)
Reference District(s) Elector Count

% difference 
(Local & Euro)

Reference District(s) Elector Count
% difference 

(Local & GLA)

1 BC1 2,201 1 BC1 1,257 1 BC1 1,716 50.07%

Single station Single station Single station 2 BC1 1,240 2 BC1 1,587
Single Station 
Comparison

2 BC2 2,506 3 BC2 2,547 3 BC2 3,249 29.65%

3 BC3 1,961 4 BC3 2,026 4 BC3 2,519 28.45% 4 BC3 2476 26.26%

4 BC4 1,683 5 BC4 1,645 5 BC4 2,069 22.94% 5 BC4 2060 22.40%

5 BC4 1,701 6 BC4 1,731 6 BC4 2,042 20.05% 6 BC4 2041 19.99%

6 BE1 2,150 7 BE1 2,235 7 BE1 2,302 7.07%

7 BE2 1,107 8 BE2 1,687 8 BE2 2,232 101.63%

8 BE3 1,641 9 BE3 1,669 9 BE3 1,754 6.89%

9 BE3 1,477 10 BE3 1,512 10 BE3 1,606 8.73%

10 BE4 1,685 11 BE4 1,707 11 BE4 1,855 10.09%

11 BE4 1,461 12 BE4 1,469 12 BE4 1,621 10.95%

12 BE5 1,429 13 BE5 1,559 13 BE5 1,267 -11.34%

13 BE5 907 14 BE5 940 14 BE5 1,385 52.70%

14 BG1 1,827 15 BG1 1,869 15 BG1 1,973 7.99%

15 BG2 1,426 16 BG2 1,404 16 BG2 1,471 3.16%

16 BG2 1,257 17 BG2 1,317 17 BG2 1,357 7.96%

17 BG3 2,249 18 BG3 2,273 18 BG3 1,542 -31.44%

18 BG3 775 19 BG3 821 19 BG3 1,832 136.39%

19 BG4 1,554 20 BG4 1,620 20 BG4 1,843 18.60%

20 BG4 1,426 21 BG4 1,485 21 BG4 1,514 6.17%

21 BG5 2,013 22 BG5 2,283 22 BG5 2,126 5.61%

22 BN1 2,007 23 BN1 2,073 23 BN1 2,334 16.29%

23 BN2 2,218 24 BN2 2,276 24 BN2 2,461 10.96%

24 BN3 1,548 25 BN3 1,563 25 BN3 1,774 14.60%

25 BN3 1,119 26 BN3 1,132 26 BN3 1,323 18.23%

26 BS1 1,368 27 BS1 1,335 27 BS1 1,491 8.99%

27 BS1 1,111 28 BS1 1,142 28 BS1 1,221 9.90%

28 BS2 1,588 29 BS2 1,677 29 BS2 1,892 19.14%

29 BS2 1,471 30 BS2 1,526 30 BS2 1,849 25.70%

30 BS3 1,217 31 BS3 1,269 31 BS3 1,403 15.28%

31 BS3 1,089 32 BS3 1,105 32 BS3 1,228 12.76%

32 BW1 1,352 33 BW1 1,646 33 BW1 1,699 25.67%

33 BW1 1,593 34 BW1 1,455 34 BW1 1,482 -6.97%

34 BW2 1,319 35 BW2 1,335 35 BW2 1,393 5.61%

35 BW2 1,249 36 BW2 1,280 36 BW2 1,266 1.36%

36 BW3 1,318 37 BW3 1,433 37 BW3 1,392 5.61%

37 BW4 1,831 38 BW4 1,875 38 BW4 1,988 8.57%

38 CW1 1,929 39 CW1 2,044 39 CW1 2,502 29.70% 39 CW1 1729 -10.37%

39 CW2 1,340 40 CW2 1,369 40 CW2 1,446 -46.46% 40 CW2 1445 -46.50%

40 CW2 1,361 41 CW2 1,377 Single Station CW2 Single Station Single Station Single Station CW2 Single Station Single Station

41 CW3 1,652 42 CW3 1,684 41 CW3 3,243 96.31% 41 CW3 3233 95.70%

42 CW3 1,575 43 CW3 1,645 42 CW3 3,136 99.11% 42 CW3 3131 98.79%

43 IG1 1,690 44 IG1 1,708 43 IG1 2,000 18.34% 43 IG1 2000 18.34%

44 IG1 1,375 45 IG1 1,327 44 IG1 1,726 25.53% 44 IG1 1726 25.53%

45 IG2 1,552 46 IG2 1,629 45 IG2 1,882 21.26% 45 IG2 1881 21.20%

46 IG2 1,430 47 IG2 1,437 46 IG2 1,688 18.04% 46 IG2 1686 17.90%

47 IG3 2,176 48 IG3 2,164 47 IG3 2,479 13.92% 47 IG3 2474 13.69%

48 LA1 1,411 49 LA1 1,408 48 LA1 1,719 21.83%

49 LA1 1,336 50 LA1 1,490 49 LA1 1,725 29.12%

50 LA2 2,117 51 LA2 2,176 50 LA2 2,463 16.34%

51 LA3 1,693 52 LA3 1,682 51 LA3 1,939 14.53%

52 LA4 1,602 53 LA4 1,743 52 LA4 1,605 0.19%

53 LA4 1,007 54 LA4 1,102 53 LA4 1,767 75.47%

54 LA5 1,984 55 LA5 1,974 54 LA5 2,186 10.18%

55 LI1 2,116 56 LI1 2,116 55 LI1 2,387 12.81%

56 LI2 2,113 57 LI2 2,112 56 LI2 2,347 11.07%

57 ME1 2,014 58 ME1 2,075 57 ME1 2,162 7.35%

58 ME2 2,596 59 ME2 2,765 58 ME2 2,971 14.45%

59 ME3 1,372 60 ME3 1,352 59 ME3 1,603 16.84%

60 ME3 1,320 61 ME3 1,407 60 ME3 1,613 22.20%

61 ME4 2,345 62 ME4 2,481 61 ME4 2,881 22.86%

62 ME5 2,222 63 ME5 2,186 62 ME5 2,536 14.13%

63 PO1 1,442 64 PO1 1,410 63 PO1 1,610 11.65%

64 PO1 1,306 65 PO1 1,301 64 PO1 1,447 10.80%

65 PO2 1,404 66 PO2 1,450 65 PO2 1,791 27.56%

66 SB1 1,885 67 SB1 1,926 66 SB1 2,766 46.74%

67 SB2 2,206 68 SB2 2,311 67 SB2 1,062 -51.86%

68 SB3 1,337 69 SB3 1,348 68 SB2 915 -31.56%

69 SB3 1,030 70 SB3 1,032 69 SB3 2,633 155.63%

70 SB4 1,165 71 SB4 1,222 70 SB4 1,416 21.55%

71 SD1 1,684 72 SD1 1,744 71 SD1 1,871 11.10%

72 SD2 1,671 73 SD2 1,715 72 SD2 1,930 15.50%

73 SD3 1,624 74 SD3 1,652 73 SD3 1,736 6.90%

74 SD4 1,586 75 SD4 1,679 74 SD4 1,877 18.35%

75 SD4 1,603 76 SD4 1,699 75 SD4 1,808 12.79%

76 SG1 1,416 77 SG1 1,476 76 SG1 1,583 11.79%

77 SG1 1,425 78 SG1 1,478 77 SG1 1,563 9.68%

78 SG2 1,110 79 SG2 1,092 78 SG2 1,233 11.08%

79 SG2 1,053 80 SG2 1,073 79 SG2 1,167 10.83%

80 SG3 1,369 81 SG3 1,359 80 SG3 1,459 6.57%

81 SG3 1,218 82 SG3 1,263 81 SG3 1,304 7.06%

82 SH1 1,454 83 SH1 1,474 82 SH1 1,548 6.46%

83 SH1 1,358 84 SH1 1,382 83 SH1 1,546 13.84%

84 SH2 1,760 85 SH2 1,575 84 SH2 1,735 -1.42%

85 SH2 1,395 86 SH2 1,544 85 SH2 1,707 22.37%

86 SH3 1,828 87 SH3 1,831 86 SH3 1,996 9.19%

87 SK1 963 88 SK1 1,015 87 SK1 1,654 71.75%

88 SK2 2,302 89 SK2 2,317 88 SK2 2,229 -3.17%

89 SK3 1,901 90 SK3 2,082 89 SK3 2,173 14.31%

90 SK4 1,207 91 SK4 1,194 90 SK4 1,385 14.75%

91 SK4 1,248 92 SK4 1,269 91 SK4 1,345 7.77%

92 SP1 1,436 93 SP1 1,434 92 SP1 1,586 10.45%

93 SP2 1,379 94 SP2 1,455 93 SP2 1,571 13.92%

94 SP2 1,337 95 SP2 1,381 94 SP2 1,395 4.34%

95 SP3 1,998 96 SP3 2,127 95 SP3 2,272 13.71%

96 SP4 1,839 97 SP4 1,893 96 SP4 2,030 10.39%

97 SP4 1,712 98 SP4 1,759 97 SP4 1,964 14.72%

98 SP5 1,381 99 SP5 1,457 98 SP5 1,470 6.44%

99 SP5 1,312 100 SP5 1,294 99 SP5 1,447 10.29%

100 WE1 2,290 101 WE1 2,418 100 WE1 2,604 13.71% 101 WE1 2630 1.00%

101 WE2 1,822 102 WE2 1,818 101 WE2 2,055 12.79% 102 WE2 2067 0.58%

102 WE2 1,773 103 WE2 1,899 102 WE2 1,940 9.42% 103 WE2 1949 0.46%

103 WE3 2,235 104 WE3 2,293 103 WE3 2,664 19.19% 104 WE3 2695 1.16%

104 WH1 1,651 105 WH1 1,868 104 WH1 2,001 21.20%

105 WH2 1,726 106 WH2 1,803 105 WH2 1,954 13.21%

106 WH3 1,518 107 WH3 1,403 106 WH3 1,725 13.64%

107 WH3 1,189 108 WH3 1,346 107 WH3 1,332 12.03%

108 WH4 1,493 109 WH4 1,671 108 WH4 2,139 43.27%
109 WH4P 1,923 110 WH4P 1,995 109 WH4P 2,324 20.85%

174,126 180,098 202,026

P
age 59



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Parl 2019 Review 2019/20 Governance Referendum & GLA 2021 Isle of Dogs 2021 Weavers Ward 2021

Reference District(s) Polling Place Elector Count Reference District(s) Polling Place Reference District(s) Polling Place Elector Count Reference District(s) Polling Place Elector Count Reference District(s) Polling Place Elector Count

1 BC1 Portakabin by East India DLR Station, Blackwall Way, E14 9PS 1257 1 BC1 Portakabin by East India DLR Station, Blackwall Way, E14 9PS 1 BC1 The Town Hall, Mulberry Place, 5 Clove Crescent, E14 2BG 1716

2 BC1 Portakabin by East India DLR Station, Blackwall Way, E14 9PS 1240 2 BC1 Portakabin by East India DLR Station, Blackwall Way, E14 9PS 2 BC1 The Town Hall, Mulberry Place, 5 Clove Crescent, E14 2BG 1587

3 BC2 Radisson Blu Edwardian Hotel, New Providence Wharf, 5 Fairmont Avenue, E14 9JB 2547 3 BC2 Radisson Blu Edwardian Hotel, New Providence Wharf, 5 Fairmont Avenue, E14 9JB 3 BC2 Radisson Blu Edwardian Hotel, New Providence Wharf, 5 Fairmont Avenue, E14 9JB 3249

4 BC3 The Gallery, Jack Dash House, 2 Lawn House Close, E14 9YQ 2026 4 BC3 The Gallery, Jack Dash House, 2 Lawn House Close, E14 9YQ 4 BC3 Jack Dash House, 2 Lawn House Close, E14 9YQ 2519 4 BC3 Jack Dash House, 2 Lawn House Close, E14 9YQ 2476

5 BC4 Cubitt Town Infants School, Manchester Road, E14 3NE 1645 5 BC4 Cubitt Town Infants School, Manchester Road, E14 3NE 5 BC4 Cubitt Town Infants School, Manchester Road, E14 3NE 2069 5 BC4 Cubitt Town Infants School, Manchester Road, E14 3NE 2060

6 BC4 Cubitt Town Infants School, Manchester Road, E14 3NE 1731 6 BC4 Cubitt Town Infants School, Manchester Road, E14 3NE 6 BC4 Cubitt Town Infants School, Manchester Road, E14 3NE 2042 6 BC4 Cubitt Town Infants School, Manchester Road, E14 3NE 2041

7 BE1 Francis Lee Community Centre, Clare House, 10 Hawthorn Avenue, E3 5PY 2235 7 BE1 Francis Lee Community Centre, Clare House, 10 Hawthorn Avenue, E3 5PY 7 BE1 Francis Lee Community Centre, Clare House, 10 Hawthorn Avenue, E3 5PY 2302

8 BE2 Stour Space Exhibition Area, 7 Roach Road, E3 2PA 1687 8 BE2 Stour Space Exhibition Area, 7 Roach Road, E3 2PA 8 BE2 H. Forman & Son, Floor 1, Stour Road, E3 2NT 2232

9 BE3 Eastside Youth Centre, 6 Parnell Road, E3 2RB 1669 9 BE3 Eastside Youth Centre, 6 Parnell Road, E3 2RB 9 BE3 Eastside Youth Centre, 6 Parnell Road, E3 2RB 1754

10 BE3 Eastside Youth Centre, 6 Parnell Road, E3 2RB 1512 10 BE3 Eastside Youth Centre, 6 Parnell Road, E3 2RB 10 BE3 Eastside Youth Centre, 6 Parnell Road, E3 2RB 1606

11 BE4 Tredegar Centre, 333 Morville Street, E3 2DZ 1707 11 BE4 Tredegar Centre, 333 Morville Street, E3 2DZ 11 BE4 Tredegar Centre, 333 Morville Street, E3 2DZ 1855

12 BE4 Tredegar Centre, 333 Morville Street, E3 2DZ 1469 12 BE4 Tredegar Centre, 333 Morville Street, E3 2DZ 12 BE4 Tredegar Centre, 333 Morville Street, E3 2DZ 1621

13 BE5 Our Lady and St Catherine of Siena Parish Hall, 179A Bow Road, E3 2SG 1559 13 BE5 Our Lady and St Catherine of Siena Parish Hall, 179A Bow Road, E3 2SG 13 BE5 Our Lady and St Catherine of Siena Parish Hall, 179A Bow Road, E3 2SG 1267

14 BE5 Our Lady and St Catherine of Siena Parish Hall, 179A Bow Road, E3 2SG 940 14 BE5 Our Lady and St Catherine of Siena Parish Hall, 179A Bow Road, E3 2SG 14 BE5 Our Lady and St Catherine of Siena Parish Hall, 179A Bow Road, E3 2SG 1385

15 BG1 St James the Less Church Hall, St James's Avenue, E2 9JD 1869 15 BG1 St James the Less Church Hall, St James's Avenue, E2 9JD 15 BG1 St James the Less Church Hall, St James's Avenue, E2 9JD 1973

16 BG2 Bonner Primary School (Bethnal Green), Stainsbury Street, E2 0NF 1404 16 BG2 Bonner Primary School (Bethnal Green), Stainsbury Street, E2 0NF 16 BG2 Bonner Primary School (Bethnal Green), Stainsbury Street, E2 0NF 1471

17 BG2 Bonner Primary School (Bethnal Green), Stainsbury Street, E2 0NF 1317 17 BG2 Bonner Primary School (Bethnal Green), Stainsbury Street, E2 0NF 17 BG2 Bonner Primary School (Bethnal Green), Stainsbury Street, E2 0NF 1357

18 BG3 The Tramshed, Digby Street, E2 0LS 2273 18 BG3 The Tramshed, Digby Street, E2 0LS 18 BG3 The Tramshed, Digby Street, E2 0LS 1542

19 BG3 The Tramshed, Digby Street, E2 0LS 821 19 BG3 The Tramshed, Digby Street, E2 0LS 19 BG3 The Tramshed, Digby Street, E2 0LS 1832

20 BG4 John Scurr Primary School, Cephas Street, E1 4AX 1620 20 BG4 John Scurr Primary School, Cephas Street, E1 4AX 20 BG4 John Scurr Primary School, Cephas Street, E1 4AX 1843

21 BG4 John Scurr Primary School, Cephas Street, E1 4AX 1485 21 BG4 John Scurr Primary School, Cephas Street, E1 4AX 21 BG4 John Scurr Primary School, Cephas Street, E1 4AX 1514

22 BG5 London East Alternative Provision, Harpley Centre, 21 Tollet Street, E1 4EE 2283 22 BG5 London East Alternative Provision, Harpley Centre, 21 Tollet Street, E1 4EE 22 BG5 London East Alternative Provision, Harpley Centre, 21 Tollet Street, E1 4EE 2126

23 BN1 Wellington Primary School, Wellington Way, E3 4NE 2073 23 BN1 Wellington Primary School, Wellington Way, E3 4NE 23 BN1 Wellington Primary School, Wellington Way, E3 4NE 2334

24 BN2 Bow Cross Community Centre, 2A Rainhill Way, E3 3EY 2276 24 BN2 Bow Cross Community Centre, 2A Rainhill Way, E3 3EY 24 BN2 Bow Cross Community Centre, 2A Rainhill Way, E3 3EY 2461

25 BN3 The Barn, Bromley By Bow Centre, St Leonard's Street, E3 3BT 1563 25 BN3 The Barn, Bromley By Bow Centre, St Leonard's Street, E3 3BT 25 BN3 The Barn, Bromley By Bow Centre, St Leonard's Street, E3 3BT 1774

26 BN3 The Barn, Bromley By Bow Centre, St Leonard's Street, E3 3BT 1132 26 BN3 The Barn, Bromley By Bow Centre, St Leonard's Street, E3 3BT 26 BN3 The Barn, Bromley By Bow Centre, St Leonard's Street, E3 3BT 1323

27 BS1 Clara Grant Primary School, Knapp Road, E3 4BU 1335 27 BS1 Clara Grant Primary School, Knapp Road, E3 4BU 27 BS1 Clara Grant Primary School, Knapp Road, E3 4BU 1491

28 BS1 Clara Grant Primary School, Knapp Road, E3 4BU 1142 28 BS1 Clara Grant Primary School, Knapp Road, E3 4BU 28 BS1 Clara Grant Primary School, Knapp Road, E3 4BU 1221

29 BS2 The Lighthouse Baptist Church Hall, 135 Devons Road, E3 3QX 1677 29 BS2 The Lighthouse Baptist Church Hall, 135 Devons Road, E3 3QX 29 BS2 The Lighthouse Baptist Church Hall, 135 Devons Road, E3 3QX 1892

30 BS2 The Lighthouse Baptist Church Hall, 135 Devons Road, E3 3QX 1526 30 BS2 The Lighthouse Baptist Church Hall, 135 Devons Road, E3 3QX 30 BS2 The Lighthouse Baptist Church Hall, 135 Devons Road, E3 3QX 1849

31 BS3 Marner Children's Centre, Devas Street, E3 3LL 1269 31 BS3 Marner Children's Centre, Devas Street, E3 3LL 31 BS3 Marner Children's Centre, Devas Street, E3 3LL 1403

32 BS3 Marner Children's Centre, Devas Street, E3 3LL 1105 32 BS3 Marner Children's Centre, Devas Street, E3 3LL 32 BS3 Marner Children's Centre, Devas Street, E3 3LL 1228

33 BW1 Chisenhale Primary School, Chisenhale Road, E3 5QY 1646 33 BW1 Chisenhale Primary School, Chisenhale Road, E3 5QY 33 BW1 Chisenhale Primary School, Chisenhale Road, E3 5QY 1699

34 BW1 Chisenhale Primary School, Chisenhale Road, E3 5QY 1455 34 BW1 Chisenhale Primary School, Chisenhale Road, E3 5QY 34 BW1 Chisenhale Primary School, Chisenhale Road, E3 5QY 1482

35 BW2 Olga Primary School, Lanfranc Road, E3 5DN 1335 35 BW2 Olga Primary School, Lanfranc Road, E3 5DN 35 BW2 Olga Primary School, Lanfranc Road, E3 5DN 1393

36 BW2 Olga Primary School, Lanfranc Road, E3 5DN 1280 36 BW2 Olga Primary School, Lanfranc Road, E3 5DN 36 BW2 Olga Primary School, Lanfranc Road, E3 5DN 1266

37 BW3 Epainos Ministries (New Testament Church of God), Lichfield Road, E3 5AT 1433 37 BW3 Gateway Housing Association, 409-413 Mile End Road, E3 4PB 37 BW3 Gateway Housing Association, 409-413 Mile End Road, E3 4PB 1392

38 BW4 Malmesbury Primary School, Coborn Street, E3 2AB 1875 38 BW4 Malmesbury Primary School, Coborn Street, E3 2AB 38 BW4 Malmesbury Primary School, Coborn Street, E3 2AB 1988

39 CW1 London Marriott Hotel Canary Wharf, 22 Hertsmere Road, Canary Wharf, E14 4ED 2044 39 CW1 To use a portacabin near the Tesco Express on Westferry Road/Cuba Street. 39 CW1 London Marriott Hotel, 22 Hertsmere Road, Canary Wharf, E14 4ED 2502 39 CW1 London Marriott Hotel Canary Wharf, 22 Hertsmere Road, Canary Wharf, E14 4ED 1729

40 CW2 Seven Mills Primary School, Malabar Street, E14 8LY 1369 40 CW2 Arnhem Wharf Primary School 40 CW2 Arnhem Wharf Primary School, 1 Arnhem Place, E14 3RP 1446 40 CW2 Arnhem Wharf Primary School, 1 Arnhem Place, E14 3RP 1445

41 CW2 Seven Mills Primary School, Malabar Street, E14 8LY 1377 40 CW2 Single Station Single Station Single Station Single Station Single Station

42 CW3 Docklands Community Organisation, 111-113 Mellish Street, E14 8PJ 1684 41 CW3 Seven Mills Primary School, Malabar Street, E14 8LY 41 CW3 Seven Mills Primary School, Malabar Street, E14 8LY 3243 41 CW3 Seven Mills Primary School, Malabar Street, E14 8LY 3233

43 CW3 Docklands Community Organisation, 111-113 Mellish Street, E14 8PJ 1645 42 CW3 Seven Mills Primary School, Malabar Street, E14 8LY 42 CW3 Seven Mills Primary School, Malabar Street, E14 8LY 3136 42 CW3 Seven Mills Primary School, Malabar Street, E14 8LY 3131

44 IG1 St Edmund's RC Primary School, 299 Westferry Road, E14 3RS 1708 44 IG1 St Edmund's RC Primary School, 299 Westferry Road, E14 3RS 43 IG1 St Edmund's RC Primary School, 299 Westferry Road, E14 3RS 2000 43 IG1 St Edmund's RC Primary School, 299 Westferry Road, E14 3RS 2000

45 IG1 St Edmund's RC Primary School, 299 Westferry Road, E14 3RS 1327 45 IG1 St Edmund's RC Primary School, 299 Westferry Road, E14 3RS 44 IG1 St Edmund's RC Primary School, 299 Westferry Road, E14 3RS 1726 44 IG1 St Edmund's RC Primary School, 299 Westferry Road, E14 3RS 1726

46 IG2 Harbinger Primary School, Cahir Street, E14 3QP 1629 46 IG2 Harbinger Primary School, Cahir Street, E14 3QP 45 IG2 Harbinger Primary School, Cahir Street, E14 3QP 1882 45 IG2 Harbinger Primary School, Cahir Street, E14 3QP 1881

47 IG2 Harbinger Primary School, Cahir Street, E14 3QP 1437 47 IG2 Harbinger Primary School, Cahir Street, E14 3QP 46 IG2 Harbinger Primary School, Cahir Street, E14 3QP 1688 46 IG2 Harbinger Primary School, Cahir Street, E14 3QP 1686

48 IG3 St Luke`s CE Primary School, Saunders Ness Road, E14 3EB 2164 48 IG3 St Luke`s CE Primary School, Saunders Ness Road, E14 3EB 47 IG3 St Luke`s CE Primary School, Saunders Ness Road, E14 3EB 2479 47 IG3 St Luke`s CE Primary School, Saunders Ness Road, E14 3EB 2474

49 LA1 St Saviour's CE Primary School, Chrisp Street, E14 6BB 1408 49 LA1 St Saviour's CE Primary School, Chrisp Street, E14 6BB 48 LA1 St Saviour's CE Primary School, Chrisp Street, E14 6BB 1719

50 LA1 St Saviour's CE Primary School, Chrisp Street, E14 6BB 1490 50 LA1 St Saviour's CE Primary School, Chrisp Street, E14 6BB 49 LA1 St Saviour's CE Primary School, Chrisp Street, E14 6BB 1725

51 LA2 Bygrove Primary School, Bygrove Street, E14 6DN 2176 51 LA2 Bygrove Primary School, Bygrove Street, E14 6DN 50 LA2 Bygrove Primary School, Bygrove Street, E14 6DN 2463

52 LA3 Burcham Street Centre, 96 Burcham Street, E14 0SH 1682 52 LA3 Burcham Street Centre, 96 Burcham Street, E14 0SH 51 LA3 Burcham Street Centre, 96 Burcham Street, E14 0SH 1939

53 LA4 Culloden Primary School - A Paradigm Academy, Dee Street, E14 0PT 1743 53 LA4 Culloden Primary School - A Paradigm Academy, Dee Street, E14 0PT 52 LA4 Culloden Primary School - A Paradigm Academy, Dee Street, E14 0PT 1605

54 LA4 Culloden Primary School - A Paradigm Academy, Dee Street, E14 0PT 1102 54 LA4 Culloden Primary School - A Paradigm Academy, Dee Street, E14 0PT 53 LA4 Culloden Primary School - A Paradigm Academy, Dee Street, E14 0PT 1767

55 LA5 Teviot Neighbourhood Centre, Wyvis Street, E14 6QD 1974 55 LA5 Teviot Neighbourhood Centre, Wyvis Street, E14 6QD 54 LA5 Teviot Neighbourhood Centre, Wyvis Street, E14 6QD 2186

56 LI1 The Cruising Association, CA House, 1 Northey Street, E14 8BT 2116 56 LI1 The Cruising Association, CA House, 1 Northey Street, E14 8BT 55 LI1 The Cruising Association, CA House, 1 Northey Street, E14 8BT 2387

57 LI2 Cyril Jackson Primary School (North Building), 51 Three Colt Street, E14 8HH 2112 57 LI2 Cyril Jackson Primary School (North Building), 51 Three Colt Street, E14 8HH 56 LI2 Cyril Jackson Primary School (North Building), 51 Three Colt Street, E14 8HH 2347

58 ME1 Bonner Primary School (Mile End), 2c Ropery Street, E3 4QE 2075 58 ME1 Bonner Primary School (Mile End), 2c Ropery Street, E3 4QE 57 ME1 Bonner Primary School (Mile End), 2c Ropery Street, E3 4QE 2162

59 ME2 St Paul with St Luke CE Primary School, Leopold Street, E3 4LA 2765 59 ME2 St Paul with St Luke CE Primary School, Leopold Street, E3 4LA 58 ME2 St Paul with St Luke CE Primary School, Leopold Street, E3 4LA 2971

60 ME3 Locksley Community Centre, Dora Hall, Dora Street, E14 7TP 1352 60 ME3 Locksley Community Centre, Dora Hall, Dora Street, E14 7TP 59 ME3 Locksley Community Centre, Dora Hall, Dora Street, E14 7TP 1603

61 ME3 Locksley Community Centre, Dora Hall, Dora Street, E14 7TP 1407 61 ME3 Locksley Community Centre, Dora Hall, Dora Street, E14 7TP 60 ME3 Locksley Community Centre, Dora Hall, Dora Street, E14 7TP 1613

62 ME4 Stebon Primary School, Burdett Estate, Masjid Lane, E14 7AD 2481 62 ME4 Stebon Primary School, Burdett Estate, Masjid Lane, E14 7AD 61 ME4 Stebon Primary School, Burdett Estate, Masjid Lane, E14 7AD 2881

63 ME5 St Mary and St Joseph RC Church, 9 Pekin Street, E14 6EZ 2186 63 ME5 St Mary and St Joseph RC Church, 9 Pekin Street, E14 6EZ 62 ME5 St Mary and St Joseph RC Church, 9 Pekin Street, E14 6EZ 2536

64 PO1 Our Lady and St Joseph Primary School, Wades Place, E14 0DE 1410 64 PO1 Our Lady and St Joseph Primary School, Wades Place, E14 0DE 63 PO1 Our Lady and St Joseph Primary School, Wades Place, E14 0DE 1610

65 PO1 Our Lady and St Joseph Primary School, Wades Place, E14 0DE 1301 65 PO1 Our Lady and St Joseph Primary School, Wades Place, E14 0DE 64 PO1 Our Lady and St Joseph Primary School, Wades Place, E14 0DE 1447

66 PO2 Woolmore Primary School, Woolmore Street, E14 0EW 1450 66 PO2 Woolmore Primary School, Woolmore Street, E14 0EW 65 PO2 Woolmore Primary School, Woolmore Street, E14 0EW 1791

67 SB1 Christ Church CE Primary School, 47A Brick Lane, E1 6PU 1926 67 SB1 Toynbee Hall, 28 Commercial Street, E1 6LS 66 SB1 Toynbee Hall, 28 Commercial Street, E1 6LS 2766

68 SB2 Canon Barnett Primary School, Gunthorpe Street, E1 7RQ 2311 68 SB2 St Anne's Catholic Primary School, Underwood Road, E1 5AW 67 SB2 St Anne`s & Guardian Angels Catholic Primary Sch, Underwood Road, E1 5AW 1062

69 SB3 St Anne's Catholic Primary School, Underwood Road, E1 5AW 1348 69 SB2 St Anne's Catholic Primary School, Underwood Road, E1 5AW 68 SB2 St Anne`s & Guardian Angels Catholic Primary Sch, Underwood Road, E1 5AW 915

70 SB3 St Anne's Catholic Primary School, Underwood Road, E1 5AW 1032 70 SB3 Brady Arts and Community Centre, 192-196 Hanbury Street, E1 5HU 69 SB3 Brady Arts and Community Centre, 192-196 Hanbury Street, E1 5HU 2633

71 SB4 Selby Street Community Centre, Selby Street, E1 5DF 1222 71 SB4 Selby Street Community Centre, Selby Street, E1 5DF 70 SB4 Selby Street Community Centre, Selby Street, E1 5DF 1416

72 SD1 Latimer Congregational Church Hall, Ernest Street, E1 4LS 1744 72 SD1 Latimer Congregational Church Hall, Ernest Street, E1 4LS 71 SD1 Latimer Congregational Church Hall, Ernest Street, E1 4LS 1871

73 SD2 Alice Model Nursery School, 14 Beaumont Grove, E1 4NQ 1715 73 SD2 Alice Model Nursery School, 14 Beaumont Grove, E1 4NQ 72 SD2 Alice Model Nursery School, 14 Beaumont Grove, E1 4NQ 1930

74 SD3 Ben Jonson Primary School, Harford Street, E1 4PZ 1652 74 SD3 Ben Jonson Primary School, Harford Street, E1 4PZ 73 SD3 Ben Jonson Primary School, Harford Street, E1 4PZ 1736

75 SD4 Cayley Primary School, Aston Street, E14 7NG 1679 75 SD4 Cayley Primary School, Aston Street, E14 7NG 74 SD4 Cayley Primary School, Aston Street, E14 7NG 1877

76 SD4 Cayley Primary School, Aston Street, E14 7NG 1699 76 SD4 Cayley Primary School, Aston Street, E14 7NG 75 SD4 Cayley Primary School, Aston Street, E14 7NG 1808

77 SG1 Smithy Street Primary School, Smithy Street, E1 3BW 1476 77 SG1 Smithy Street Primary School, Smithy Street, E1 3BW 76 SG1 Stepney Park Primary School, Smithy Street, E1 3BW 1583

78 SG1 Smithy Street Primary School, Smithy Street, E1 3BW 1478 78 SG1 Smithy Street Primary School, Smithy Street, E1 3BW 77 SG1 Stepney Park Primary School, Smithy Street, E1 3BW 1563

79 SG2 Exmouth Hall, Brayford Square, E1 0SG 1092 79 SG2 Exmouth Hall, Brayford Square, E1 0SG 78 SG2 Exmouth Hall, Brayford Square, E1 0SG 1233

80 SG2 Exmouth Hall, Brayford Square, E1 0SG 1073 80 SG2 Exmouth Hall, Brayford Square, E1 0SG 79 SG2 Exmouth Hall, Brayford Square, E1 0SG 1167

81 SG3 Marion Richardson Primary School, Senrab Street, E1 0QF 1359 81 SG3 Marion Richardson Primary School, Senrab Street, E1 0QF 80 SG3 Marion Richardson Primary School, Senrab Street, E1 0QF 1459

82 SG3 Marion Richardson Primary School, Senrab Street, E1 0QF 1263 82 SG3 Marion Richardson Primary School, Senrab Street, E1 0QF 81 SG3 Marion Richardson Primary School, Senrab Street, E1 0QF 1304

83 SH1 Bigland Green Primary School, Bigland Street, E1 2ND 1474 83 SH1 Bigland Green Primary School, Bigland Street, E1 2ND 82 SH1 Bigland Green Primary School, Bigland Street, E1 2ND 1548

84 SH1 Bigland Green Primary School, Bigland Street, E1 2ND 1382 84 SH1 Bigland Green Primary School, Bigland Street, E1 2ND 83 SH1 Bigland Green Primary School, Bigland Street, E1 2ND 1546

85 SH2 Blue Gate Fields Junior School, King David Lane, E1 0EH 1575 85 SH2 Blue Gate Fields Junior School, King David Lane, E1 0EH 84 SH2 Blue Gate Fields Junior School, King David Lane, E1 0EH 1735

86 SH2 Blue Gate Fields Junior School, King David Lane, E1 0EH 1544 86 SH2 Blue Gate Fields Junior School, King David Lane, E1 0EH 85 SH2 Blue Gate Fields Junior School, King David Lane, E1 0EH 1707

87 SH3 Ogilvie Community Hall, Ogilvie House, Stepney Causeway, E1 0JP 1831 87 SH3 Ogilvie Community Hall, Ogilvie House, Stepney Causeway, E1 0JP 86 SH3 Ogilvie Community Hall, Ogilvie House, Stepney Causeway, E1 0JP 1996

88 SK1 St Paul`s Shadwell, 302 The Highway, E1W 3DH 1015 88 SK1 St Paul`s Shadwell, 302 The Highway, E1W 3DH 87 SK1 St Paul`s Shadwell, 302 The Highway, E1W 3DH 1654

89 SK2 St Peter's London Docks Primary School, Garnet Street, E1W 3QT 2317 89 SK2 St Peter's London Docks Primary School, Garnet Street, E1W 3QT 88 SK2 St Peter's London Docks Primary School, Garnet Street, E1W 3QT 2229

90 SK3 John Orwell Sports Centre, Tench Street, E1W 2QD 2082 90 SK3 John Orwell Sports Centre, Tench Street, E1W 2QD 89 SK3 John Orwell Sports Centre, Tench Street, E1W 2QD 2173

91 SK4 Hermitage Primary School, Vaughan Way, E1W 2PT 1194 91 SK4 Hermitage Primary School, Vaughan Way, E1W 2PT 90 SK4 Hermitage Primary School, Vaughan Way, E1W 2PT 1385

92 SK4 Hermitage Primary School, Vaughan Way, E1W 2PT 1269 92 SK4 Hermitage Primary School, Vaughan Way, E1W 2PT 91 SK4 Hermitage Primary School, Vaughan Way, E1W 2PT 1345

93 SP1 Pritchard's Road Day Centre, Marian Place, E2 9AX 1434 93 SP1 Pritchard's Road Day Centre, Marian Place, E2 9AX 92 SP1 Pritchard's Road Day Centre, Marian Place, E2 9AX 1586

94 SP2 Zander Court Club Room, 50 Zander Court, E2 7AY 1455 94 SP2 Zander Court Club Room, 50 Zander Court, E2 7AY 93 SP2 Zander Court Club Room, 50 Zander Court, E2 7AY 1571

95 SP2 Zander Court Club Room, 50 Zander Court, E2 7AY 1381 95 SP2 Zander Court Club Room, 50 Zander Court, E2 7AY 94 SP2 Zander Court Club Room, 50 Zander Court, E2 7AY 1395

96 SP3 Lawdale Junior School, Mansford Street, E2 6LS 2127 96 SP3 Lawdale Junior School, Mansford Street, E2 6LS 95 SP3 Lawdale Junior School, Mansford Street, E2 6LS 2272

97 SP4 Hague Primary School, Wilmot Street, E2 0BP 1893 97 SP4 Hague Primary School, Wilmot Street, E2 0BP 96 SP4 Hague Primary School, Wilmot Street, E2 0BP 2030

98 SP4 Hague Primary School, Wilmot Street, E2 0BP 1759 98 SP4 Hague Primary School, Wilmot Street, E2 0BP 97 SP4 Hague Primary School, Wilmot Street, E2 0BP 1964

99 SP5 Mowlem Primary School, Mowlem Street, E2 9HE 1457 99 SP5 Mowlem Primary School, Mowlem Street, E2 9HE 98 SP5 Mowlem Primary School, Mowlem Street, E2 9HE 1470

100 SP5 Mowlem Primary School, Mowlem Street, E2 9HE 1294 100 SP5 Mowlem Primary School, Mowlem Street, E2 9HE 99 SP5 Mowlem Primary School, Mowlem Street, E2 9HE 1447

101 WE1 Virginia Primary School, Virginia Road, E2 7NQ 2418 101 WE1 Virginia Primary School, Virginia Road, E2 7NQ 100 WE1 Virginia Primary School, Virginia Road, E2 7NQ 2604 101 WE1 Virginia Primary School, Virginia Road, E2 7NQ 2630

102 WE2 Columbia Primary School, Columbia Road, E2 7RG 1818 102 WE2 Columbia Primary School, Columbia Road, E2 7RG 101 WE2 Columbia Primary School, Columbia Road, E2 7RG 2055 102 WE2 Sundial Community Centre, 11 Shipton Street, E2 7RU 2067

103 WE2 Columbia Primary School, Columbia Road, E2 7RG 1899 103 WE2 Columbia Primary School, Columbia Road, E2 7RG 102 WE2 Columbia Primary School, Columbia Road, E2 7RG 1940 103 WE2 Sundial Community Centre, 11 Shipton Street, E2 7RU 1949

104 WE3 St Matthias Primary School, Bacon Street, E2 6DY 2293 104 WE3 St Matthias Primary School, Bacon Street, E2 6DY 103 WE3 St Matthias Primary School, Bacon Street, E2 6DY 2664 104 WE3 St Matthias Primary School, Bacon Street, E2 6DY 2695

105 WH1 Kobi Nazrul Primary School, Settles Street, E1 1JP 1868 105 WH1 Kobi Nazrul Primary School, Settles Street, E1 1JP 104 WH1 Kobi Nazrul Primary School, Settles Street, E1 1JP 2001

106 WH2 John Smith Sure Start Children`s Centre, 90 Stepney Way, E1 2EN 1803 106 WH2 John Smith Sure Start Children`s Centre, 90 Stepney Way, E1 2EN 105 WH2 John Smith Sure Start Children`s Centre, 90 Stepney Way, E1 2EN 1954

107 WH3 Harry Gosling Primary School, Fairclough Street, E1 1NT 1403 107 WH3 Harry Gosling Primary School, Fairclough Street, E1 1NT 106 WH3 Harry Gosling Primary School, Fairclough Street, E1 1NT 1725

108 WH3 Harry Gosling Primary School, Fairclough Street, E1 1NT 1346 108 WH3 Harry Gosling Primary School, Fairclough Street, E1 1NT 107 WH3 Harry Gosling Primary School, Fairclough Street, E1 1NT 1332

109 WH4 English Martyrs Catholic Primary School, St Mark Street, E1 8DJ 1671 109 WH4 English Martyrs Catholic Primary School, St Mark Street, E1 8DJ 108 WH4 English Martyrs Catholic Primary School, St Mark Street, E1 8DJ 2139

110 WH4P Shapla Primary School, Wellclose Square, E1 8HY 1995 110 WH4P Shapla Primary School, Wellclose Square, E1 8HY 109 WH4P Shapla Primary School, Wellclose Square, E1 8HY 2324

P
age 61



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Non-Executive Report of the: 

 
 

General Purposes Committee 

5 October 2021 

 
Report of: Amanda Harcus, Divisional Director HR & OD 
 

Classification: 
Internal 

Title: Dismissal Appeals Panel – Process and Guidance 

 
 

Originating Officer(s) Pat Chen, Head of HR 

Wards affected  

 

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 
1.1 GPC previously considered a report on alternative models for an Employee Appeals 

Sub-Committee on 24 June 2021.  
  

1.2 Approval was given to discontinue the Employee Appeals Sub-Committee and to 
replace it with a Dismissal Appeals Panel that will be chaired by a Corporate Director.   
 

1.3 This update report sets out the composition, process and guidance for the operation 
of the Dismissal Appeals Panel.  

 
 
 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
The General Purposes Committee is recommended to:  
 
2.1 Agree to the revisions to the constitution to reflect the revised arrangements for 

appeals against dismissal, as set out in the report to GPC on 24 June 2021. 
 
2.2 Agree that amendments be made to the relevant policies and procedures to reflect the 

changes to the appeals process for dismissals. 
 

2.3 Agree that the new arrangements will be implemented with effect from 1 November 
2021. 

 
 

 
3. REASONS FOR THE DECISIONS 
 
3.1   In order to make the necessary changes to the Constitution, policies and procedures 

and to implement the revised arrangements for appeals against dismissal. 

 

 

 

Page 63

Agenda Item 4.4



 
4. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS 

 
4.1 N/A 

 

 
 
5. DETAILS OF THE REPORT 

 
5.1 The revised Dismissal Appeals process and guidance is attached at Appendix 1.  

 
  
6. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 
 
6.1 There are no equalities implications arising from this proposal.  An equality analysis 

of any revisions to relevant policy and procedures will be carried out separately. 
 

 
7. OTHER STATUTORY IMPLICATIONS 
 
7.1 NONE 
 
8. COMMENTS OF THE CHIEF FINANCE OFFICER 
 
8.1 There are no direct financial implications arising from this report.  
 
9. COMMENTS OF LEGAL SERVICES  
 
9.1 There is no legal requirement for appeals to be heard by members, good practice 

requires that appeal hearings should be chaired by an officer of greater or equivalent 
seniority to the chair of the original panel who made the decision to dismiss to limit 
the risk of a challenge for procedural unfairness in any potential legal claims which 
might be brought by the employee. 

 
 
 

____________________________________ 
 
 
Linked Reports, Appendices and Background Documents 
 
Linked Report 

* NONE 
 
Appendices 

* Appendix 1 – Dismissal Appeals Process and Guidance 
 

 

 
  

Page 64



 
 
 
 

Appendix 1 
 
 
 
 
 

Human Resources and 
Organisational Development  
 
Dismissal Appeals  
Process and Guidance 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

Implemented: 1 November 2021 

Page 65



 

Dismissal Appeals – Process and Guidance 
 

 

1. Introduction and Principles 

 
 

1.1 The Council’s Disciplinary Policy, Attendance Management, Standards for 
Managing Employee Performance, Redeployment and Redundancy 
procedures provide an appeal in cases of dismissal.   

 
1.2 An appeal hearing is to review the decision to dismiss; rather than hold a re-

hearing of the case. 
 
1.3 Appeals will be heard by a Dismissal Appeal Panel.  The Panel will consider 

the grounds of appeal and decide if the decision to dismiss was fair and 
reasonable.  

 
1.4 The composition of the Panel and the procedural arrangements are set out 

below. 
 
1.5 Appeals against dismissal will normally be heard within 20 working days of 

the appeal being received. 
 

1.6 The circulation of appeal documents and notice of the date of the appeal will 
be at least five working days’ before the appeal hearing.  

 
 

2. The Appeal Panel 
 
2.1 The panel will consist of 2 Senior Managers (1 Corporate Director and 1 

Director or Head of Service) and 1 Elected Member.  The Member will be 
selected from any Member or Substitute of the General Purposes 
Committee.  

 
2.2 An HR adviser and a legal adviser will also be in attendance. 
 
2.3 Panel members and advisers will have had no previous involvement in the 

case. 
  
2.4 A Corporate Director will Chair the appeal panel and is the final decision 

maker, after considering the views of other members of the panel.  There 
should be majority agreement, i.e., at least one other panel member agrees 
with the decision of the Chair.   

 
2.5 All panel members will receive training on the appeals process and relevant 

policies and procedures before taking part in any panel. 
 

Page 66



2.6 In the case of a dismissal appeal which gives rise to any issues relating to 
safeguarding of adults or children, panel members will receive specific 
training in safeguarding matters before taking part in any panel. 

 

3. Grounds of Appeal 
 
3.1 The specific grounds on which the decision to dismiss can be appealed are 

set out in each policy.  
 
3.2 The Appeal Panel will consider the following: 
 

THE PROCEDURE: Was the procedure followed correctly, or are 
there any procedural irregularities that may have prejudiced the 
decision.  

 
THE FACTS: Was all the evidence considered when the decision 
was made, or is there new evidence that the panel should consider.  

 
THE DECISION: Was the sanction appropriate and proportionate. 

 

 
4. Procedure 
 
4.1  People in attendance at the meeting 

Panel members 
HR Adviser 
Legal Adviser 
Clerk/Note taker 
Appellant 
Appellant’s representative/companion 
Manager who made the decision to dismiss 
HR Adviser to the dismissing manager 

 
4.2 Right to be accompanied 

Appellants have the right to be accompanied at the meeting by either a trade 
union representative or work place colleague.   

 
4.3 Witnesses and new evidence 
4.3.1 It is not usual for witnesses to appear in person at an appeal hearing, unless 

they have new, relevant information about the procedure or the facts, or 
unless new evidence is being presented.  Often a written statement from a 
witness will be sufficient.   

 
4.3.2 The Appeal Panel will consider the reasonableness of the decision to 

dismiss; it is not a rerun of the original hearing.  It is not necessary to call 
witnesses from the original hearing as their evidence is included in the 
documents considered by the Appeal Panel.   

 
4.3.3 Either side may present witness statements or call witnesses to the hearing 

where appropriate.  

Page 67



 
4.3.4 Additional evidence will only be considered where, had it been available or 

known to the disciplinary panel that made the decision to dismiss, it may 
have influenced or changed that decision.  The Appeal Panel will consider 
the new evidence when deciding if the dismissal was fair and reasonable. 

  
 
4.4 Structure of the meeting 
 The meeting will be conducted as follows:  
 

1.  INTRODUCTION OF PARTIES AND PURPOSE OF THE 
MEETING  

 
2.  APPELLANT’S CASE will be put first using supportive evidence, 

documentation and witnesses. 
 
3.  PANEL MEMBERS HEARING THE APPEAL will ask questions 

and clarify any points of the Appellant’s case, including questions to 
witnesses. 

 
4. THE MANAGER PRESENTING THE CASE may ask points of 

clarification of Appellant or witnesses.   
 

5. APPELLANT WITNESSES LEAVE THE MEETING 
 

6. THE MANAGER presents their case, explaining the reasons for the 
original decision and why this was considered appropriate. 
 

7. PANEL MEMBERS HEARING THE APPEAL may ask questions of 
the manager and clarify any points raised. 

 
8. THE APPELLANT (or representative) may ask points of clarification 

from the manager.  
 
9. APPELLANT’S CONCLUDING REMARKS (if any). 
 
10. MANAGER’S CONCLUDING REMARKS (if any). 
 
11. ADJOURNMENT: The Panel will adjourn to consider presentations 

and documents and reach a decision.  Given the complexity or 
nature of the case, the Panel may require further time before being 
able to reach a decision.  

 
12. OUTCOME: If the Panel can reach a decision within a reasonable 

timescale, they will verbally issue the decision.  The decision will be 
confirmed in writing within 10 working days. If the decision needs 
further consideration, the appellant will be informed that a decision 
will be provided in writing within 10 working days.  If the matter will 
take longer to reach a decision the parties will be notified in writing.  
The Chair is responsible for agreeing the content and signing the 
outcome letter. 

Page 68



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

4.5  Possible Outcomes:  

 The Chair of the Appeal Panel will decide: 

 To uphold the decision to dismiss 

 To reinstate the staff member and substitute the sanction for 
an alternative that is short of dismissal (formal or final written 
warning) 

This decision is the final stage of the Council’s procedure and there is no 
further right of appeal. 

4.6 Reinstatement 

 If a staff member is reinstated on appeal their continuous service is 
not broken and normal pay will be reinstated from the date of the 
dismissal. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
November 2021 
 

Page 69



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Non-Executive Report of the: 

 
 

General Purposes Committee 

5 October 2021 

 
Report of: Director of Workforce, OD & Business 
Support 
 

Classification: 
Unrestricted  

Update on Senior Recruitment, October 2021 
 

 
 

Originating Officer(s) Catriona Hunt, Head of HR  

Wards affected All wards or state wards 

 
 

Executive Summary 

This report updates Members on senior posts and recent recruitment activity.  

 

 
Recommendations: 
 
The General Purposes Committee is recommended to: 
 

1. Note the current position on the recruitment to senior management vacancies 
in the Council structure. 

 
 
1. REASONS FOR THE DECISIONS 
 
1.1  General Purposes Committee has responsibility for the appointment to 

Chief/Deputy Chief Officer posts. It is usual practice for the Committee to 
establish Appointment Sub-Committees to fulfil the recruitment process and  
to receive regular progress reports. 

 
1.3 Section 5.2 of the Officer Employment Procedure Rules says the engagement 

of Chief Officers, to permanent positions or interim positions of over three (3) 
months, will be through the normal recruitment process overseen by the 
General Purposes Committee. 

 
 

2. DETAILS OF THE REPORT 
 

 
 
 

Page 71

Agenda Item 4.5



 

 

2.1  Background 
 

General Purposes Committee received a report in June 2021 which provided 
an update on the recruitment to the posts established in the review of the 
Senior Leadership Team conducted in November and December 2020.  
This report sets out the current status of recruitment to vacant senior roles in 
the corporate structure.   

 
2.2  Senior Management vacancies and progress of recruitment 
 

Detail of the progress on the recruitment to senior roles is set out in the tables 
below. This also includes the interim arrangements.   

 
2.2.1 Posts recruited to since last report  

 
 

 
2.2.
2 
Posts being currently being recruited to, or within the next 3 months 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3.
 
EQU
ALI
TIE
S 
IMP
LIC
ATI
ONS 
 
 The Council is committed to equalities and such considerations will be part of the recruitment process and informs the procurement process. All posts are recruited to on merit. Recruitment to the vacancies has been carried out in accordance with the Council’s procedures. 
 

 
4.
 
OTH
ER 
STA
TUT

Director of Finance (Deputy  
S.151 Officer) (Resources and 
Governance Directorate) 

Nisar Visram starting on 6 October 2021. 
 

Job title and 
directorate 

Current arrangements  Comments 
 

Director Adult 
Social Care 
(Health, Adults and 
Community 
Directorate) 

Interim acting up 
arrangements have been 
put in place, pending 
permanent recruitment to 
the role. 

Advert closed on 1 
September 2021. 
Longlisting on 6 September 
2021, shortlist meeting on 
24 September 2021 and 
final interviews on 1 
October 2021. 

Director of 
Workforce, OD & 
Business Support 
(Resources and 
Governance 
Directorate) 
 

Arrangements have been 
made for an interim to 
provide cover whilst 
permanent recruitment is 
ongoing. 

Advert closed on 12 
September 2021. 
Longlisting on 16 
September, shortlist 
meeting on 30 September 
and final interviews on 21 
October 2021. 

Director of 
Supporting 
Families (Children 
and Culture 
Directorate) 

Temporary arrangements 
are in place. 

Advert closed on 17 
September 2021. 
Longlisting on 23 
September 2021, shortlist 
meeting on 29 September 
2021 and final interviews 
on 11 October 2021 

Corporate Director 
of Resources and 
Governance 
(S.151 Officer) 

Retaining current interim 
arrangements pending 
recommencement of 
recruitment to this role. 
 

Post to be advertised in 
October 2021 with final 
interviews taking place in 
December 2021 

Page 72



 

 

ORY IMPLICATIONS 
 
4.1 This section of the report is used to highlight further specific statutory 

implications that are either not covered in the main body of the report or are 
required to be highlighted to ensure decision makers give them proper 
consideration. Examples of other implications may be: 

 Best Value Implications,  

 Consultations, 

 Environmental (including air quality),  

 Risk Management,  

 Crime Reduction,  

 Safeguarding. 
 
4.2 Recruitment to the senior management structure enables the 

Council to deliver excellent services for residents and deliver the associated 
financial saving. 
 

4.3 Risks associated with recruitment have been mitigated by the engagement of 
specialised recruitment adviser(s). 
 

4.4 There are no other specific implications arising from this report. 
 
 
5. COMMENTS OF THE CHIEF FINANCE OFFICER 
 
5.1  The posts are part of the core management team structure agreed and the 

cost of the posts and recruitment will be funded within existing revenue 
budgets. 

 
 
 
 

6. COMMENTS OF LEGAL SERVICES  
 
6.1  This report provides an update on Chief Officer and Deputy Chief Officer 

Recruitment activity and extensions to interim appointments and there are no 

legal implications in relation to this. 

 

 

 ____________________________________ 

 
 
 
Linked Reports, Appendices and Background Documents 
 
Linked Report 

 none 
 
Appendices 

Page 73



 

 

 
 

Officer contact details for documents: 

 Catriona Hunt 0207 364 4522 

 

Page 74



Non-Executive Report of the: 

 
 

General Purposes Committee 

Tuesday, 5 October 2021 

 
Report of: Janet Fasan, Director of Legal and Monitoring 
Officer 

Classification: 
Open (Unrestricted) 

Calculation of Appointments Sub-Committee Proportionality 

 

Originating Officer(s) Matthew Mannion, Head of Democratic Services 

Wards affected (All Wards); 

 

Executive Summary 

This report follows the 12 August 2021 by-election, election of Councillor Kabir 
Ahmed and the subsequent creation of the new Aspire Group on the Council.  
 
The meeting of Council on 30 September considered a report reviewing the 
proportionality calculations for the Council’s Committees. 
 
Following that review, the General Purposes Committee are asked to consider the 
proportionality implications for its Sub-Committees and agree their arrangements. 

 
 
 
Recommendations: 
 
The General Purposes Committee is recommended to:  
 

1. Agree the amendment to the arrangements for nominating Councillors to 
serve on an Appointment Sub-Committee as set out in Paragraph 3.6 
below. 
 

2. To note that no change is required to the Employee Appeals Sub-
Committee as its membership is drawn from Members of the General 
Purposes Committee which therefore determines the opposition Member 
who can be selected. 

 
 
 
1. REASONS FOR THE DECISIONS 
 
1.1 The Committee is required to review the proportionality of its Sub-Committees 

following a change in the political balance of the authority. 
 
 

Page 75

Agenda Item 4.6



2. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS 

 
2.1 None. 
 
 
3. DETAILS OF THE REPORT 
 
3.1 Following Councillor Kabir Ahmed’s election at a by-election on 12 August 

2021, and the creation of the Aspire Group on the Council, there is a need to 
consider the proportionality calculations of the Council’s Committees and Sub-
Committees. 
 

3.2 Council considered the implications for the Council’s Committees at its 
meeting on 30 September 2021. The General Purposes Committee must now 
do the same for its Sub-Committees. 
 
Appointment Sub-Committee 
 

3.3 This small change in proportionality does not alter the overall proportions on 
the Appointment Sub-Committee which remain at four Members nominated by 
the Labour Group and one Member nominated by an opposition group.  
 

3.4 However, an amendment is required to set out how it should be determined 
which opposition group should be approached to fill the vacancy. 
 

3.5 The proposal is that the opposition groups should take it in turns, rotating the 
slot for each recruitment (note – an appointment lasts for the shortlisting and 
interview phases of a recruitment exercise). 
 

3.6 The proposed amendment to the procedures is set out below with the new 
explanatory text added below 4.2 (a). 

 
Membership  

    
4.2 In accordance with the proportionality rules for all Council 

Committees, it is proposed that the following arrangements, 
should apply; 
 

a) For a Chief Officer (Corporate Director level) and Deputy Chief 
Officer  (Divisional Director level) appointment, the Appointments 
Sub-Committee shall comprise of five Councillors as follows:- 

 Four Members nominated by the Leader of the Labour Group, at 
least one of whom must either be the Mayor or a member of the 
Executive; and 

 One Councillor nominated by the Leader of an Opposition Group*.  
 
*The opposition groups will be offered the nomination in turn 
with the position rotating depending on which group filled 
the place on the last sub-committee to have taken place. 

Page 76



Where one opposition group declines to take up the 
nomination the other group will be offered the place. 
 

b) The Divisional Director, HR (or their respective nominee) to liaise 
with the Mayor and Group Leaders to receive their nominations, in 
accordance with the above allocation of places, and to agree the 
date of the first Sub Committee in each Chief Officer/ Deputy CO 
appointment cycle. 
 

c) The Mayor and political groups are expected to assist in achieving 
a Sub-Committee whose overall composition is diverse in terms of 
gender and ethnicity wherever possible.  In the event that the 
initial nominations do not produce such a Sub-Committee, the 
Divisional Director Legal or the Head of Governance and 
Democratic Services (or their respective nominee) after 
consultation with the Divisional Director HR & Transformation will 
discuss with the respective group leaders and the Mayor options 
for amending one or more of those nominations as necessary to 
achieve sufficient diversity.   
 

d) Members can only sit on an Appointments Sub-Committee if they 
have received training at this Council on recruitment and 
selection. 
 

e) The quorum for the Appointments Sub-Committee shall be at 
least three members. 

 
Employee Appeals Sub-Committee 

 
3.7 The Membership rules of the Employee Appeals Sub-Committee has different 

procedures. These require a panel of three to be selected from the 
membership of the General Purposes Committee. This therefore dictates 
which opposition Member can be selected and so no change is required. 
 

3.8 Note that a new appeals process is due to be implemented from 1 November 
which would mean the current Employee Appeals Sub-Committee will be 
expired. 
 
Conclusion 
 

3.9 The General Purposes Committee are therefore asked to approve the change 
set out above to the Appointment Sub-Committee procedures. To come into 
effect for the first new recruitment process to be identified in a report to this 
meeting or subsequently. 
 

4. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 
 
4.1 None specific to this report. However, the procedures of the Appointment 

Sub-Committee highlights the importance of ensuring a diverse panel of 
Members for the Sub-Committee’s meetings. 

Page 77



 
 
5. OTHER STATUTORY IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1 This section of the report is used to highlight further specific statutory 

implications that are either not covered in the main body of the report or are 
required to be highlighted to ensure decision makers give them proper 
consideration. Examples of other implications may be: 

 Best Value Implications,  

 Consultations, 

 Environmental (including air quality),  

 Risk Management,  

 Crime Reduction,  

 Safeguarding. 

 Data Protection / Privacy Impact Assessment. 
 

 
5.2 None specific to this report. 
 
6. COMMENTS OF THE CHIEF FINANCE OFFICER 
 
6.1 There are no direct financial implications arising from this report. 
 
7. COMMENTS OF LEGAL SERVICES  
 
7.1 The legal considerations are set out in the main body of the report. At the 

Annual Meeting of Council on 19 May 2021, approval was given to the 
Director of Legal & Interim Monitoring Officer to approve appointments of 
Councillors in accordance with recommendation 4.  

____________________________________ 
 
 
Linked Reports, Appendices and Background Documents 
 
Linked Report 

 Report on the Proportionality of the Council – 30 September 2021 (Council 
meeting) 

 
Appendices 

 None. 
 

Local Government Act, 1972 Section 100D (As amended) 
List of “Background Papers” used in the preparation of this report 
List any background documents not already in the public domain including officer 
contact information. 

 None. 
 

Officer contact details for documents: 
N/A 

Page 78



 
 

Page 79



This page is intentionally left blank



Non-Executive Report of the: 

 
 

General Purposes Committee 

Tuesday, 5 October 2021 

 
Report of: Janet Fasan, Director of Legal and Monitoring 
Officer 

Classification: 
Open (Unrestricted) 

Constitution Review 

 
 

Originating Officer(s) Matthew Mannion, Head of Democratic Services 

Wards affected (All Wards); 

 

Executive Summary 

Following the Annual Meeting of Council signing off the Constitution, the General 
Purposes Committee has day-to-day oversight of the document.  
 
This update reports asks the Committee to consider a number of changes to the 
Constitution. The amendments result from a number of different reviews including 
those on the Senior Leadership Review, Employee Appeals and Contracts Forward 
Planning. 
 
Further to the above, a referendum was held in May 2021 which confirmed that the 
Council would continue operating the Mayoral Model of governance for the next ten 
years. Officers have therefore started looking at whether there were any small 
changes to procedures which would help support this model over the next few years. 
Some proposed changes are listed in this report whilst others (if required) will follow 
at a later date. 
 
The Committee are asked to note or approve (as required) the changes set out in 
the appendices to the report but can also determine to forward some or all the 
amendments to Council for decision. 

 
Recommendations: 
 
The General Purposes Committee is recommended to:  
 

1. Consider the changes in Paragraphs 3.3 to 3.14 of the report and set out 
in detail in Appendices 1 – 4 to the report. 
 

2. Agree the changes in Paragraphs 3.3 to 3.13 and as set out in Appendices 
1 – 4 to the report. 

 
3. To note that the new Employee Appeals process agreed by the Committee 

on 24 June 2021 will come into effect from 1 November 2021. 

Page 81

Agenda Item 4.7



 
4. Note the changes in Paragraphs 3.14 and as set out in Appendices 1 – 4 

to the report.  
 
5. Note that the proposed new Member Code of Conduct set out at Appendix 

5 may be submitted to Council on 17 November 2021 for consideration, 
subject to any final comments of the Standards Advisory Committee. 

 
6. To delegate to the Monitoring Officer any consequential changes resulting 

from the above and to reflect any decisions made at the meeting. 
 
1. REASONS FOR THE DECISIONS 
 
1.1 The changes, particularly those relating to the Senior Leadership Review, are 

necessary to keep the Constitution up to date and to ensure efficient and 
effective decision-making procedures are maintained. 
 

1.2 General Purposes Committee is responsible for oversight of the Constitution 
and so the changes are presented here for agreement.  

 
 
2. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS 

 
2.1 None are presented but where the Committee is responsible for agreeing 

changes to the Constitution it can propose alternative actions or not agree the 
amendments set out. 

 
3. DETAILS OF THE REPORT 
 
3.1 Day-to-day oversight of the Council’s Constitution rests with the General 

Purposes Committee. This report proposes a number of updates taking 
account of various reviews that have taken place looking to continue the work 
of strengthening the Council’s governance procedures. Each set of changes 
are described in the paragraphs below and all the changes are then set out as 
track changes to the Constitution document in the four Appendices to the 
report.  
 

3.2 The Committee are asked to consider all the proposed changes. Most are for 
agreement but some can be determined by officers under delegated 
authorities. In those circumstances the Committee are asked to note and 
comment as required. 
 
Changes to Agree 
 
1 - Senior Leadership Review 
 

3.3 The recent Senior Leadership Review amended the Council’s officer 
structure. Changes included a new Corporate Director of Resources and 
Governance (and Chief Finance Officer) with the Director of Legal becoming 
the Monitoring Officer. (Under the Constitution,  many of these changes are 

Page 82



non-material and can be made by the Monitoring Officer under delegated 
authority.) 
 

3.4 This review has required a number of amendments to the Constitution. These 
include: 
 

 Part A – Section 13 (Officers of the Council) – various changes to 
account for the new structure (including updating the organisational 
chart) plus a new paragraph setting out the allocation of the Chief 
Finance Officer and Monitoring Officer roles. 

 Generally in the Constitution - Direct replacement of old job titles with 
the new designations and adjusted lists of functions and 
responsibilities. In addition the title ‘Chief Finance Officer’ is used 
where appropriate instead of a specific Job Title. This is so that there 
will not be a need to make further changes should the Chief Finance 
Officer role be allocated to a different senior manager during a future 
re-organisation.  

 Part D Section 52 – Merging the Governance and Resources Schemes 
of Delegation (see paragraph 3.14 below) 

 Deputy Chief Executive – amendments to set out the role of the new 
Deputy Chief Executive role in terms of decision making and deputising 
for the Chief Executive. 
 

2 - Financial and Procurement Thresholds 
 

3.5 The Council’s Key Decision thresholds were updated in 2019/20 to include a 
new financial threshold of £1 Million for most decisions. At the time not all the 
financial and procurement thresholds were adjusted to bring them into line. 
The appendices set out a number of proposed revisions to bring these 
thresholds into line with the standard Key Decision thresholds. It is considered 
that this will improve the efficiency of the Council’s decision-making processes 
for mid-range decisions. The requirement to publish all officer decisions over 
£250,000 ensures that transparency can be maintained. 

 
3.6 Changes proposed include: 

 

 Part C – Section 36 (Financial Regulations and Procedure Rules)  
o B11 – adjustment of thresholds and clearer guidance on 

decisions valued at between £250,000 and £1 Million. Text has 
also been amended to make it clear that a decision is required 
of the Executive and not a ‘noting report’. 

o C4 – as above 

 Part C – Section 37 (Contracts and Procurement Procedure Rules) 
o Introduction – the new thresholds are set out and clearer 

guidance provided in a number of places in relation to direct 
awards and contract variations. 

o As well as Key Decision thresholds being set out, a number of 
thresholds in Table 1 have been updated (these are externally 
set thresholds which rise regularly with inflation) 

Page 83



o Clearer reiteration of the requirement to publish decisions over 
£250,000 through the officer decisions portal. 

 
 
3 - Changes to the process for appeals against dismissals 
 

3.7 Following the decision at the last General Purposes Committee meeting to 
agree to proposed changes to the Employee Appeals process, a number of 
changes have been set out including: 
 

 Part B – Section 19 (Terms of Reference) – Removal of Employee 
Appeals Sub-Committee (as the new officer led meeting is not a formal 
council committee) and addition to General Purposes Committee 
Terms of Reference to receive update reports on employee dismissals 
and other appeals as appropriate. 

 Part B – Section 23 (Corporate Scheme of Delegation – The Chief 
Executive and CLT) – revised to include reference to the whole 
Corporate Leadership Team and related job description changes. 

 Part B – Section 24 (Functions) – Also revised to reference the full 
Corporate Leadership Team 

 Part C – Section 38 (Officer Employment Procedure Rules) – stating 
that appeals panels include a Member.  

 
4 - Other HR related updates  
 

3.8 A number of HR related amendments including:  

  Officer Employment Procedure Rules (Part C – Section 38) including: 
o Extending the length of interim appointments the Chief 

Executive can make to six months on the basis that all senior 
management recruitment processes take longer than the 
currently allowed three months. 

o Removal of the exemption from the Appointment Sub-
Committee process for Deputy and Chief Officer appointments 
within the Governance Directorate. 

o Clarity on when the Independent dismissal review process 
applies for the Chief Executive, Monitoring Officer and Chief 
Finance Officer. 

o A new requirement for permanent appointments to the 
Monitoring Officer and Chief Finance Officer to be approved by 
Council.  

 
5 - Hybrid meetings and webcasts 
 

3.9 A small addition to the Council procedure rules (Part B Section 26) to allow for 
hybrid meeting arrangements. This also take the opportunity to mention 
webcasts and highlight that meetings can continue even if the webcast fails. 
 
 
 
 

Page 84



6 - General Governance and Procedural updates 
 

3.10 The Appendices also include a number of proposed procedural changes and 
improvements for the Committee to consider. The aim of these is to clarify 
and strengthen some of the procedures related to Council and Executive 
functions. These have been set out following discussions with officers and 
Members. The Committee should consider whether it wishes to agree the 
changes or propose alternatives. 
 

 Mayor’s Executive Scheme of Delegation – making the Council 
Procedure Rules (Part B – Section 26) clearer on the requirement to 
present this at the Annual Meeting of Council and adding a new 
requirement that in-year changes be presented at the next available 
Ordinary meeting of Council for noting (the changes would still come 
into force when they are announced by the Mayor). 

o Note – if the Committee approve this addition it should consider 
where on the Council agenda this should be placed. 

 Questions at Council – re-worded to highlight the priority given to 
verbal answers at the meeting and tried to clarify the wording around 
who answers the questions. 

 Call-Ins – it has been suggested that a report be added to the Council 
agenda setting out for noting any call-ins received by the Executive 
since the last Council meeting. Proposed wording is set out. The 
General Purposes Committee should consider whether it wishes to 
propose Council time is taken up with this business and if so where on 
the agenda it should be placed. 

 Setting out in the Council procedure rules the ability of relevant 
committees (such as Standards Advisory Committee) to present 
reports to Council when required. 

 Note – further clarifications may be introduced to the Executive 
Scheme of Delegation should those prove useful. It is for the Mayor to 
agree any changes to the scheme of delegation.  

 
3.11 Note that a request was also received to add the Mayor as an automatic 

Member of the Audit Committee, however, having taken advice from Internal 
Audit this suggestion has not been taken forward. The Chartered Institute of 
Public Finance and Accounting provides advice that an Elected Mayor (or 
other Council Leader) should not be a Member of the Council’s Audit 
Committee as it would impact on the Committee’s independence.  
 
7 - Member Code of Conduct 
 

3.12 A revised Member Code of Conduct (to replace the existing Part C – Section 
31) is being prepared by the Standards Advisory Committee (SAC). This new 
Code is based on the Model Code of Conduct which was devised by the Local 
Government Association and published in December 2020. Should this new 
Code be agreed at the SAC meeting on 30 September (after this agenda has 
been published) then the new Code of Conduct will be presented to the 
Council meeting on 17 November for consideration. The draft Code is 
presented at Appendix 5 to this report.  

Page 85



 
3.13 Should Council agree the new Code, the next significant area of work for the 

Standards Advisory Committee will be to prepare a new Section 32 (Member 
Officer Relations Protocol) to follow on from the new Code. This will be 
reported to Committee at a later date. 
 
Changes to note 
 

3.14 The following changes are agreed under delegated authorities and are 
presented to the Committee for comment and noting. 
 
8 - Non-Material operational changes 
 

 Throughout the Constitution there are non-material changes relating to 
the senior leadership review and a couple of typographical errors have 
also been corrected. The Monitoring Officer has delegated power to 
approve these changes. 

 
Financial Delegations 
 

 Part D – Section 46 (Corporate Operating Procedures) – Amending a 
number of financial thresholds in line with the above including on 
income, debtors, leases and disposals. The Chief Finance Officer has 
delegated power to approve these changes.  

 
HR related changes 
 

 Part D – Section 46 (Corporate Operating Procedures) – Amendments 
to the levels at which some HR decisions can be taken (generally 
reducing existing threshold levels). The Chief Executive has delegated 
power to approve these changes.  

 
Conclusion 
 

3.15 The General Purposes Committee are asked to consider and comment on the 
changes set out in the report and to approve those changes listed in 
paragraphs 3.3-3.14. 
 
 

4. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 
 
4.1 None specific to this report. However, an effective Constitution is important in 

helping to ensure the Council can operate clear and transparent decision 
making.  

 
 
5. OTHER STATUTORY IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1 This section of the report is used to highlight further specific statutory 

implications that are either not covered in the main body of the report or are 

Page 86



required to be highlighted to ensure decision makers give them proper 
consideration. Examples of other implications may be: 

 Best Value Implications,  

 Consultations, 

 Environmental (including air quality),  

 Risk Management,  

 Crime Reduction,  

 Safeguarding. 

 Data Protection / Privacy Impact Assessment. 
 

 
5.2 There are best value and good governance risks if the Constitution is not kept 

up to date. 
 
6. COMMENTS OF THE CHIEF FINANCE OFFICER 
 
6.1 The proposed changes to the constitution include updates to agreement and 

reporting of financial decisions to ensure transparency and clarity of roles and 
responsibilities.  Other than these changes, there are no direct financial 
implications arising from this report.  

 
7. COMMENTS OF LEGAL SERVICES  
 
7.1 Section 9P of the Local Government Act 2000 (as amended) requires the 

Council to prepare and keep up to date a constitution. 
 

7.2 Under the Council’s Constitution, the General Purposes Committee has 
delegated power to make the amendments referred to in this report.  

____________________________________ 
 
Linked Reports, Appendices and Background Documents 
 
Linked Report 

 Constitution report to the Annual Meeting of Council on 19 May 2021 and 
regular update reports to the General Purposes Committee. 

 
Appendices 

 Appendix 1 – Part A of the Constitution with tracked changes 

 Appendix 2 – Part B of the Constitution with tracked changes (to follow) 

 Appendix 3 – Part C of the Constitution with tracked changes (to follow) 

 Appendix 4 – Part D of Supplementary Documents to the Constitution with 
tracked changes (to follow) 

 Appendix 5 – Draft new Member Code of Conduct 
 

Local Government Act, 1972 Section 100D (As amended) 
List of “Background Papers” used in the preparation of this report 
List any background documents not already in the public domain including officer 
contact information. 

 None. 

Page 87



 
Officer contact details for documents: 
N/A 

Page 88



5 
 

Part A – Summary and Explanation 
 

Contents 
Part A – Summary and Explanation ........................................................................... 5 

1 Introducing the Council’s Constitution .............................................................. 6 

2  How the Council Operates ............................................................................... 7 

3 How Decisions are Made ................................................................................. 9 

4 Citizens’ Rights .............................................................................................. 14 

5 The Speaker of the Council ........................................................................... 17 

6 Members of the Council ................................................................................. 19 

7 Council ........................................................................................................... 22 

8 The Mayor and the Executive ........................................................................ 25 

9 Overview and Scrutiny ................................................................................... 28 

10 Regulatory and Non-Executive Committees .................................................. 31 

11 The Standards Advisory Committee and the Code of Conduct for Members 33 

12 Joint Arrangements and Partnership Working ............................................... 34 

13 Officers of the Council ................................................................................... 37 

14 Finance, Contracts and Legal Matters ........................................................... 39 

15 Suspending, Interpreting and Changing the Constitution and Changes to 

Executive Arrangements ................................................................................ 41 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Version Control for Part A 

 

Dated:  19 May 2021 

Version No.  May 2021 V 2.0 

Document Owner: Matthew Mannion 

Post Holder: Head of Democratic Services 

  

Page 89



6 
 

1 Introducing the Council’s Constitution 
 

1. This Constitution sets out how the Council operates, how decisions are made 

and the procedures which are followed to ensure that these are efficient, 

transparent and accountable to local people.  Some of these processes are 

required by the law, while others are a matter for the Council to determine.   

 

2. The Constitution is divided into four parts: 

 

• Part A – Introduction and Explanations 

• Part B – Responsibility for Functions and Decision-Making Procedures 

• Part C – Codes and Protocols 

• Part D – Supplementary Documents 

 

3. The purpose of the Constitution is to ensure that: 

 

• The Mayor and Council provide clear and accountable leadership to the 

community in partnership with citizens, businesses and other 

organisations; 

• The roles and responsibilities of the executive, non-executive, scrutiny 

and officer functions are clearly defined and documented, with clear 

delegation arrangements; 

• Citizens, businesses and other organisations are actively involved in 

decision making; 

• Citizens are effectively represented by their Mayor and Councillors; 

• The delivery of services to the community is improved; 

• Decisions are taken efficiently, effectively and transparently; 

• Decision-makers are clearly identifiable, that they explain the reasons for 

their decisions and can be held to public account. 

• The highest standards of conduct of Members and officers of the authority 

is maintained and that no one will review or scrutinise a decision in which 

they were directly involved; 

• It provides a comprehensive document explaining how the Council 

operates, who is responsible for taking decisions and how they will be 

taken. 

 

4. The Council will exercise all its powers and duties in accordance with the law 

and this Constitution. 

 

  

  

  

Page 90



7 
 

2  How the Council Operates 
 

1. The Council operates the directly elected Mayoral form of Executive.  The 

Council is composed of a Mayor and forty-five Councillors.  The Mayor is 

directly elected by the electors of the Borough, normally for a four-year term of 

office.  The Mayoral election will be held on the same day as the ordinary 

Council elections, at which Councillors are elected to represent each of the 

Wards within the Borough every four years.  Councillors are democratically 

accountable to residents of their Ward.  The overriding duty of Councillors is 

to the whole community, but they have a special duty to their constituents, 

including those who did not vote for them. 

 

2. The Council may also appoint additional ‘Co-opted’ Members to certain 

Committees and Sub-Committees. Co-optees are people who are chosen to 

represent a specific area of interest or issue of consideration. These 

representatives are not elected members of the Council and are appointed 

because of their level of knowledge and experience. These co-opted 

members make a very useful contribution to discussions and help make the 

correct decisions in relation to important matters. 

  

3. The Mayor, Councillors and Co-optees are together known as ‘Members’ of 

the Authority.  Members have to agree to follow a Code of Conduct to ensure 

high standards in the way they undertake their duties.  The Council’s 

Standards Advisory Committee is responsible for advising Members on the 

Code of Conduct and ensuring that they receive training on the requirements 

of the Code, which they are required to observe in carrying out their duties 

and responsibilities as Members. 

 

4. The Mayor and all Councillors meet together at Council.  Meetings of Council 

are normally open to the public. Here Councillors decide the Council’s overall 

policies and set the budget each year.  Council appoints annually an 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee, Regulatory Committees, a Standards 

Advisory Committee, and other statutory, advisory and consultative bodies.   

 

5. The Mayor appoints a Deputy Mayor and (up to nine) Cabinet Members who 

form the Council’s Executive, they are responsible for most day to day 

decisions.  The Mayor and other Executive Members meet together as the 

‘Cabinet’.  The Mayor is responsible for the Council’s main executive 

decision-making powers and the overall delivery of Council services. 

 

6. The other executive decision-making bodies are: 

 

• the King George’s Field Charity Board to administer the affairs of the King 

George's Field, Mile End charity of which the Council is the sole trustee; 

and 

• the Grants Determination Sub-Committee. 

Page 91



8 
 

 

7. The Executive Scheme of Delegation sets out more detail on the Mayor and 

Executive functions.  

 

8. The Overview and Scrutiny Committee is established to review or scrutinise 

decisions of the Executive and conduct reviews into functions which are the 

responsibility of the Executive.  Section 9 of the Constitution sets out an 

introduction to role of Overview and Scrutiny and links to more detailed 

sections later in the Constitution.  

 

9. The Overview and Scrutiny procedure rules (Part B, Section 30) set out in 

more detail how the Committee and its sub-committees operate. 

 

 

 

  

  

Page 92



9 
 

3 How Decisions are Made 
 

Principles of Decision-Making 

 

1.  All decisions of the Council will be made in accordance with the following 

principles: 

 

a) proportionality (i.e. the action must be proportionate to the desired 

outcome); 

b) due consultation and the taking of professional advice from officers; 

c) respect for human rights; 

d) a presumption in favour of openness;  

e) clarity of aims and desired outcomes;  

f) take account of all relevant matters; 

g) discount irrelevant matters; and 

h) explaining what options were considered and giving the reasons for the 

decision. 

 

 Responsibility for Decision-Making 

 

2. The Council will issue and keep up to date a record of what part of the 

Council or individual has responsibility for particular types of decisions or 

decisions relating to particular areas or functions. This record is set out in Part 

B of this Constitution. 

 

3. The form of the Council’s Executive Arrangements is a ‘Mayor and Cabinet’ 

model as defined in section 9C of the Local Government Act 2000 (as 

amended). Therefore, decision-making at the Council is split into the following 

types: 

 

• ‘Executive’  

o Including ‘Executive Key Decisions’ 

• ‘Non-Executive’ functions. 

 

Executive Decision Making 

 

4. The Mayor is responsible for Executive decision-making and is therefore 

responsible for most day to day decisions. The Mayor can take these 

decisions at Cabinet, in a Cabinet Sub-Committee or the decisions can be 

delegated to officers.  

 

Page 93



10 
 

5. These decisions must be in line with the Council’s Budget and Policy 

Framework. If any of these decisions change the Framework then these must 

be referred to Council.  

 

 Executive Key Decisions 

 

6. A “key decision” is an executive decision which is likely to:  

 

A. result in the local authority incurring expenditure or the making of 

savings of: 

 

Savings Where the proposal is expected to result in 
savings of above £1 Million 

Revenue expenditure Where the proposal involves revenue 
expenditure of above £1 Million 

Capital expenditure Where the proposal involves capital 
expenditure of above £5 Million 

 

OR  

 

B. be significant in terms of its effects on communities living or working in 

an area comprising two or more wards or electoral divisions.  

 

i. In considering whether a decision is likely to have a significant impact, 

the decision maker is to consider the strategic nature of the decision 

and whether the outcome will have a significant material impact, for 

better or worse, on the local amenity or wellbeing (including social and 

environmental impact) of the community or the quality of service 

provided to a significant number of people living or working in the 

locality affected. 

ii. When officers consider the impact on the Community they will, for 

example, consider the effect on specific groups within that Ward 

(defined by other characteristics such as ‘age’, ‘culture’ etc) where 

those groups make up a significant proportion of that Ward’s 

population. 

iii. In determining the meaning of “significant” for the purposes of these 

paragraphs, regard must be had to any guidance for the time being 

issued by the Secretary of State in accordance with section 9Q of the 

Local Government Act 2000. 

 

In addition to the above, officers will also consider the following 

guidance when determining if an issue should be treated as a Key 

Decision: 

 

Page 94



11 
 

7. A decision to approve, update or amend a policy, strategy, plan, scheme (or 

similar) will only be a key decision if criterions (A) or (B) above would apply to 

the implementation of the document once approved, updated or amended. 

 

8. Documents listed in Section 7 under the Budget and Policy Framework, are 

non-executive decisions reserved to Full Council and therefore cannot be key 

decisions. However, they are required to be prepared and developed by 

Cabinet in accordance with the Budget and Policy Framework Procedure 

Rules at Part B Section 28 of the Constitution. 

 

9. A decision or report in relation to preparation and development of an issue, for 

example to begin a public consultation exercise, will not normally be a key 

decision unless criterions (A) or (B) above would also apply to that specific 

action. Even if the final determination of that issue would result in a Key 

Decision. 

 

10. A decision not fulfilling the criteria at (A) or (B) above may follow the same 

process as a key decision if, in the professional opinion of the Chief Executive 

or the appropriate Corporate Director, it is a matter of particular political 

sensitivity. 

 

11. A decision which is the same or similar to one taken in the past (for example, 

the approval of a previous iteration of a plan or strategy), and does not fulfil 

criterions (A) or (B) above, is not a Key Decision even if the comparable 

previous decision was identified as a Key Decision. 

 

Taking Key Decisions 

 

12. A decision taker, when making a decision may only take a Key Decision in 

accordance with the requirements of the Executive Procedure Rules set out in 

Part B Section 29 of the Constitution. 

 

13. When Key Decisions are to be made, notice of these decisions must be 

published in advance, in so far as they can be anticipated.  If these Key 

Decisions are to be taken at an Executive meeting (for example Cabinet) this 

will generally be open for the public to attend, except for restricted agenda 

items which include, for example, personal, commercially sensitive or 

confidential matters. 

 

14. The Health and Wellbeing Board is a statutory committee under the 

provisions of the Health and Social Care Act 2012 but does have certain 

executive functions and if this Board is making a Key decision then this will be 

published in advance. The meeting generally is open for the public to attend, 

except where restricted matters are being discussed in the same way as for 

other Executive meetings. 

 

Page 95



12 
 

15. Part A, Section 8 provides more detail of Executive Decision Making.  

 

Executive Decision Making by Officers 

 

16. Part B, Section 23 contains the Corporate Scheme of Delegation which must 

be read in conjunction with the Council-wide Operating Procedures and 

Directorate Schemes of Delegation published in Part D.  

 

17. These documents set out where Officers have delegated powers to take 

Executive Decisions. However, the following must always be followed in 

respect of officer decisions: 

 

• Officers may not take Key Decisions unless there has been a specific 

delegation by the Executive. 

• Any officer decision resulting in (revenue or capital) expenditure or 

savings of over £250,000 must only be taken following consultation with 

the relevant Lead Cabinet Member and must be published on the 

Council’s website ‘as soon as practicable’ (and following any guidance 

from the Monitoring Officer) after the decision has been taken. 

 

 Non-Executive Decision Making 

 

18. The Council has responsibility for all Non-Executive functions and for 

approving the Budget and Policy Framework. The Council, as a whole, retains 

responsibility for regulatory functions and has a role in holding the Executive 

to account.  

 

 Decision-Making by Council 

 

19. Certain decisions, such as the overall Council Budget, Council tax and the 

policy framework are reserved to Council. Section 7 sets out more details of 

how Council operates.  

 

Decision-Making by Other Committees and Sub-Committees Established 

by the Council 

 

20. Council has established a number of other Committees and Sub-Committees 

to undertaken specific decision-making functions.  

 

21. The following Committees have been established: 

• Audit Committee 

• General Purposes Committee 

• Licensing Committee 

• Pensions Committee 

Page 96



13 
 

• Standards Advisory Committee 

• Strategic Development Committee & Development Committee 

 

22. Section 10 provides more information about the Council’s Committees. 

 

Non-Executive Decision Making by Officers 

 

23. Part B Sections 16 and 17 and Part D Sections 43 and 44 set out the 

Council’s Non-Executive Functions and any delegations to officers for those 

functions.  Where decisions have been delegated to officers the following 

must be followed: 

 

• Any officer decision resulting in (revenue or capital) expenditure or 

savings of over £250,000 must be published on the Council’s website ‘as 

soon as practicable’ (and following any guidance from the Monitoring 

Officer) after the decision has been taken. 

 

Decision-Making by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee and Scrutiny 

Panels 

 

24. The Council has established an Overview and Scrutiny Committee whose 

main responsibility is to review or scrutinise decisions made, or other action 

taken in connection with the discharge of any functions which are the 

responsibility of the Executive. 

 

25. The Overview and Scrutiny Committee, and any Scrutiny Sub-Committees it 

appoints, will follow the Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules and relevant 

parts of the Council Procedure Rules set out in Part B Section 30 of this 

Constitution which apply to them when considering any matter. 

 

26. Section 9 also sets out a summary about the Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee. 

  

 Decision-Making by Council Bodies Acting as Tribunals 

 

27. The Council, any Members, Committee, Sub-Committee, Panel or an officer 

acting as a tribunal, or in a quasi-judicial manner, or determining/considering 

(other than for the purposes of giving advice) the civil rights and obligations or 

the criminal responsibility of any person, will follow a proper procedure which 

accords with the requirements of natural justice and the right to a fair trial 

contained in Article 6 of the European Convention on Human Rights. 

  

  

Page 97



14 
 

4 Citizens’ Rights 
 

1. Citizens have various rights as set out below. Their rights to information and 

to participate are explained in more detail in the Access to Information 

Procedure Rules in Part B Section 27 of this Constitution. 

 

2. General Rights: citizens have a number of general rights including to: 

 

• vote at Mayoral and Council elections if they are eligible and registered; 

• contact the Mayor or their local Councillor about any matters of concern to 

them; 

• participate in the Tower Hamlets Partnership and consultative 

mechanisms or service user groups, if selected or appointed to do so; 

• complain about Council services, actions, the conduct of Members or to 

highlight potential malpractice or illegality; 

• examine the Council’s accounts when open for inspection and make their 

views known to the external auditor. 

 

3. Voting and Petitions. Citizens on the electoral register have the right to vote 

at elections.  All citizens (that is people living, working or studying in the 

borough) have the right to present personally or to request a Councillor to 

present a petition on their behalf to Council, the Cabinet, Scrutiny, Regulatory 

or other Committees/ Sub Committees or Panels, subject to the detailed 

provisions laid down in the Petition Scheme and the procedures adopted by 

those bodies. 

 

4. Participation in Decision Making. All citizens have the right to participate in 

Council and Committee meetings and contribute to investigations by Scrutiny 

Panels.  Processes for public participation are set out in the procedures for 

various Committees and meetings including in Section 26 (Council Procedure 

Rules) and Section 30 (Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules). Individual 

Committees such as the Licensing and Strategic Development Committee will 

set out procedures to follow for public participation. 

 

5. As a summary, citizens can: 

 

• access the Constitution; 

• attend and record formal meetings of Council and its Committees except 

where confidential or exempt information is likely to be disclosed, and the 

meeting is therefore held in private; 

• attend and record meetings of the Cabinet and any other Executive 

bodies except where confidential or exempt information is likely to be 

disclosed, and the meeting is therefore held in private; 

Page 98



15 
 

• see forward plan notices of forthcoming decisions, plus reports, 

background papers and any records of decisions made by the Council 

and the Mayor, the Executive or appropriate Member or Key Decisions 

taken by officers; 

• see unrestricted reports and associated background papers and any 

published record of decisions made by Council, other non-executive 

Committees/ Sub-Committees; 

• speak at Development or Licensing Committees/ Sub-Committees in 

favour or against planning or licensing applications, subject to the detailed 

provisions laid down in procedures adopted by those bodies;  

• present petitions or otherwise participate in meetings of Council, the 

Cabinet, Scrutiny, Regulatory or other Committees, depending on their 

specific procedure rules, and contribute to investigations by Scrutiny; 

 

6. The Council maintains web pages providing information about its formal 

decision-making meetings and processes and opportunities for public 

engagement. These are held at www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/committee.  

 

7. Compliments and Complaints. All citizens have the right to: 

 

i. submit a compliment or comment on the Council and its services 

ii. complain to the authority itself under its complaints scheme or any other 

applicable statutory complaints scheme; 

iii. complain to the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman and 

Housing Ombudsman after using the Council’s own complaints scheme; 

and  

iv. complain the Council’s Monitoring Officer about a breach of the Code of 

Conduct for Members, or to raise a public interest concern if they have 

evidence which they think shows malpractice, wrongdoing, illegality or risk 

in the Council and which is not appropriate for consideration under 

another Council procedure. 

 

 Citizens’ Responsibilities 

 

8. Citizens must not be violent, abusive or threatening to Councillors or officers 

and must not wilfully damage things owned by the Council, Councillors or 

officers. 

 

9. When attending meetings of Council, Committees/ Sub-Committees/ Panels 

or the Cabinet, citizens must not behave improperly, offensively or interrupt 

the business of the meeting as such action will result in their being removed 

and excluded from the meeting. 

 

Page 99

http://www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/committee


16 
 

10. Where members of the public use specific Council services, for example as a 

parent of a school pupil or as an occupier of Council land or premises, they 

have additional rights.  These are not covered in this Constitution.  

 

  

Page 100



17 
 

5 The Speaker of the Council  
 

1. The position of Speaker of the Council performs the duties often carried out by 

the post of ‘civic mayor’.      

 

2. The Council has decided, in agreeing its Executive Arrangements, that the 

Speaker of the Council will be the first citizen of the Borough and will perform 

the majority of civic and ceremonial duties for the Borough. The Mayor will 

perform those functions as the Council’s representative where they relate to 

the promotion of, or business of, the Council.  Any future change to these 

arrangements will be a matter for the Council to determine.   

 

3. The Speaker of the Council may not be a member of the Executive. 

 

4. The Speaker of the Council and the Deputy Speaker will be elected by 

Council annually and the Speaker will have the following roles and functions: 

 

a) to uphold and promote the purposes of the Constitution and having sought 

appropriate advice from the Monitoring Officer, to interpret the 

Constitution when necessary; 

b) to preside over meetings of Council so that its business can be carried out 

efficiently and with regard to the rights of Councillors and the interests of 

the community; 

c) to ensure that Council is a forum for the debate of matters of concern to 

the local community and the place at which Councillors who are not on the 

Cabinet can hold the Mayor and Cabinet Members to account in public; 

d) to promote public involvement in the Council’s activities; 

e) to be the conscience of the Council; and 

f) to attend such civic and ceremonial functions as the Council and s/he 

determines appropriate. 

 

5. The Deputy Speaker of the Council will deputise for the Speaker of the 

Council whenever the Speaker of the Council is unavailable or unable to 

act.  

 

6. The order of precedence for civic events shall be as follows, with the 

Borough's First Citizen representing the Council at Civic Ceremonial functions 

in the Borough including: 

• Visits of the Royal Family and dignitaries; 

• Civic receptions, luncheons and dinners; 

• Funeral or memorial services; 

• Religious services; and 

• Prize givings. 

Page 101



18 
 

7. And events outside the Borough including: 

  

• Those of the Lord Mayor of London; 

• Invitations from other First Citizens to their Borough; and 

• Those of the London Mayors’ Association. 

  

8. This does not preclude the attendance and involvement of the Mayor and/or 

other Councillors. 

  

  

Page 102



19 
 

6 Members of the Council 
 

 Composition and Eligibility 

 

1. The Council will comprise a directly elected Mayor and 45 Councillors.  The 

Mayor will be elected by the voters of the whole borough; and the Councillors 

will be elected by the voters of each ward, in accordance with a scheme 

drawn up by the Local Government Boundary Commission for England.   

 

2. The term ‘Member of the Council’ (or simply ‘Member’) as used throughout 

this Constitution includes both the Mayor and the Councillors and any 

individuals co-opted to Council Committees and Sub-Committees. 

 

3. Only registered voters of the borough or those living or working here in 

accordance with the relevant legislation will be eligible to stand for election for 

the office of Mayor or Councillor. 

 

 Election and Terms of the Mayor and Councillors 

 

4. The regular elections of Mayor and Councillors will be held every four years, 

normally on the first Thursday in May.  The term of office of the Mayor and 

Councillors will be four years and will start on the fourth day after being 

elected and will finish on the fourth day after the date of the next regular 

election. 

 

 Roles and Functions of all Councillors 

 

5. All Councillors will:- 

 

a) Collectively be the ultimate policy-makers and carry out a number of 

strategic functions; 

b) Represent their communities and bring their views into the Council’s 

decision-making process, i.e. become the advocate of and for their 

communities; 

c) Effectively represent the interests of their ward and of individual 

constituents; 

d) Respond to constituents’ enquiries and representations, fairly and 

impartially; 

e) Participate in the governance of the Council; 

f) Be available to represent the Council on other bodies; and 

g) Maintain the highest standards of conduct and ethics. 

  

 

 

Page 103



20 
 

 

Rights and Duties 

 

6. Councillors will have such rights of access to such documents, information, 

land and buildings of the Council as are necessary for the proper discharge of 

their functions and in accordance with the law. 

 

7. Councillors will not make public information which is confidential or exempt 

without the consent of the Council or divulge information given in confidence 

to anyone other than a Councillor or officer entitled to know it. 

 

8. For these purposes “confidential” and “exempt” are defined in the Access to 

Information Procedure Rules in Part B Section 27 of the Constitution. 

 

 Cessation of Membership 

 

9. A Councillor will cease to be a Member if they resign by giving notice in 

writing, or if they fail to observe the requirement to attend Council meetings as 

prescribed by section 85 of the Local Government Act 1972 or if they are 

disqualified from holding office by virtue of section 80 of the Local 

Government Act 1972 or any other statutory provision. 

 

10. With regard to the requirement to attend meetings, a Councillor must attend at 

least one relevant meeting during a period of six (6) months to remain 

qualified to hold office.  A relevant meeting includes Council, the Cabinet, any 

Committee, Sub Committee or external body to which the Councillor has been 

formally appointed. 

 

11. If a Councillor believes that there is an exceptional and unavoidable reason 

why they are unable to attend a relevant meeting during a period of six (6) 

months or to otherwise perform their proper duties as a Councillor for part or 

all of the same period, the Councillor concerned may seek a dispensation 

from the Council by writing to the Chief Executive explaining the reason for 

their unavoidable absence and the period to which the absence will relate.  

This will be reported to the Council at its next ordinary meeting.  The Council 

will decide whether or not to grant such an exemption to the attendance 

requirement and will only do so in exceptional circumstances and with 

evidence that the absence is unavoidable.  An exemption cannot be granted if 

a particular Councillor’s absence has already exceeded six months. 

 

Conduct 

 

12. The Mayor, Councillors and Co-opted Members will at all times observe the 

Code of Conduct for Members, Member/Officer Protocol, the Licensing and 

Planning Codes of Conduct and all other Codes and Protocols set out in Part 

C of this Constitution or otherwise agreed by the Council from time to time. 

Page 104



21 
 

 

Allowances 

 

13. The Mayor, Councillors and Co-opted Members will be entitled to receive 

allowances in accordance with the Members’ Allowances Scheme as set out 

in Part C Section 39 of this Constitution. 

 

 

Freedom of the Borough 

 

14. Under Section 249(5) of the Local Government Act 1972, the Council has the 

power to confer honorary freedom of the Borough to persons of distinction 

and to persons who have, in the opinion of the authority, rendered eminent 

services to the borough.  

 

15. The title can only be given by a resolution of Council, at a meeting convened 

for the purpose and the resolution requires a two-thirds majority of the 

Members present and voting for it to be passed. 

 

16. Similarly, a resolution requires a two-thirds majority of the Members present 

and voting to rescind a previously made nomination. 

 

17. Awarding the title of Freedom of the Borough does not confer any rights or 

responsibilities on that individual. The Council may though choose to engage 

the individual in the civic business of the borough including such events as: 

• Citizenship Ceremonies 

• Civic Awards 

• Civic and remembrance services 

 

18. Under section 249(10), the admission of a person as honorary freedom of the 

Borough does not carry any right to attend meetings of the Council or its 

committees or to claim any allowances for attendance at meetings. However, 

the Council may choose to cover reasonable expenses for attendance at any 

of the above listed civic events.  

 

  

Page 105



22 
 

7 Council 
 

1. The Council has responsibility for all Non-Executive functions and for 

approving the budget and policy framework. The Council as a whole also 

retains responsibility for regulatory functions. 

 

 Budget and Policy Framework 

 

2. Policy Framework. The policy framework means the following plans and 

strategies required to be approved by Council.  The table below shows those 

plans and strategies that are required by statute or the Council to be included 

in its policy framework:  

 

Document Relevant Legislation 

Crime and Disorder Reduction 
Strategy 

Sections 5 & 6 Crime & Disorder Act 
1998 

Development Plan Documents as 
well as Plans and Alterations which 
together comprise the Development 
Plan 

Section 20 Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 as 
amended by the Localism Act 2011 
 
Section 27 Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 
 

Licensing Authority Policy Statement Section 349 Gambling Act 2005 

Local Transport Plan Section 108(3) Transport Act 2000 

Youth Justice Plan Section 40 Crime & Disorder Act 
1998 

 

3. With the exception of the Development Plan documents, any plans, 

strategies, policies or schemes which support a policy framework document 

will not also be part of the Budget and Policy Framework unless the principal 

document specifies that it is. 

 

4. Budget. The budget includes the allocation of financial resources to different 

services and projects, proposed contingency funds, (including the 

recommended Council tax base), setting the council tax and decisions relating 

to the control of the Council’s borrowing requirement, the control of its capital 

expenditure and the setting of virement limits.  

 

5. Dispute Resolution. Specific procedures apply where Council does not 

agree to the Mayor’s proposals in respect of budget and policy framework 

reports. These are set out in the Budget and Policy Framework procedure 

rules in Section 28 of the Constitution. 

 

 

 

 

Page 106



23 
 

Housing Land Transfers 

 

6. Housing Land Transfer means the approval or adoption of applications or a 

programme of applications (whether in draft form or not) for approval of a 

programme of disposal of 500 or more properties to a person for which a levy 

would be payable to the Secretary of State under the Leasehold Reform, 

Housing and Urban Development Act 1993 or to dispose of land used for 

residential purposes where approval is required under sections 32 or 43 of the 

Housing Act 1985. 

 

Functions of Council 

 

7. Only Council will exercise the following functions: 

 

a) adopting and changing the Constitution (except where the power to make 

any change is delegated to either the General Purposes Committee or the 

Monitoring Officer or as set out in Part D of this Constitution); 

b) approving or adopting the policy framework and the budget; 

c) subject to the urgency procedure contained in the Access to Information 

Procedure Rules in Part B Section 27 of this Constitution, making 

decisions about any matter in the discharge of an executive function 

which is covered by the policy framework or the budget where the 

decision-maker is minded to make it in a manner which would be contrary 

to the policy framework or contrary to or not wholly in accordance with the 

budget; 

d) agreeing and/or amending the terms of reference for Committees/ Sub-

Committees, deciding on their composition and making appointments to 

them, subject to any delegations to Committees and/or officers as set out 

in this Constitution; 

e) appointing representatives to those external bodies that do not fall to the 

Mayor to appoint to, unless the function has been delegated by the 

Council or this Constitution;  

f) adopting an allowances scheme for Members; 

g) the determination of matters relating to Community Governance Reviews 

as set out in the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 

2007, unless the matter has been delegated by the Council or this 

Constitution. 

h) changing the name of the area, conferring the title of honorary alderman 

or conferring the freedom of the borough; 

i) confirming the appointment of the Head of the Paid Service; 

j) making, amending, revoking, re-enacting or adopting bylaws and 

promoting or opposing the making of local legislation or personal Bills; 

k) adoption and amendment of the authority's Code of Conduct for Members 

and other Codes and Protocols comprising the ethical framework; 

Page 107



24 
 

l) adopting the Council’s Pay Policy Statement each year as required by the 

Localism Act 2011; and agreeing any in-year changes to the Pay Policy 

Statement. 

m) arranging for the discharge of any other functions of the authority which 

are not executive functions;  

n) subject to any matters delegated to Committees/ Sub-Committees or 

officers, determining all local choice functions as described in Part B of 

this Constitution which the Council decides should be undertaken by itself 

rather than the Executive;  

o) accepting the delegation of a power or function from another local 

authority; and  

p) all other matters which, by law, must be reserved to Council. 

 

Council Meetings 

 

8. There are four types of Council meeting: 

 

a) the annual meeting; 

b) the budget meeting(s), 

c) ordinary meetings, and  

d) extra-ordinary meetings, 

 

9. They will be conducted in accordance with the Council Procedure Rules in 

Part B Section 26 of this Constitution. 

 

10. The Mayor and all Councillors may attend meetings of Council and may 

participate as set out in the Council Procedure Rules.  

 

Responsibility for Functions 

 

11. As part of this Constitution, the Council will maintain a document setting out 

the “Responsibilities for the Council’s functions” which are not the 

responsibility of the Executive.  

 

12. Decisions relating to the functions listed in the “Responsibilities for the 

Council’s functions” document will be allocated by legislation, therefore, if the 

legislation changes, the Constitution will be changed by the Monitoring Officer 

in accordance with delegated powers set out in Part D of the Constitution.   

 

13. Subject to Section 3, Paragraph 27, the Council meeting will follow the 

Council Procedure Rules set out in Part B of this Constitution when 

considering any matter.  

 

  

Page 108



25 
 

8 The Mayor and the Executive  
 

The Role of the Executive  

 

1. The Executive will carry out all the local authority’s functions which are not the 

responsibility of any other part of the Council, whether by law or under this 

Constitution.  

 

2. Subject to Section 3, Paragraph 27, the Mayor and Executive will follow the 

decision-making procedures set out in Part B of this Constitution when 

considering any matter.  

 

3. The following parts of the Constitution, insofar as they relate to executive 

functions, constitute the Executive Arrangements: 

 

• Section 3 (How decisions are made) 

• Section 8 (The Mayor and the Executive) and Section 29 (Executive 

Procedure Rules) 

• Section 9 (Overview and Scrutiny Committee and Scrutiny Panels) and 

Section 30 (Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules) 

• Section 12 (Joint Arrangements and Partnership Working)  

• Section 18 (Responsibility for Executive Functions) 

• Section 22 (Terms of Reference – The Executive) 

• Section 27 (Access to Information Procedure Rules) 

 

 Form and Composition 

 

4. The Executive will consist of the Mayor and between two and nine Councillors 

appointed by the Mayor, called Cabinet Members.  One of the Cabinet 

Members will be appointed by the Mayor as the Statutory Deputy Mayor.  

When the Mayor and Cabinet Members meet together in Committee this is 

known as a meeting of the Cabinet. 

 

5. The King George’s Field Charity Board and the Grants Determination Sub-

Committee are also Executive Bodies having executive decision-making 

powers. The Health and Wellbeing Board also has certain Executive functions 

 

The Mayor 

 

6. The Mayor will exercise strategic political leadership by developing and 

communicating clearly to citizens, businesses and service users the 

authority’s purpose and vision and its intended policy outcomes.  In 

developing strategic policy the Mayor will work closely with the Chief 

Executive and have regard to advice tendered. 

Page 109



26 
 

 

7. The Mayor will be a person elected to that position by the electors of the 

borough in the Mayoral election.   In the event that a serving Councillor of the 

London Borough of Tower Hamlets is elected as Mayor, a vacancy shall be 

declared in that person’s Council seat and a by-election shall be held (if 

required) in accordance with the relevant legislation.   

 

8. The term of office of the Mayor will normally be four years. They will take 

office on the fourth day after their election and will continue in office until the 

fourth day after their successor is elected, unless they die, are disqualified or 

resign.  

 

The Statutory Deputy Mayor 

 

9. The Statutory Deputy Mayor will be a Councillor appointed to that position by 

the Mayor from among the Cabinet members. 

 

10. The Mayor may replace the Statutory Deputy Mayor at any time but otherwise 

the Statutory Deputy Mayor shall remain in post for the duration of the 

Mayor’s term of office, unless: 

 

a) they resign from office; or 

b) they are no longer a Councillor 

 

11. The Statutory Deputy Mayor shall have authority to exercise the Mayor’s 

powers only in the event that for any reason the Mayor is unable to act at any 

time. 

 

 Other Executive Members 

 

12. The Mayor shall appoint between two and nine Councillors to be members of 

the Executive (Cabinet Members) alongside the Mayor.  All of the Cabinet 

Members must be serving Councillors of the authority.  The Mayor may 

allocate to each Cabinet Member a portfolio of responsibility for Council 

business relating to their role as an Executive Member (see 17-18 below). 

 

13. The Mayor must appoint one of the Cabinet Members as the Statutory Deputy 

Mayor. 

 

14. The Mayor may replace or remove a Cabinet Member, and/or may vary or 

delete their portfolio responsibilities, at any time. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 110



27 
 

15. Executive Members shall hold office until: 

 

a) They are removed or replaced by the Mayor; 

b) They resign from office; or 

c) They are no longer a Councillor. 

 

16. In the case of a vacancy arising in any post of Cabinet Member the Mayor 

may appoint a Councillor to the vacant post at his/her discretion. 

 

 Cabinet Responsibilities 

 

17. The Executive Members will have portfolios as set out in the Executive 

Scheme of Delegation within Section 29 of this Constitution. 

 

18. The portfolios may be subject to change from time to time at the discretion of 

the Mayor and will be updated by the Monitoring Officer as soon as 

reasonably practicable when so advised by the Mayor.  

 

 Proceedings of the Cabinet 

 

19. Proceedings of the Cabinet shall take place in accordance with the Executive 

Procedure Rules set out in Section 29 of the Constitution. 

 

Responsibility for Functions 

 

20. The Monitoring Officer will maintain a list as part of this Constitution, setting 

out which individual Cabinet Members or Committees of the Executive, 

officers or joint arrangements (see Section 29 – Executive Procedure Rules) 

are responsible for the exercise of particular executive functions.  

 

 

  

 

  

Page 111



28 
 

9 Overview and Scrutiny  
 

1. Overview and Scrutiny provide an important check and balance function to 

ensure that the decisions of the Executive, Mayor and Cabinet are in the best 

interests of residents and that the council is providing high quality services. 

 

2. The scrutiny process provides non-executive councillors and co-opted 

Members with an opportunity to examine the services provided by the council 

and partner agencies, ask questions on how decisions are made and to 

consider whether service improvements can be put in place. Members of all 

political parties can work together in a challenging and constructive way to 

propose improvements not only to the way the council works, but also to other 

public services in the local area more generally. 

 

 Scrutiny Committees and Sub-Committees 

 

3. Council will appoint an Overview and Scrutiny Committee to discharge the 

functions conferred by sections 9F to 9FI of the Local Government Act 2000; 

section 19 of the Police and Justice Act 2006 (local authority scrutiny of crime 

and disorder matters); or any functions which may be conferred on it by virtue 

of regulations under section 244(2ZE) of the National Health Service Act 2006 

(local authority scrutiny of health matters).  

 

4. Council will appoint a Member to serve as the Chair of the Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee. The Committee will appoint its own Vice-Chair. 

 

5. The Committee will appoint a Sub-Committee to discharge the Council’s 

functions under the National Health Service Act 2006 (including scrutiny of the 

local health service) to be known as the Health and Adults Scrutiny Sub-

Committee and it may also appoint such other Sub-Committees as the 

Committee considers appropriate to carry out its work programme.  The 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee will appoint Members as Chairs of any 

such sub-committees. The Sub-Committees will appoint their own Vice-

Chairs. 

 

6. The Overview and Scrutiny Committee and its Scrutiny Sub-Committees will 

generally meet in public and will conduct their proceedings in accordance with 

the Procedure Rules in Section 30 of this Constitution. 

 

 Scrutiny Leads 

 

7. The Overview and Scrutiny Committee may appoint from amongst its 

Members, ‘Scrutiny Lead Members’ with responsibility for specific portfolios. 

 

Page 112



29 
 

 

General Role and Responsibilities 

 

8. Section 30 (Overview and Scrutiny Procedures Rules) sets out in more detail 

how the Overview and Scrutiny Committee and its Sub-Committees will 

operate. In summary, their roles include the following: 

 

• Scrutiny of decisions or actions taken by the executive. 

• Provide advice and reports to the Executive on key issues including 

making recommendations to Council and/or the Mayor/Executive. 

• Question Members of the Executive and/or Committees and chief 

officers about their views on issues and proposals affecting the area. 

• Liaise with external organisations operating in the area to ensure the 

interests of local people are enhanced by collaborative working 

including by reviewing the performance of public bodies in the area 

and inviting reports from them. 

• Exercise the right to ‘call in’ for reconsideration decisions made but 

not yet implemented by the Mayor/Executive. 

• Assist the Council and the Executive in the development of its budget 

and policy framework and in the in-depth analysis of policy issues. 

• Look to enhance community participation in the development of policy 

options including through petitions to Scrutiny meetings following the 

rules set out in the Council’s Petition Scheme. 

• To consider issues raised under the ‘Councillor Call for Action’ 

procedure. 

 

Reporting 

 

9. The Overview and Scrutiny Committee reports annually to Council on its work. 

 

10. The Overview and Scrutiny Committee will report to Council, Cabinet or the 

Mayor or appropriate Cabinet member and make recommendations, as 

appropriate. All reports and/or recommendations of Scrutiny Sub-Committees 

shall first be considered by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee before 

being reported to Council, Cabinet, the Mayor or Cabinet member, as 

appropriate. 

 

 Further Information 

 

11. The following sections of the Constitution contain more information about the 

Council’s Overview and Scrutiny function: 

• Section 19 – Terms of Reference for Council and Committees 

• Section 21 – Terms of Reference for Joint Committees 

Page 113



30 
 

• Section 30 – Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules 

• Section 53 – Scrutiny Sub-Committee Procedure Rules 

  

Page 114



31 
 

10 Regulatory and Non-Executive Committees 
 

1. Council will appoint the Committees set out in Part B to discharge the 

functions described in the “Responsibility for Functions” information also in 

Part B. 

 

2. Council will appoint a Member to serve as Chair of each Committee that it 

appoints under this Section.  If the Council does not, the Committee may 

appoint a Chair from amongst the Members appointed to the Committee by 

the Council.  

 

3. Each Committee may appoint a Vice-Chair from amongst its Members. 

 

4. Except where prevented in law, or this Constitution, any Committee may 

establish one or more sub-committees to undertake specific areas of decision 

making that would normally be the responsibility of the parent Committee. 

 

5. Subject to Section 3, Paragraph 27, other Council Committees and Sub-

Committees will follow those parts of the Council Procedure Rules set out in 

Section 27 of this Constitution as apply to them. 

 

Development Control and Licensing  

 

6. Two regulatory Committees often of general interest to the public are those 

that deal with Development Control and Licensing. 

 

7. Development Control – Tower Hamlets Council is a local planning authority 

for its area (other than parts of Bromley by Bow and Fish island which 

currently fall under the London Legacy Development Corporation). Local 

Planning Authorities must make a Local Plan for their area and make 

decisions on planning applications for new development that are submitted.  

 

8. The executive Mayor, Cabinet and full Council are responsible for decisions 

about the Council's Local Plan.   Most decisions on planning applications are 

made by senior planning officers under powers that are delegated to them.  

Applications for the largest scale developments or those which have attracted 

significant public interest are determined by one of the Council's two planning 

committees - the Development Committee and the Strategic Development 

Committee.  They make decisions in public, in line with policies in the 

Council's Local Plan and other development plan documents, such as the 

London Plan.  The Committees will hear representations from members of the 

public who can register to speak in support of, or in objection to, an 

application.  The terms of reference for both committees are set out in Section 

19 of the Constitution." 

 

 

Page 115



32 
 

9. The Licensing Committee oversees the discharge of all licensing functions 

of the Council as the Licensing Authority under the Licensing Act 2003 and 

the Gambling Act 2005 (excluding the Council’s Statement of Licensing 

Policy). The Licensing Committee also reviews licensing fees and charges 

and oversees the Licensing activities of the Environmental Health and Trading 

Standards Service.  

 

10. The Licensing Committee also has a responsibility to consider and determine 

matters under Section 2 of the Schedule 3 to the Local Government 

(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 regarding the control of sex 

establishments within the borough. It also considers and determines matters 

under the London Local Authorities Act 1991 in respect of premises providing 

or wishing to provide special treatments within the borough where objections 

have been received and not withdrawn.  

 

11. The Licensing Committee establishes Licensing Sub-Committees to 

consider Licensing matters under the Licensing Act 2003. The Sub 

Committees determine applications to grant, vary a license where 

representations have been made, or where an application to review a licence 

has been made. The Sub Committee is established to perform the functions 

of the Licensing Authority with a view to promoting the four licensing 

objectives: 

 

• The prevention of public nuisance 

• The prevention of crime and disorder 

• Public safety 

• The protection of children from harm 

 

12. The meetings are an opportunity for councillors to make a decision based on 

the points of view of all relevant parties. 

 

13. The Licensing Committee and Licensing Sub-Committee Terms of Reference 

are at Part B Section 19 and the Licensing Code of Conduct is at Part C 

Section 34. 

 

 

 

  

  

Page 116



33 
 

11 The Standards Advisory Committee and the Code of Conduct 

for Members  
 

Code of Conduct  

 

12. In accordance with the requirements of the Localism Act 2011 the Council has 

adopted a Code of Conduct for Members together with arrangements for 

dealing with any complaint of a breach of the Code including the appointment 

of an Independent Person.  The Code of Conduct and the arrangements for 

dealing with any complaint of a breach of the Code are set out at Part C, 

Section 31 of this Constitution. 

 

Standards Advisory Committee 

 

13. In order to promote and maintain high standards of conduct, the Council at its 

Annual Meeting will establish a Standards Advisory Committee using its 

powers under section 102(4) of the Local Government Act 1972. 

 

14. The Standards Advisory Committee shall have the power to create sub-

committees in order to discharge its advisory role.  

 

15. The Standards Advisory Committee’s composition shall be set out in its Terms 

of Reference. It includes Councillors and Independent Co-opted Members (but 

may not include the Mayor or more than one Cabinet Member).  

 

16. The Standards Advisory Committee has a set of procedures which govern its 

arrangements. These are set out Part B Section 19 and Part D Section 53. 

 

 Independent Persons 

 

17. The Council has appointed two statutory Independent Persons to assist in 

dealing with complaints of alleged breach of the Code of Conduct for 

Members under section 28(7) of the Localism Act 2011.  They are not co-

opted member of the Standards Advisory Committee but may attend and 

observe any meeting of the Committee or a sub-committee established by it. 

  

 

  

 

  

Page 117



34 
 

12 Joint Arrangements and Partnership Working 
 

 Arrangements to Promote Well-Being. 

 

1. The Council or the Executive in order to promote or improve the economic, 

social or environmental well-being of the whole or any part of the borough, 

may: 

 

a) enter into arrangements or agreements with any person or body; 

b) co-operate with, or facilitate or co-ordinate the activities of, any person or 

body; and 

c) exercise on behalf of that person or body any functions of that person or 

body. 

 

 Joint Arrangements 

 

2. The Council, or any officer delegated under the Council’s Scheme of 

Delegation, may establish joint arrangements with one or more local 

authorities and/or their Executives to exercise functions in any of the 

participating authorities, or advise the Council on any matter. Such 

arrangements may involve the appointment of a joint Committee with these 

other local authorities and/ or their Executives. 

 

3. The Mayor or Executive may establish joint arrangements with one or more 

local authorities to exercise functions that are executive functions. Such 

arrangements may involve the appointment of joint Committees with these 

other local authorities and/ or their Executives. 

 

4. The Mayor or Executive may only appoint Executive Members to a joint 

Committee except where: 

 

i. the joint committee is discharging a function in relation to five or more 

relevant authorities; or 

ii. the function which the joint committee is discharging is a function which is 

required by statute to be discharged by a joint committee, 

 

5. Every person appointed to the joint committee by the Executive may be a 

member of the Executive or of the Council. 

 

6. The political balance requirements do not apply to the appointments in 4 and 

5 above. 

 

 

 

 

Page 118



35 
 

 

Current Joint Committees 

 

7. Pursuant to section 101 of the Local Government Act 1972 and section 9EB 

of the Local Government Act 2000 the Council is a member of a number of 

joint committees under the umbrella of London Councils (formerly known as 

the Association of London Government or the ALG).  These are- 

 

• London Councils’ Committee (known as the Leaders’ Committee) 

• London Councils’ Grants Committee 

• London Council’s Pensions CIV Sectoral Joint Committee 

• London Councils’ Transport and Environment Committee  

 

8. Additionally, the Council is also a member of the following joint committees: 

 

• Inner North East London Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

• Joint Committee of the Six Growth Boroughs 

• London Housing Consortium 

 

9. These Joint Committees shall have delegated authority to discharge the 

functions of the Council as per the terms of reference for these joint 

committees as set out in Part B of this Constitution. 

 

Access to Information 

 

10. Access to information rules are contained in the Access to Information 

Procedure Rules in Part B of the Constitution.  

 

11. If all the members of any joint Committee are Members of the Executive in 

each of the participating authorities then its access to information regime is 

the same as that applied to the Executive. 

 

12. If the joint Committee contains Members who are not on the Executive of any 

participating authority the access to information rules in Part V of the Local 

Government Act 1972 will apply. 

 

 Delegation to and from Other Local Authorities 

 

13. The Council or the Mayor or Executive or any officer delegated under the 

Council’s Scheme of Delegation may delegate their powers and functions to 

another local authority or, in certain circumstances, the Executive of another 

local authority. 

 

14. The decision whether or not to accept such a delegation from another local 

authority shall be for Council or the Mayor or Executive or officer delegated 

Page 119



36 
 

under the Council’s Scheme of Delegation as appropriate depending upon 

whether or not the powers or functions are the responsibility of the Executive. 

 

 Contracting Out 

 

15. The Mayor or Executive may contract out to another body or organisation 

functions which may be exercised by an officer and which are subject to an 

order under section 70 of the Deregulation and Contracting Out Act 1994, or 

under contracting arrangements where the contractor acts as the Council’s 

agent under usual contracting principles, providing there is no delegation of 

the Council’s discretionary decision making. 

 

 Partnership Working – General Arrangements 

 

16. The Tower Hamlets Strategic Partnership brings together all of the key 

stakeholders in the borough – residents, the Mayor and Council, Police, the 

health service, other public services, voluntary and community groups, faith 

communities and businesses – with the aim of working together to improve 

the quality of life of people who live and work in the borough.  The Council 

provides support for the administration of the Partnership but the Partnership 

is independent of the local authority.  

 

17. The Partnership delivers its vision through The Tower Hamlets Plan 2018-23, 

which has the key objective - tackling inequality by building a strong, inclusive 

and fair borough – as well as four themes: 

 

• A better deal for children & young people – this is about ensuring young 

people are supported to build on their aspirations and achieve their full 

potential. 

• Good jobs and employment – this is about helping people be job ready by 

taking up the skills training available, as well as working with employers to 

make sure they have practises in place which support the community, 

through inclusive recruitment, responsible employment and fair access to 

jobs.  

• Strong, resilient and safe communities – this is about ensuring people are 

active, and reducing isolation and the fear of crime. 

• Better health and wellbeing – person-centred care, empowering people to 

live on their own independently. It’s about improving the quality of life for 

our residents, tackling health inequalities and managing demand for 

services. 

 

18. In order to deliver its vision, the Partnership will review and establish 

arrangements to support its operation including executive support, 

development and delivery of initiatives, engagement with stakeholders as well 

as performance management. 

Page 120



37 
 

13 Officers of the Council 
 

Appointments 

 

1.  General. The Council may engage such staff (referred to as officers) as it 

considers necessary to carry out its functions. 

 

2. Chief Officers. The Council will engage persons for the following posts who 

will be designated chief officers: 

 

• Chief Executive (designated Head of Paid Service) 

• Corporate Director, Children and Culture 

• Corporate Director, Governance (designated Monitoring Officer) 

• Corporate Director, Health, Adults and Community  

• Corporate Director, Place  

• Corporate Director, Resources and Governance (designated Chief 

Finance Officer) 

 

3. The above posts may be subject to change from time to time in which case 

this Constitution will be updated as soon as reasonably practicable to reflect 

any change in the designated chief officers. 

 

Statutory Officers 

 

4. In addition to the designation of the Head of Paid Service statutory position to 

the Chief Executive and the Chief Finance Officer position to the Corporate 

Director, Resources and Governance, the Council has designated the 

Monitoring Officer position to the Director of Legal. Part B Section 25 of the 

Constitution sets out the main statutory officer allocations. 

3.  

 

4.5. The Management Structure. Chief Executive will determine and publicise a 

description of the overall structure of the Council showing the management 

structure and deployment of officers. This is set out below.  

 

Conduct 

 

5.6. Officers will comply with the Employees’ Code of Conduct and the Member/ 

Officer Relations’ Protocol set out in Part C of this Constitution. 

 

 

 

 

 

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Indent: Left:  1.3 cm,  No bullets or numbering

Page 121



38 
   

TOWER HAMLETS COUNCIL  

CURRENT ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE 

Corporate Director, Health, 

Adults and Community  

Denise Radley 

Corporate Director, 

Place 

Ann Sutcliffe 

Corporate Director, 

Children & Culture 

 James Thomas  

Corporate Director, 

Resources and 

Governance 

Vacant 

Interim Corporate 

Director, Resources 

Kevin Bartle 

Chief Executive 

Will Tuckley 

Director of 

Workforce, OD and 

Business Support 

Amanda Harcus 

Director of Customer 

Services  

Raj Chand 

Director of IT 
Adrian Gorst 

Director of Finance 

(and Deputy Chief 

Finance Officer) 

(Interim) 

Nisar Visram 

Director of 

Integrated Growth & 

Development 

Vicky Clark 

Director of Public 

Realm 

Dan Jones 

Director of Housing 

Karen Swift 
Director of 

Community Safety 

Ann Corbett 

Joint Director of 

Integrated 

Commissioning 

Warwick Tomsett 

Director of Public 

Health 

Somen Banerjee 

Director of Adult 

Social Care 

(Interim) 

Katy O’Driscoll 

Director of 

Education 

Steve Nyakatawa 

Director of 

Commissioning and 

Culture 

Judith St. John 

Director of 

Supporting 

Families 

Richard Baldwin 
Director of Legal 

(and Monitoring 

Officer) 

Janet Fasan 

Director of 

Communications and 

Marketing 

Andreas Christophorou 

Tower Hamlets Homes 

Chief Executive 

Susmita Sen 

Director of Planning 

and Building Control 

Jennifer Peters 
Head of Mayor’s 

Office 

Stephen Bramah 

(Interim) 

Director of Strategy, 

Improvement and 

Transformation 

Sharon Godman 

Note – some interim reporting arrangements are in place until the 

appointment of the Corporate Director, Resources and Governance. 

Deputy Chief Executive 
(Appointed from current CLT 

members) 

Denise Radley 

P
age 122



39 
 

14 Finance, Contracts and Legal Matters 
 

Financial Management 

 

1. The management of the Council’s financial affairs will be conducted in 

accordance with the Financial Procedure Rules set out in Part C of this 

Constitution. 

 

Contracts  

 

2. Every contract made by the Council shall be in writing and will comply with the 

Contracts Procedure Rules set out in Part C of this Constitution. 

 

Legal Proceedings 

 

3. The Corporate Director of Legal, Governance is authorised to institute, 

defend, settle or participate in any legal proceedings in any case where such 

action is necessary to give effect to decisions of the Council or in any case 

where they consider such action is necessary to protect the Council’s 

interests.  They may designate nominated officers to carry out this function on 

their behalf. 

 

Authentication of Documents 

 

4. Where a document is necessary to any legal procedure or proceedings on 

behalf of the Council, it will be signed by the Corporate Director of Legal, 

Governance or any person authorised by them, unless any enactment 

requires otherwise, or the Council has given requisite authority to some other 

person. 

 

5. Contracts with a value exceeding £250,000 must either be signed by at least 

two officers of the authority. Subject to the provisions of Paragraph 7 below 

they may also be signed or under the common seal of the Council attested by 

at least one officer. 

 

6. For the avoidance of doubt any document that is required to be signed, may 

be signed by any authorised person by any form of electronic signature. 

 

 Common Seal of the Council 

 

7. The Common Seal of the Council will be kept in a safe place in the custody of 

the Corporate Director of Legal, Governance. A decision of the Council, or of 

any part of it, will be sufficient authority for sealing any document necessary 

to give effect to the decision. The Corporate Director of Legal, Governance 

generally requires all documents to be signed in accordance with the 

provisions of Paragraphs 4, 5 and 6 above, but has the discretion to require in 

Page 123



40 
 

certain circumstances that the Council’s Common Seal will be affixed to some 

documents. The Common Seal will be affixed to those documents which in 

the opinion of the Corporate Director, Governance should be sealed. The 

affixing of the Common Seal will be attested by the Corporate Director, 

Governance or some other person authorised by them. The Seal may be 

applied electronically.  

 

Retention of Documents 

 

8. The Corporate Director of Legal, Governance may declare that any document 

required to be retained by the Council may be retained either jointly with a 

paper copy of such document, or in electronic format only. 

  

  

Page 124



41 
 

15 Suspending, Interpreting and Changing the Constitution and 

Changes to Executive Arrangements 
 

Suspension of the Constitution 

 

1. Limit to Suspension. The Rules specified below may be suspended by 

bodies indicated to the extent permitted within those Rules and the law. 

 

2. Procedure to Suspend. A motion to suspend any Rules will not be moved 

without notice unless at least half (½) of the voting members of the meeting in 

question are present. The extent and duration of suspension will be 

proportionate to the result to be achieved, taking account of the purposes of 

the Constitution. 

 

3. Rules Capable of Suspension.  The following Rules may be suspended: 

 

i. Council Procedure Rules (Council as well as Cabinet and all other 

Committees and Sub-committees to which Rule 23 of the Council 

Procedure Rules applies) 

ii. Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules (Council) 

iii. Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules (Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee) 

iv. Any Committee / Body Procedure Rules listed in Part D. 

 

 Interpretation 

 

4. The ruling of the Speaker of the Council as to the construction or application 

of this Constitution or as to any proceedings of the Council shall not be 

challenged at any meeting of the Council. Such interpretations will have 

regard to the purposes of this Constitution contained Section 1. 

 

Publication  

 

5. The Monitoring Officer will ensure (1) that the Constitution is published on the 

Council’s website and that copies are available for inspection at the Town 

Hall; and (2) can be purchased by members of the local press and the public 

on payment of a reasonable fee. 

 

6. The Monitoring Officer will ensure the Constitution is made available to all 

Members and citizens and is updated as necessary.  

 

7. For the avoidance of doubt, where authority to make changes to any part of 

the constitution has been delegated to the Monitoring Officer, or any other 

officer and the change is not reported to the General Purposes Committee or 

Page 125



42 
 

Council, the change will be published direct to the website via the officer 

decision portal.  

 

 Reviews of the Constitution 

 

8. The Officer scheme of delegation sets out the Monitoring Officer’s 

responsibility for reviewing and maintaining an up to date Constitution. 

 

Changes to the Constitution 

 

9. The Monitoring Officer can approve all non-material changes to the 

Constitution including those that reflect decisions taken by the Council or 

changes in legislation or to correct matters of fact; 

 

10. The Monitoring Officer can recommend to Council or General Purposes 

Committee for approval any material changes to Parts A to C of the 

Constitution with the exception of the Executive Scheme of Delegation 

(Section 30) which will be amended by the Monitoring Officer should the 

Mayor amend his Executive Scheme of Delegation. 

 

11. The introduction to Part D of the Constitution sets out the delegated authority 

to amend each Part D Section. Unless indicated otherwise, the Monitoring 

Officer has delegated authority to amend Part D documents in consultation 

with the Chief Executive. 

 

12. All Sections of the Constitution remain in place unless explicitly revised or 

removed.  

  

Change of Executive Arrangements 

 

13. The Council must take reasonable steps to consult with local electors and 

other interested persons in the area when drawing up proposals for a change 

to its Executive Arrangements. 

 

 

  

Page 126



31 Code of Conduct for Members 
 

Introduction and Purpose of the Code 

 

1. This Code has been developed to support the high standards of leadership 

and performance of members, and the openness and accountability 

necessary to ensure public confidence in the way in which you conduct your 

public duties.  

 

2. The Code applies to the Mayor, Councillors, and Co-opted members of the 

Council, collectively referred to as member(s) in the remainder of this 

document. 

 

3. A “Co-opted member” is defined in the Localism Act 2011 Section 27(4) as “a 

person who is not a member of the authority but who 

a) is a member of any committee or sub-committee of the authority, or; 

b) is a member of, and represents the authority on, any joint 

committee or joint sub- committee of the authority; 

 

and who is entitled to vote on any question that falls to be decided 

at any meeting of that committee or sub-committee”. 

 

4. Some Co-opted Members of the Council’s Scrutiny Committees  are not 

caught by the above definition as they do not have the right to vote, however 

all Scrutiny Co-optees are expected to abide by the terms of this Code of 

Conduct. 

 

5. The Code does not apply to Independent Persons, Observers and other 

persons involved in the Council’s Committees, Boards, and Panels. They are 

expected to take into account the Code and to follow any rules set out by their 

own organisations and act appropriately. This includes those members of 

bodies such as the Health and Wellbeing Board who are appointed by other 

organisations.  

 

6. The purpose of this Code of Conduct is to assist you, as a Member, in 

modelling the behaviour that is expected of you, to provide a personal check 

and balance, and to set out the type of conduct that could lead to action being 

taken against you. It is also to protect you, the public, fellow councillors, local 

authority officers and the reputation of local government. It sets out general 

principles of conduct expected of all councillors and your specific obligations 

in relation to standards of conduct. The LGA encourages the use of support, 

training and mediation prior to action being taken using the Code. The 

fundamental aim of the Code is to create and maintain public confidence in 

the role of councillor and local government. 

 

Page 127



7. In addition to the Member Code of Conduct, the Council’s governance 

arrangements include a number of further Codes and Protocols set out in the 

Constitution which provide additional guidance or obligations which Members 

must consider. These include, but are not limited to, the Planning and 

Licensing Codes of Conduct and the Member / Officer relations protocol. 

 

8. As Members you are also required to adhere to the Council’s Social Media 

policy in your role as a Member. 

 

9. The Member Code of Conduct has been set within the context of the Tower 

Values of ‘Together, Open, Willing, Excellent, and Respect’ which we all hold 

Council's TOWER values (towerhamlets.gov.uk). 

 

10. This Code of Conduct has been developed from the Model Code of Conduct 

published by the Local Government Association (LGA). The LGA has also 

produced guidance to accompany its Model Code. This guidance is a useful 

reference point for Members and officers on  the application of the Code. 

 

11. The relevant sections of the guidance are referenced throughout this Code as 

a useful guide on the application of the code The full guidance is available 

here: https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-local-government-

association-model-councillor-code-conduct 

 

12. Although the guidance is a useful reference for officers and Members, it will 

be for the Monitoring Officer in consultation with the  Independent Person 

and/or Standards Advisory Committee as appropriate,  (applying the Code),    

to  determine whether a Member has breached it. 

 

General principles of councillor conduct 

 

13. Everyone in public office at all levels; all who serve the public or deliver public 

services, including ministers, civil servants, councillors and local authority 

officers; should uphold the Seven Principles of Public Life, also known as the 

Nolan Principles. The Nolan Principles are set out in Appendix A to the Code 

of Conduct. 

 

14. In accordance with the public trust placed in me, on all occasions: 

 I act with integrity and honesty 

 I act lawfully 

 I treat all persons fairly and with respect; and 

 I lead by example and act in a way that secures public confidence in the 

role of councillor. 

 

15. In undertaking my role: 

 I impartially exercise my responsibilities in the interests of the local 

community 

Page 128

https://www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/lgnl/jobs_and_careers/working_for_tower_hamlets_coun/councils_tower_values.aspx
https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-local-government-association-model-councillor-code-conduct
https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-local-government-association-model-councillor-code-conduct
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-7-principles-of-public-life/the-7-principles-of-public-life--2


 I do not improperly seek to confer an advantage, or disadvantage, on 

any person 

 I avoid conflicts of interest 

 I exercise reasonable care and diligence; and 

 I ensure that public resources are used prudently in accordance with my 

local authority’s requirements and in the public interest. 

 

Local Government Association Guidance on the Model Code of Conduct 
– General Principles of Councillor Conduct  
 
https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-local-government-association-
model-councillor-code-conduct#general-principles-of-councillor-conduct 

 

Application of the Code of Conduct 

 

16. This Code of Conduct applies to you as soon as you sign your declaration of 

acceptance of the office of Mayor/Councillor or on appointment as a co-opted 

member and continues to apply to you until you cease to be a member. 

 

17. This Code of Conduct applies to you when you are acting in your capacity as 

a member which may include, but is not limited to, when: 

 You are acting on council business 

 Your actions would give the impression to a reasonable member of 

the public with knowledge of all the facts that you are acting as a 

councillor; 

 You misuse your position as a Councillor 

 

18. The Code applies to all forms of communication and interaction, including: 

 at face-to-face meetings 

 at online or telephone meetings 

 in written communication 

 in verbal communication 

 in non-verbal communication 

 in electronic and social media communication, posts, statements 
and 

 comments. 

 
19. You are also expected to uphold high standards of conduct and show 

leadership at all times when acting as a councillor. 

 

20. Your Monitoring Officer has statutory responsibility for the implementation of 

the Code of Conduct, and you are encouraged to seek advice from your 

Monitoring Officer on any matters that may relate to the Code of Conduct. 

Town and parish councillors are encouraged to seek advice from their Clerk, 

who may refer matters to the Monitoring Officer. 

Page 129

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-local-government-association-model-councillor-code-conduct#general-principles-of-councillor-conduct
https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-local-government-association-model-councillor-code-conduct#general-principles-of-councillor-conduct


 
 

Local Government Association Guidance on the Model Code of Conduct 
– Application of the Model Councillor’s Code of Conduct 
 
https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-local-government-association-
model-councillor-code-conduct#application-of-the-model-councillors-code-of-
conduct 

 

Standards of member conduct 

 

21. This section sets out your obligations. Should your conduct fall short of these 

standards, a complaint may be made against you, which may result in action 

being taken. 

 

General Conduct 

 

A - Respect 

 

22. As a Member: 

a. I promote and support high standards of conduct through my 

leadership and example. 

b. I treat other Members and members of the public with respect. 

c. I treat local authority employees, and representatives of partner 

organisations and those volunteering for the local authority with 

respect and respect the role they play. 

d. I take account of the views of others, including where applicable 

my political group, but I reach my own conclusions and act in 

accordance with those conclusions. 

 

23. Respect means politeness and courtesy in behaviour, speech, and in the 

written word. Debate and having different views are all part of a healthy 

democracy. As a councillor, you can express, challenge, criticise and disagree 

with views, ideas, opinions, and policies in a robust but civil manner. You 

should not, however, subject individuals, groups of people or organisations to 

personal attack. 

  

24. In your contact with the public, you should treat them politely and courteously. 

Rude and offensive behaviour lowers the public’s confidence in councillors. 

 

 

Local Government Association Guidance on the Model Code of Conduct 
– Respect  
 
https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-local-government-association-
model-councillor-code-conduct#respect 

Page 130



 

 

Public Behaviour 

 

25. In return, you have a right to expect respectful behaviour from the public. If 

members of the public are being abusive, intimidatory or threatening you are 

entitled to stop any conversation or interaction in person or online  

 

26. If you wish to raise concerns about the behaviour of a member of the public 

you can seek advice from the Monitoring Officer in the first instance.   

 

27. Where you have stopped engaging or refused to engage with any member of 

the public who could reasonably be perceived as being abusive, threatening, 

intimidatory or otherwise displaying unacceptable behaviours you should 

direct them to other communication channels within the council.  

 

28. This also applies to fellow councillors, where action could then be taken under 

the Councillor Code of Conduct, and local authority employees, where 

concerns should be raised in line with the member / officer protocol. 

 

B – Bullying, harassment and discrimination  

 

29. As a Member: 

a. I do not bully any person 

b. I do not harass any person 

c. I promote equalities and do not discriminate unlawfully against 

any person 

 

30. The Advisory, Conciliation and Arbitration Service (ACAS) characterises 

bullying as offensive, intimidating, malicious or insulting behaviour, an abuse 

or misuse of power through means that undermine, humiliate, denigrate or 

injure the recipient. Bullying might be a regular pattern of behaviour or a one-

off incident, happen face-to-face, on social media, in emails or phone calls, 

happen in the workplace or at work social events and may not always be 

obvious or noticed by others. 

 

31. The Protection from Harassment Act 1997 defines harassment as conduct 

that  causes alarm or distress or puts people in fear of violence and must 

involve such conduct on at least two occasions. It can include repeated 

attempts to impose unwanted communications and contact upon a person in a 

manner that could be expected to cause distress or fear in any reasonable 

person. 

 

32. Unlawful discrimination is where someone is treated unfairly because of a 

protected characteristic. Protected characteristics are specific aspects of a 

person's identity defined by the Equality Act 2010. They are age, disability, 

Page 131



gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and 

maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation. 

 

33. The Equality Act 2010 places specific duties on local authorities. Members 

have a central role to play in ensuring that equality issues are integral to the 

local authority's performance and strategic aims, and that there is a strong 

vision and public commitment to equality across public services. 

 

Local Government Association Guidance on the Model Code of 
Conduct – Bullying, Harassment and Discrimination   
 
https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-local-government-
association-model-councillor-code-conduct#bullying 

 

 

C – Impartiality of officers of the council 

 

34. As a Member: 

a. I do not compromise, or attempt to compromise, the impartiality of 

anyone who works for, or on behalf of, the local authority. 

 

35. Officers work for the local authority as a whole and must be politically neutral 

(unless they are political assistants). They should not be coerced or 

persuaded to act in a way that would undermine their neutrality. You can 

question officers to understand, for example, their reasons for proposing to act 

in a particular way, or the content of a report that they have written. However, 

you cannot require or coerce them to act differently, change their advice, or 

alter the content of that report. 

 

 

Local Government Association Guidance on the Model Code of Conduct 
– Impartiality of Officers  
 
https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-local-government-association-
model-councillor-code-conduct#impartiality-of-officers- 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

D - Confidentiality and access to information 

 

36. As a Member: 

a. I do not disclose information: 

Page 132



i. Given to me in confidence by anyone 

ii. Acquired by me which I believe, or ought reasonably to be 

aware, is of a confidential nature, unless 

1. I have received the consent of a person authorised to 

give it; 

2. I am required by law to do so; 

3. The disclosure is made to a third party for the 

purpose of obtaining professional legal advice 

provided that the third party agrees not to disclose 

the information to any other person; or 

4. The disclosure is: 

a. Reasonable and in the public interest; and  

b. Made in good faith and in compliance with the 

reasonable requirements of the local authority; 

c. And I have consulted the Monitoring Officer 

prior to its release. 

 

37. I do not improperly use knowledge gained solely as a result of my role 

as a Member for the advancement of myself, my friends, my family 

members, my employer or my business interests.  

 

38. I do not prevent anyone from getting information that they are entitled to 

by law. 

 

 

39. Local authorities must work openly and transparently, and their proceedings 

and printed materials are open to the public, except in certain legally defined 

circumstances. You should work on this basis, but there will be times when it 

is required by law that discussions, documents and other information relating 

to or held by the local authority must be treated in a confidential manner. 

Examples include personal data relating to individuals or information relating 

to ongoing negotiations. 

 

Local Government Association Guidance on the Model Code of Conduct 
– Confidentiality and Access to Information  
 
https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-local-government-association-
model-councillor-code-conduct#confidentiality-and-access-to-information- 

 

 

 

 

E – Disrepute 

 

40. As a Member: 

 

a. I do not bring my role or local authority into disrepute 

Page 133



 

41. As a Councillor, you are trusted to make decisions on behalf of your 

community and your actions and behaviour are subject to greater scrutiny 

than that of ordinary members of the public. You should be aware that your 

actions might have an adverse impact on you, other councillors and/or your 

local authority and may lower the public’s confidence in your or your local 

authority’s ability to discharge your/it’s functions. For example, behaviour that 

is considered dishonest and/or deceitful can bring your local authority into 

disrepute. 

 

42. Members collectively are able to hold the local authority and fellow Members 

to account and where appropriate you can constructively challenge and 

express concern about decisions and processes undertaken by the council 

whilst continuing to adhere to other aspects of this Code of Conduct. 

Members should not make trivial or malicious allegations against each other. 

 

Local Government Association Guidance on the Model Code of Conduct 
– Disrepute  
 
https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-local-government-association-
model-councillor-code-conduct#disrepute- 

 

 

F – Use of position 

 

43. As a Member: 

a. I do not use, or attempt to use, my position improperly to the 

advantage or disadvantage of myself or anyone else. 

 

44. Your position as a member of the local authority provides you with certain 

opportunities, responsibilities and privileges, and you make choices all the 

time that will impact others. However, you should not take advantage of these 

opportunities to further your own or others’ private interests or to disadvantage 

anyone unfairly. 

 

 

Local Government Association Guidance on the Model Code of Conduct 
– Misuse of Position  
 
https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-local-government-association-
model-councillor-code-conduct#misuse-of-position 

 

 

G – Use of local authority resources and facilities 

 

45. As a Member: 

a. I do not misuse council resources. 

Page 134



b. I will, when using the resources of the local authority or 

authorising their use by others; 

i. Act in accordance with the local authority’s requirements; 

and ensure that such resources are not used for political 

purposes unless that use could reasonably be regarded as 

likely to facilitate, or be conducive to, the discharge of the 

functions of the local authority or of the office to which I 

have been elected or appointed.  

 

46.  You may be provided with resources and facilities by the local authority to 

assist you in carrying out your duties as a councillor. They should be used in 

accordance with the purpose for which they have been provided and the local 

authority’s own policies regarding their use and are not to be used for 

business or personal gain. 

 Examples include: 

o office support 

o stationery 

o equipment such as phones, and computers 

o transport 

o access and use of local authority buildings and rooms. 

 

 

Local Government Association Guidance on the Model Code of Conduct 
– Misuse of resources and facilities  
 
https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-local-government-association-
model-councillor-code-conduct#misuse-of-resources-and-facilities- 

 

 

H – Complying with the Code of Conduct 

 

47. As a Member: 

a. I undertake Code of Conduct training provided by my local authority. 

b. I cooperate with any Code of Conduct investigation and/or 

determination 

c. I do not intimidate or attempt to influence any person who is likely to be 

involved with the administration of any investigation or proceedings. 

d. I comply with any sanction imposed on me following a finding that I 

have breached the Code of Conduct. 

 

48. If you do not understand or are concerned about the local authority’s 

processes in handling a complaint you should raise this with your Monitoring 

Officer. 

 

49. Any alleged breach of this code will be dealt with in accordance with the 

arrangements set out in Appendix C to the Code.  

 

Page 135



NB: a breach of any of the statutory requirements relating to the 

registration and declaration of disclosable pecuniary interests may 

result in prosecution. If you need advice you should contact the 

Monitoring Officer. 

 

 

Local Government Association Guidance on the Model Code of Conduct 
– Complying with the Code of Conduct 
 
https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-local-government-association-
model-councillor-code-conduct#complying-with-the-code-of-conduct 

 

 

Protecting your reputation and the reputation of the local authority 

 

I – Interests  

 

50. As a Member: 

a. I register and disclose my interests. 

 

51. Section 29 of the Localism Act 2011 requires the Monitoring Officer to 

establish and maintain a register of interests of members of the authority.  

 

52. An example of an interest is something which is of value to you which you 

may have through personal, professional or other private reasons. For 

example, your job, home or other property. Your main financial interests are 

called Pecuniary Interests. 

 

53. You should note that failure to register or disclose a Disclosable Pecuniary 

Interest as set out in Table 1 of Appendix B, is a criminal offence under the 

Localism Act 2011 for which you can be prosecuted.  

 

54. You need to register your interests so that the public, local authority 

employees and fellow Members know which of your interests might give rise 

to a conflict of interest.  

 

55. An example of a conflict of interest is ‘a situation where your interests (or 

responsibility to another organisation) could be (or could be seen to be) in 

conflict with your responsibilities as a Councillor’. This is especially important 

in relation to your role as a decision maker at the Council. Table 3 of Appendix 

B sets out how different types of declarations should be dealt with at 

meetings. 

 

56.  If in doubt, always seek advice from your Monitoring Officer. 

 

Page 136



57. The register of interests maintained by the Monitoring Officer is a public 

document that can be consulted when (or before) an issue arises. Your 

interests will be published on your Council web page. 

 

58. The register also protects you by allowing you to demonstrate openness and 

a willingness to be held accountable. You are personally responsible for 

deciding whether you should disclose an interest in a meeting, but it can be 

helpful for you to know early on if others think that a potential conflict might 

arise. It is also important that the public know about any interest that might 

have to be disclosed by you or other councillors when making or taking part in 

decisions, so that decision making is seen by the public as open and honest. 

This helps to ensure that public confidence in the integrity of local governance 

is maintained.  

 

 

Local Government Association Guidance on the Model Code of Conduct 
– Declarations of Interest  
 
https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-local-government-association-
model-councillor-code-conduct#declarations-of-interest 

 

 

J – Gifts and hospitality 

 

59. As a Member: 

a. I do not accept gifts or hospitality, irrespective of estimated value, 

which could give rise to real or substantive personal gain or a 

reasonable suspicion of influence on my part to show favour from 

persons seeking to acquire, develop or do business with the local 

authority or from persons who may apply to the local authority for 

any permission, licence or other significant advantage. 

b. I register with the Monitoring Officer any gift or hospitality with an 

estimated value of at least £25 within 28 days of its receipt. 

c. I register with the Monitoring Officer any gift or hospitality that I 

have been offered but have refused to accept.  

d. I will also declare repeated smaller hospitality/gifts which, when 

combined, would likely exceed £25 within any three-month period. 

e. I will consider donating any gifts to the Speaker’s Charity or other 

charitable causes. 

 

 

60. In order to protect your position and the reputation of the local authority, you 

should exercise caution in accepting any gifts or hospitality which are (or 

which you reasonably believe to be) offered to you because you are a 

councillor.  

 

Page 137



61. It would be expected that you would accept normal gifts and hospitality in 

relation to your work. However, if the gift or hospitality was valued at over 

£100 you would normally only accept it if it directly related to your role as a 

Member. You should make the reasons for acceptance clear in your 

declaration.  

 

62. However, there may be times when such a refusal may be difficult if it is seen 

as rudeness in which case you could accept it but must ensure it is publicly 

registered. 

 

63. However, you do not need to register gifts and hospitality which are not 

related to your role as a member and that you would have received anyway 

such as: 

 

 gifts from your friends and family,  

 gifts/hospitality primarily in relation to your employment, voluntary work or 

similar which are not related to your role as a Member, 

 invitations to weddings and similar events from family and friends, 

 small gifts or hospitality received as part of weddings, life-events, religious 

festivals and celebrations that you would in any case have attended in a 

personal capacity (Christmas, Eid, Hannukah, Ramadan etc).  

 

 

Local Government Association Guidance on the Model Code of Conduct 
– Registration of gifts, hospitality and interests  
 
https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-local-government-association-
model-councillor-code-conduct#registration-of-gifts-hospitality-and-interests 

 

 

  

Page 138



Appendices 

Appendix A – The Seven Principles of Public Life 

The principles are: 

Selflessness 

Holders of public office should act solely in terms of the public interest. 

Integrity 

Holders of public office must avoid placing themselves under any obligation 

to people or organisations that might try inappropriately to influence them in 

their work. They should not act or take decisions to gain financial or other 

material benefits for themselves, their family, or their friends. They must 

disclose and resolve any interests and relationships. 

Objectivity 

Holders of public office must act and take decisions impartially, fairly and on 

merit, using the best evidence and without discrimination or bias. 

Accountability 

Holders of public office are accountable to the public for their decisions 

and actions and must submit themselves to the scrutiny necessary to 

ensure this. 

Openness 

Holders of public office should act and take decisions in an open and 

transparent manner. Information should not be withheld from the public 

unless there are clear and lawful reasons for so doing. 

Honesty 

Holders of public office should be truthful. 

Leadership 

Holders of public office should exhibit these principles in their own behaviour. 

They should actively promote and robustly support the principles and be 

willing to challenge poor behaviour wherever it occurs. 

Page 139



Appendix B Registering interests 

Within 28 days of becoming a member or your re-election or re-appointment to office 
you must register with the Monitoring Officer the interests which fall within the 
categories set out in Table 1 (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) which are as 
described in “The Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 
2012”. You should also register details of your other personal interests which fall 
within the categories set out in Table 2 (Other Registerable Interests). 

 
Type A “Disclosable pecuniary interest” means an interest of yourself, or of your 
partner if you are aware of your partner's interest, within the descriptions set out in 
Table 1 below. 

 
"Partner" means a spouse or civil partner, or a person with whom you are living as 
husband or wife, or a person with whom you are living as if you are civil partners. 

 
1. You must ensure that your register of interests is kept up-to-date and within 28 

days of becoming aware of any new interest, or of any change to a registered 

interest, notify the Monitoring Officer. 

 
2. A ‘sensitive interest’ is as an interest which, if disclosed, could lead to the 

member, or a person connected with the member, being subject to violence or 

intimidation. 

 
3. Where you have a ‘sensitive interest’ you must notify the Monitoring Officer 

with the reasons why you believe it is a sensitive interest. If the Monitoring 

Officer agrees they will withhold the interest from the public register. 

 

Nonparticipation in case of disclosable pecuniary interest 

4. Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to one of your 

Disclosable Pecuniary Interests as set out in Table 1, you must disclose the 

interest, not participate in any discussion or vote on the matter and must not 

remain in the room unless you have been granted a dispensation. If it is a 

‘sensitive interest’, you do not have to disclose the nature of the interest, just 

that you have an interest. Dispensation may be granted in limited 

circumstances, to enable you to participate and vote on a matter in which you 

have a disclosable pecuniary interest. 

 

5. Where you have a disclosable pecuniary interest on a matter to be considered 
or is being considered by you as a Cabinet member in exercise of your 
executive function, you must notify the Monitoring Officer of the interest and 
must not take any steps or further steps in the matter apart from arranging for 
someone else to deal with it. 

Page 140



 

Type B - Disclosure of Other Registerable Interests 

 

6. Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to one of your Other 

Registerable Interests (as set out in Table 2), you must disclose the interest. 

You may speak on the matter only if members of the public are also allowed 

to speak at the meeting but otherwise must not take part in any discussion or 

vote on the matter and must not remain in the room unless you have been 

granted a dispensation. If it is a ‘sensitive interest’, you do not have to 

disclose the nature of the interest. 

 
Disclosure of Non-Registerable Interests 

 
7. Type C - Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to your 

financial interest or well-being (and is not a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest set 

out in Table 1) or a financial interest or well-being of a relative or close 

associate, you must disclose the interest. You may speak on the matter only if 

members of the public are also allowed to speak at the meeting but otherwise 

must not take part in any discussion or vote on the matter and must not 

remain in the room unless you have been granted a dispensation. If it is a 

‘sensitive interest’, you do not have to disclose the nature of the interest. 

 
8. Type D - Where a matter arises at a meeting which affects – 

a. your own financial interest or well-being; 

b. a financial interest or well-being of a friend, relative, close associate; or 

c. a body included in those you need to disclose under Disclosable 

Pecuniary Interests as set out in Table 1 

you must disclose the interest. To determine whether you can remain in the 
meeting after disclosing your interest the following test should be applied. 

 

9. Where a matter affects your financial interest or well-being: 

a. to a greater extent than it affects the financial interests of most inhabitants 

of the ward affected by the decision and; 

b. a reasonable member of the public knowing all the facts would believe 

that it would affect your view of the wider public interest 

You may speak on the matter only if members of the public are also allowed 

to speak at the meeting but otherwise must not take part in any discussion or 

vote on the matter and must not remain in the room unless you have been 

granted a dispensation. 

If it is a ‘sensitive interest’, you do not have to disclose the nature of the 
interest. 

 
10. Where you have a personal interest in any business of your authority and you 

have made an executive decision in relation to that business, you must make 

Page 141



sure that any written statement of that decision records the existence and 
nature of your interest. 
 

Table 1: Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 

This table sets out the explanation of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests as set 

out in the Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) 

Regulations 2012. 

 
No. Subject Description 

1 Employment, 
office, trade, 
profession or 
vocation 

Any employment, office, trade, profession, or vocation 
carried on for profit or gain. 

 

Any unpaid directorship. 

2 Sponsorship Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit 
(other than from the council) made to the councillor 
during the previous 12-month period for expenses 
incurred by him/her in carrying out his/her duties as a 
member, or towards his/her election expenses. 
This includes any payment or financial benefit from a 
trade union within the meaning of the Trade Union and 
Labour Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992. 

3 Contracts Any contract made between the councillor or his/her 
spouse or civil partner or the person with whom the 
councillor is living as if they were spouses/civil partners 
(or a firm in which such person is a partner, or an 
incorporated body of which such person is a director* or a 
body that such person has a beneficial interest in the 
securities of*) and the council 
— 
(a) under which goods or services are to be provided or 
works are to be executed; and 
(b) which has not been fully discharged. 

4 Land and 
Property 

Any beneficial interest in land which is within the area 
of the council. 
‘Land’ excludes an easement, servitude, interest or 
right in or over land which does not give the councillor 
or his/her spouse or civil partner or the person with 
whom the councillor is living as if they were spouses/ 
civil partners (alone or jointly with another) a right to 
occupy or to receive income. 

5 Licenses Any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy 
land in the area of the council for a month or longer 

6 Corporate 
tenancies 

Any tenancy where (to the member’s knowledge)— 
(a) the landlord is the council; and 
(b) the tenant is a body that the councillor, or his/her 

spouse or civil partner or the person with whom the 
councillor is living as if they were spouses/ civil 

Page 142

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/1464/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/1464/made


partners is a partner of or a director* of or has a 
beneficial interest in the securities* of. 

7 Securities Any beneficial interest in securities* of a body where— 
(a) that body (to the member’s knowledge) has a 
place of business or land in the area of the council; 
and 
(b) either— 
(i) ) the total nominal value of the securities* 
exceeds £25,000 or one hundredth of the total 
issued share capital of that body; or 
if the share capital of that body is of more than one 
class, the total nominal value of the shares of any one 
class in which the member, or his/ her spouse or civil 
partner or the person with whom the member is living 
as if they were spouses/civil partners has a beneficial 
interest exceeds one hundredth of the total issued 
share capital of that class. 

 

* ‘director’ includes a member of the committee of management of 

an industrial and provident society. 

* ‘securities’ means shares, debentures, debenture stock, loan stock, 

bonds, units of a collective investment scheme within the meaning of the 

Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 and other securities of any 

description, other than money deposited with a building society. 

 

  

Page 143



Table 2: Other Registerable Interests 
 
You have a personal interest in any business of your authority where it relates to or is 
likely to affect: 

 
No. Subject 

 Any body of which you are in a general control or management and to which  

8. You are nominated or appointed by your authority 

9. Any body exercising functions of a public nature 
 

10. Any body directed to charitable purposes  

 

11. Any body one of whose principal purposes includes the influence of public 
opinion or policy (including any political party or trade union) 

 
Note 
There is no definitive list of bodies exercising functions of a public nature, but those bodies 
which:-  

 carry out a public service,  

 or take the place of local/central government (including through outsourcing);  

 or carry out a function under legislation or in pursuit of a statutory power;  

 or can be judicially reviewed,  
 
are likely to be bodies carrying out functions of a public nature. They include bodies such as 
government agencies, other councils, health bodies, council owned companies and school 
governing bodies. 
 
  

Page 144



Table 3: Summary of Rules around Participation at Meetings 
 

11. This table sets out a summary of the general rules around participation at 
meetings with respect to interests. This is only a summary and does not replace 
more specific guidance available from the Monitoring Officer. 

 

Type 
Code 

Interest Type Declare 
on 
Register 

Declare at 
Meetings1 

Participate 
Normally 

Only speak 
with same 
rights as public 
and leave 
meeting after 
speaking2 

Must 
leave 
the 
meeting 
entirely 

A Disclosable Pecuniary 
Interests (Lines 1-7 of the ROI 
form) 

Y Y N N Y 

B Other Registerable Interests 
(Lines 8 – 11 of the ROI form) 

Y Y N Y N 

C Other Non-Registerable 
Interests  
(direct financial or well-being 
interest of you or close 
relative/friend that is not on the 
ROI form) 

N Y N Y N 

D1 Other Non-Registerable 
Interests  
(affects financial or well-being 
interest of you or close 
relative/friend that is not on the 
ROI form or affects a body 
listed on the ROI form) 
 
Affects you/relative/friend more 
than most people affected 

N Y N Y N 

D2 Other Non-Registerable 
Interests  
(affects financial or well-being 
interest of you or close 
relative/friend that is not on the 
ROI form or affects a body 
listed on the ROI form) 
 
Affects you/ relative/ friend the 
same or less than most 
people affected 

N Y Y N N 

Notes 
1 – Interests must be declared at all meetings or other situations where you come 
into contact with the issue, this includes informal internal discussions in advance of 
formal decision-making meetings. 
2 – If the public do not have a right to speak then you may not speak. 
General Note – where not straight-forward, apply the precautionary principle and in 
all cases apply the test of whether a reasonable member of the public knowing all 
the facts would believe you were taking the correct course of action. 

Page 145



 
 

Local Government Association Guidance on the Model Code of Conduct 
– Interests flowchart 
 
https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-local-government-association-
model-councillor-code-conduct#appendix-1-interests-flowchart 

 
  

Page 146



Appendix C 

 

LONDON BOROUGH OF TOWER HAMLETS 

ARRANGEMENTS FOR DEALING WITH COMPLAINTS OF BREACH OF THE 

CODE OF CONDUCT FOR MEMBERS 

Arrangements agreed by Council on 5th December 2016. 

 

Introduction 

 

The Council has adopted a Code of Conduct for Members which is available on the 

Council’s website and on request from the Monitoring Officer. 

 

In accordance with section 28 of the Localism Act 2011, these arrangements set out 

how an allegation may be made that the Mayor, an elected Member or a Co-opted 

Member of the London Borough of Tower Hamlets has failed to comply with the 

Council’s Code of Conduct for Members and how the Council will deal with such 

allegations. 

 

These arrangements also require that the Monitoring Officer shall ensure that the 

Council appoints at least one Independent Person and at least one reserve 

Independent Person for the purposes of meeting the statutory requirements of the 

Localism Act 2011. 

 

Any reference in these arrangements to the Monitoring Officer shall include a deputy 

Monitoring Officer. The timelines set out are for guidance and shall be observed 

where practicable but may be extended by the Monitoring Officer as necessary if 

they cannot be complied with by any relevant party due to sickness, holidays or other 

reasonable cause. 

 

Complaints 

 

1. Allegations concerning possible breaches of the Code of Conduct for 

Members should be made in writing to the Monitoring Officer. 

 

2. On receipt of a complaint the Monitoring Officer shall within five working days 

acknowledge receipt to the complainant. The Monitoring Officer will also 

within five working days and on a confidential basis, inform the subject 

Member of the substance of the complaint and the identity of the complainant 

(unless the Monitoring Officer considers that such notification would prejudice 

the proper consideration and investigation of the complaint). 

 

3. Complainants must provide their name and postal address when submitting a 

complaint. Anonymous complaints will not be considered unless the 

Monitoring Officer decides (after consultation with the Independent Person) 

that the complaint raises a serious issue affecting the public interest which is 

Page 147



capable of investigation without the need to ascertain the complainant's 

identity. 

 

4. A complainant when making an allegation should specify the identity of the 

person(s) alleged to have breached the Code, the conduct that is alleged to 

give rise to the breach, the evidence that supports the allegation and the 

names (and contact details) for any potential witnesses able to give direct 

evidence of the events complained about. 

 

Assessment of Complaints 

 

5. The Monitoring Officer shall, after consultation with the Independent Person 

and within ten working days of receiving the complaint: 

 

a) Decide whether or not a complaint merits formal investigation and where 

appropriate arrange for an investigation; OR 

b) Decide to attempt to facilitate informal resolution of the complaint (such 

attempt shall be subject to a four-week time limit). 

 

6. In making this determination the Monitoring Officer may at their discretion 

report the matter to the Investigation & Disciplinary Sub-Committee (IDSC) of 

the Standards Advisory Committee for consideration and/or consult other 

persons as appropriate. 

 

7. The Monitoring Officer may decide not to refer the matter for investigation 

where: 

 

(a) The allegation does not demonstrate any potential breach of the Code 

(because for example it relates to dissatisfaction with a Council 

decision/service or relates to events which occurred when the person 

complained about was not acting in an official capacity). 

(b) The event(s) complained about took place more than six months ago and 

there are no valid reasons for the delay in bringing the complaint, such as 

fresh evidence not available at the earlier date or only recently discovered. 

(c) The allegation is about someone who is no longer the Mayor or a 

Member/Co-opted Member. 

(d) The complainant  failed to provide the information specified in paragraph 4 

above or any other information reasonably requested by the Monitoring 

Officer. 

(e) The same or a similar allegation has been investigated and determined. 

(f) The Mayor, Member or Co-opted Member has already accepted they 

made an error in their conduct and/or has apologised for their conduct and 

the Monitoring Officer considers the matter would not warrant a more 

serious sanction. 

(g) The allegation is politically motivated and/or ‘tit for tat’. 

Page 148



(h) The allegation is not considered sufficiently serious to merit the cost to the 

public of carrying out an investigation. 

(i) The Monitoring Officer has facilitated an informal resolution of the 

complaint (see below) and the Mayor or Member/Co-opted Member 

complained about has offered to take remedial action that the Monitoring 

Officer considers appropriate in all the circumstances (for example by 

apologising to the complainant and/or undertaking training or issuing a 

statement of factual correction). 

 

8. Where the Monitoring Officer decides to reject a complaint, they shall inform 

the complainant in writing giving the reasons for rejection. 

 

Investigation and Monitoring of Complaints 

 

9. If a complaint of failure to comply with the Code is referred for investigation 

the Monitoring Officer shall appoint an investigator or complete the 

investigation themself. Such investigation should whenever possible be 

completed within two months of the decision to refer the matter for 

investigation. The Monitoring Officer may extend this period by up to a further 

two months where they feel it is necessary to ensure a proper and adequate 

investigation. The Monitoring Officer may refer a complaint for investigation to  

the  Monitoring Officer in a different authority where they have a conflict of 

interest. 

 

10. The Monitoring Officer will keep the complainant and the subject Member 

informed as to progress at appropriate intervals and shall inform them of any 

extension to the period for the investigation. 

 

11. The Monitoring Officer will report every six months to the Standards Advisory 

Committee on the number and nature of complaints received and action taken 

as a result. This will include details of complaints that have been rejected by 

the Monitoring Officer and any extension made to the period for an 

investigation of a complaint. 

 

12. Where any investigation into a complaint of breach of the Code finds no 

evidence of failure to comply with the Code of Conduct, the Monitoring Officer 

shall within four weeks of receipt of the investigation report, consult with the 

Independent Person and decide whether the matter should be closed without 

reference to a Hearings Sub-Committee. The Monitoring Officer shall provide 

a copy of the report and findings of the investigation which shall be kept 

confidential to the complainant and to the Member concerned and shall report 

the matter as part of the quarterly report to the Standards Advisory Committee 

for information. The Monitoring Officer may also seek advice from the IDSC 

before deciding that a matter should be closed without reference to the 

Hearings Sub-Committee. 

 

Page 149



13. Where an investigation finds evidence of a failure to comply with the Code of 

Conduct, the Monitoring Officer following consultation with the Independent 

Person, may seek local resolution of the complaint. If local resolution 

succeeds the Monitoring Officer shall report the matter as part of the quarterly 

report to the Standards Advisory Committee. If local resolution does not 

succeed or if following consultation with the Independent Person, the 

Monitoring Officer considers that it is not appropriate to seek local resolution, 

the Monitoring Officer shall report the investigation findings to a Hearings 

Sub-Committee of the Standards Advisory Committee for local hearing and 

determination. The Hearings Sub-Committee will whenever practicable be 

convened within one month of the Monitoring Officer receiving the 

investigation report. 

 

Hearings Sub-Committee 

 

14. The Hearings Sub-Committee will consider the investigation report and any 

submissions from the subject Member and determine: 

 

(a) If there has been a breach of the Code of Conduct having taken into 

account the views of the Independent Person; and if so 

(b) Whether any sanction is appropriate having considered the views of the 

Independent Person. 

 

15. Possible sanctions may include any of the following:- 

 

(a) Publication of the Sub-Committee’s decision. 

(b) Reporting the Sub-Committee’s decision to Council. 

(c) Requesting the Monitoring Officer to arrange training for the Member 

(subject to the Member’s agreement). 

(d) Issuing a censure or reprimand which may also be reported to Council. 

(e) Requiring the Member to contact the Council and officers via specified 

point(s) of contact. 

(f) Withdrawing facilities provided to the Member by the Council, such as a 

computer or internet access. 

(g) Excluding the Member from the Council’s offices or other premises, with 

the exception of meeting rooms as necessary for attending Council, 

Executive, Committee and Sub-Committee meetings (as appropriate). 

(h) Recommending to the Member’s Group Leader that they be removed from 

any or all Committees or Sub-Committees of the Council. 

(i) Recommending to the Mayor that the Member be removed from the 

Executive, or removed from a particular portfolio responsibility. 

(j) Recommending to Council or the Mayor as appropriate the removal from 

outside appointments to which the Member has been appointed or 

nominated. 

(k) Recommending to Council that the Member be removed from any or all 

Council Committees or Sub-Committees. 

Page 150



 

16. In determining any recommended sanction the Hearings Sub-Committee may 

take into account any previous breach by the Member concerned and/or their 

compliance with any previous sanction applied. 

 

 

Page 151



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 153

Agenda Item 7.1
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 155

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 157

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 159

Agenda Item 7.2
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1 DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS
	2 MINUTES
	3 WORK PLAN
	4.1 LA Governor Report
	4.2 Members Enquiries Policy and Process
	Appendix. 1 for Members Enquiries Policy and Process
	Appendix. 2 for Members Enquiries Policy and Process

	4.3 Post Election Polling Places Review 2021
	GPC - Polling Places Review App 1
	GPC - Polling Places Review App 2a
	GPC - Polling Places Review App 2b

	4.4 Dismissal Appeals - Process and Guidance
	4.5 Update on Senior Recruitment, October 2021
	4.6 Calculation of Appointments Sub-Committee Proportionality
	4.7 Constitution Review
	Appendix. 1 Part A Constitution
	Appendix. 5 Draft New Code of Conduct

	7.1 Local Authority Governor Appointments - Restricted Appendices
	GPC - 05 Oct 2021 LA Governor Appointment - App 2
	GPC - 05 Oct 2021 LA Governor Appointment - App 3

	7.2 Forthcoming Restructures - Staffing Implications

